

ANADOLU Araştırmaları

ANATOLIAN RESEARCH

JAHRBUCH FUR KLEINASIATISCHE FORSCHUNG









ISSN 0569-9746 E-ISSN 2667-629X

Issue 29, 2023

Indexing and Abstracting

SCOPUS Emerging Sources Citation Index (ESCI) TÜBİTAK-ULAKBİM TR Dizin DOAJ ERIH PLUS SOBİAD EBSCO Humanities Source EBSCO Central & Eastern European Academic Source



Anadolu Araştırmaları Anatolian Research





Issue 29, 2023

Owner

Prof. Dr. Sevtap KADIOĞLU Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Istanbul, Turkiye

Responsible Manager

Prof. Dr. Mustafa H. SAYAR Istanbul University, Department of History, Istanbul, Turkiye

Correspondence Address

İstanbul Üniversitesi Edebiyat Fakültesi, Tarih Bölümü, İstanbul, Türkiye Ordu Cad. No: 6, Laleli, Fatih 34459, İstanbul, Türkiye Telefon / Phone: +90 (212) 455 57 00 / 15947 E-posta: anadoluarastirmalari@istanbul.edu.tr https://iupress.istanbul.edu.tr/tr/journal/anar/home

Publisher

İstanbul Üniversitesi Yayınevi / Istanbul University Press İstanbul Üniversitesi Merkez Kampüsü, 34452 Beyazıt, Fatih / İstanbul, Türkiye Telefon / Phone: +90 (212) 440 00 00

Printed by

İlbey Printing Paper Advertising Org. Müc. San. Tic. Ltd. Şti. 2. Matbaacılar Sitesi 3NB 3 Topkapı / Zeytinburnu, İstanbul, Türkiye www.ilbeymatbaa.com.tr Sertifika No: 17845

Authors bear responsibility for the content of their published.

The publication languages of the journal are English, German, French and Italian.

This is a scholarly, international, peer-reviewed and open-access journal published biannually in June and December.

Publication Type: Periodical





ISSN 0569-9746 E-ISSN 2667-629X

Issue 29, 2023

EDITORIAL MANAGEMENT BOARD

Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Dr. Mustafa H. SAYAR – Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of History, Istanbul, Türkiye – mhsayar@istanbul.edu.tr, mhsayar@amail.com

Co-Editors in Chief

Assoc. Prof. Erkan KONYAR – Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of History, Istanbul, Türkiye – ekonyar@gmail.com

Assoc. Prof. Meltem DOĞAN-ALPARSLAN – Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Ancient Languages and Cultures, Istanbul, Türkiye – mdoganalparslan@gmail.com

Language Editor

Elizabeth Mary EARL – Istanbul University, School of Foreign Languages, Istanbul, Türkiye – elizabeth.earl@istanbul.edu.tr

Editorial Assistant

Dr. Armağan TAN – Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of History, Istanbul, Türkiye – armagantan@gmail.com

EDITORIAL BOARD

Prof. Dr. Güler ÇELGİN – Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Ancient Languages and Cultures, Istanbul, Türkiye – gulercelgin@gmail.com

- Prof. Dr. Sedef ÇOKAY KEPÇE Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archaeology, Istanbul, Türkiye scokay@hotmail.com
- Prof. Dr. Mihriban ÖZBAŞARAN Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archaeology, Istanbul, Türkiye – ozbasaranmihriban@gmail.com
- Prof. Dr. Gülsün UMURTAK Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archaeology, Istanbul, Türkiye qulsunumurtak@qmail.com
- Asst. Prof. Gonca DARDENIZ ARIKAN Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archaeology, Istanbul, Türkiye goncadardenizarikan@istanbul.edu.tr
- Asst. Prof. İpek DAĞLI Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archaeology, Istanbul, Turkiye ipek_dagli@hotmail.com

Asst. Prof. Selin ÖNDER – Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters, Department of History, Istanbul, Turkiye – selinonder@gmail.com

- Prof. Dr. Emel ERTEN Hacı Bayram Veli University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archaeology, Ankara, Türkiye emel.erten@hbv.edu.tr
- Prof. Dr. Burçin ERDOĞU Akdeniz University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archaeology, Antalya, Türkiye – berdogu@gmail.com; burcinerdogu@akdeniz.edu.tr
- Prof. Dr. Kemalettin KÖROĞLU Marmara University, Ancient History, Istanbul, Türkiye kemalettinkoroglu@gmail.com
- Prof. Dr. Hasan MALAY Ege University, Department of Ancient Languages, Izmir, Türkiye hasan.malay@gmail.com
- Prof. Dr. Aslı ÖZYAR Bogazici University, Department of History, Istanbul, Türkiye ozyar@boun.edu.tr
- Prof. Dr. Remzi YAĞCI 9 Eylül University, Faculty of Arts and Sciences, Department of Museology, Izmir, Türkiye – remziyagci@gmail.com
- Assoc. Prof. Bülent ARIKAN Istanbul Technical University, Eurasian Institute of Earth Sciences, Istanbul, Türkiye bulent. arikan@gmail.com
- Prof. Dr. Altay COŞKUN University of Waterloo, Canada altay.coskun@uwaterloo.ca
- Prof. Dr. Angelos CHANIOTIS Institute for Advanced Studies/Princeton, USA achaniotis@ias.edu
- Prof. Dr. Christopher JONES Institute for Advanced Studies/Princeton, USA cjones@fas.harvard.edu
- Prof. Dr. Marcella FRANGIPANE University of Rom, La Sapienza, Department of Archaeology, Italy marcella.frangipane@uniroma1.it
- Prof. Dr. Helmut HALFMANN University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany helmut.halfmann@uni-hamburg.de
- Prof. Dr. Johannes NOLLÉ University of Munich, Munih, Germany nolle@gmx.net
- Prof. Dr. Askold IVANTCHIK Ausonios, Maison de Recherche, Bordeaux, France ivantchik@u-bordeaux-montaigne.fr
- Prof. Dr. Kaja HARTER Uibopuu, University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany kaja.harter@uni-hamburg.de
- Prof. Dr. Francesco PRONTERA University of Perugia, Italy francesco.prontera@unipg.it



Anadolu Araştırmaları Anatolian Research



ISSN 0569-9746 E-ISSN 2667-629X

EDITORIAL BOARD

Prof. Dr. Benett SALWAY – University College, London, England – r.salway@ucl.ac.uk

Prof. Dr. Mary STINER – University of Arizona, Department of Archaeology, USA – mstiner@arizona.edu

- Prof. Dr. Stephan WESTPHALEN University of Heidelberg, Department of Art History, Germany stephan.westphalen@web.de
- Dr. Ulrike PETER Griechischer Münzwerk, Berlin Brandenburgische Akademie der Wissenschaften (Academy of Sciences), Berlin, Germany peter@bbaw.de
- Dr. Maria RANGUELEVA GUROVA National Institute of Archaeology with Museum, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences Prehistory Department, Bulgaria gurova.maria@yahoo.gmail.com

ADVISORY BOARD

- Prof. Dr. Nicolo' MARCHETTI Alma Mater Studiorum University of Bologna, Department of History and Cultures, Bologna, Italia nicolo.marchetti@unibo.it
- Prof. Dr. Michael Alexander SPEIDEL University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland mspeidel@sunrise.ch

Prof. Dr. Christian MAREK - University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland - marek@hist.uzh.ch

Prof. Dr. Henner von HESBERG – German Archaeological Institute, Berlin, Germany – henner.von.hesberg@icloud.com

Prof. Dr. John MA – University of Columbia, NY, USA – john.ma@columbia.edu

Dr. Alan GREAVES - University of Liverpool, England - greaves@liverpool.ac.uk

Prof. Dr. Roger MATTHEWS - Reading University. England - r.j.matthews@reading.ac.uk

Prof. Dr. Peter BIEHL - SUNY-Buffalo, USA - pbiehl@buffalo.edu

- Prof. Dr. Olivier Can HENRY University Lumière Lyon 2, (Labraunda Excavation Head), Lyon, France olivierhnry@gmail.com; olivier.henry@univ-lyon2.fr
- Prof. Dr. R. R. Roland SMITH Lincoln College Oxford University (Aphrodisias Excavation Head), Oxford, United Kingdom bert.smith@classics.ox.ac.uk
- Prof. Dr. Christof BERNS Universität Hamburg (Miletos Excavation Head), Hamburg, Germany christof.berns@uni-hamburg.de
- Prof. Dr. Charles Brian ROSE University of Pennsylvania, The Department of Classical Studies (Gordion Excavation Head), Philadelphia, USA – roseb@sas.upenn.edu
- Prof. Dr. Felix PIRSON German Archaeological Institute, Istanbul Department, Director of Pergamon Excavations, İstanbul, Turkiye – Felix.Pirson@dainst.de
- Dr. Andreas SCHACHNER German Archaeological Institute, Istanbul Department, Director of Pergamon Excavations, İstanbul, Turkiye andreas.schachner@dainst.de
- Doc. Dr. Inge UYTTERHOEVEN Koç University, Department of Archeology, İstanbul, Turkiye iuytterhoeven@ku.edu.tr

Dr. Sarah JAPP - German Archaeological Institute, Orient Department, Podbieski Allee, Berlin - sarahjapp@yahoo.de

- Dr. Laurence ASTRUC allée de l'Université, CNRS Maison de l'Archéologie et de l'Ethnologie, France laurence.astruc@gmail.com
- Prof. Dr. Halil TEKİN Hacettepe University, Department of Archeology, Ankara, Turkiye htekin@hacettepe.edu.tr

Prof. Dr. Billur TEKKÖK KARAÖZ – Başkent University, Ankara, Turkiye – tekkok@baskent.edu.tr

- Prof. Dr. Zeynep KOÇEL ERDEM Mimar Sinan Fine Arts University, Department of Archeology, İstanbul, Turkiye – zerdem@gmail.com
- Prof. Dr. Oğuz TEKİN Koç University, AKMED, Antalya, Turkiye ogtekin@ku.edu.tr
- Prof. Dr. Turhan KAÇAR Medeniyet University, Faculty of Literature, Department of History, İstanbul, Turkiye turhankacar@gmail.com

Prof. Dr. Burcu ERCİYAS - Middle East Technical University, Faculty of Architecture, Ankara, Turkiye - berciyas@metu.edu.tr

- Doc. Dr. Elif KOPARAL Mimar Sinan Fine Arts University, Department of Archeology, İstanbul, Turkiye ekoparal@gmail.com
- Doç. Dr. Güneş DURU Mimar Sinan Fine Arts University, School of Conservation and Restoration of Movable Cultural Heritage, İstanbul, Turkiye – gunes.duru@msgsu.edu.tr
- Doç. Dr. Çiler ÇİLİNGİROĞLU ÜNLÜSOY Ege University, Department of Archeology, İzmir, Turkiye cilingirogluciler@hotmail. com
- Doç Dr. Zafer DERİN Ege University, Department of Archeology, İzmir, Turkiye zafer.derin@ege.edu.tr
- Dr. Öğr. Üyesi, Gökhan MUSTAFAOĞLU Hacı Bayram Veli University, Department of Archeology, Ankara, Turkiye gokhan.mustafaoglu@hbv.edu.tr
- Dr. Öğr. Üyesi, Oğuz YARLIGAŞ Medeniyet University, Department of History, İstanbul, Turkiye yarligaso@gmail.com





ISSN 0569-9746 E-ISSN 2667-629X

Issue 29, 2023

CONTENTS

Research Articles

A Technology Study on the Late Neolithic Pottery of Hakemi Use, Southeastern Türkiye Natalia Petrova, Halil Tekin	1
Ancient Cylinder Seals from Upper Mesopotamia Çağatay Yücel, Umut Parlıtı	31
Stables and Pens in the Citadels and Residential Areas of the Urartian Kingdom: A Textual, Archaeological and Ethnographic Evaluation Ali Çifçi	51
Achaemenid Period Ceramic Typology from the Ramhormoz Plain in Southwest Iran: Eastern Anatolia, Southern Mesopotamia Relations Leila Afshari, Soraya Afshari, Behrouz Omrani	67
Doric Capitals in Pessinus: A Brief Overview of Pessinus Architectural Activities Adem Yurtsever	95
Assessments on an Unpublished Tarsus Coin and the Marsyas Statue of Tarsus Origin Fatih Erhan, Işık Albasan, Faris Demir	117
Microdebris Analysis of the Central Sewer and the Drainages of the Domus at Pompeiopolis Mustafa Nuri Tatbul, Massimo Brizzi, Giovanni Ricci, Antonio Abate, Tayyar Gürdal, Luisa Musso	135



Anadolu Araştırmaları Anatolian Research



AnAr, 29, 1–29 DOI: 10.26650/anar.2023.29.1250477

Research Article

A Technology Study on the Late Neolithic Pottery of Hakemi Use, Southeastern Türkiye

Natalia Petrova¹ , Halil Tekin²



¹AInstitute of Archaeology of Russian Academy of Science, Moscow, Russia Federation ²Hacettepe Üniversitesi, Edebiyat Fakültesi, Arkeoloji Bölümü, Ankara, Türkiye

ORCID ID: N.P. 0000-0002-9112-1160; H.T. 0000-0002-0315-6217

Corresponding author: Halil Tekin,

Hacettepe University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archaeology, Ankara, Turkey E-mail: htekin4@gmail.com

Submitted: 15.02.2023 Revision Requested: 24.09.2023 Last Revision Received: 03.10.2023 Accepted: 04.10.2023

Citation: Petrova, N., & Tekin, H. (2023). A technology study on the late neolithic pottery of hakemi use, southeastern Türkiye. Anadolu Araştırmaları-Anatolian Research, 29, 1–29. https://doi.org/10.26650/anar.2023.29.1250477

ABSTRACT

Hakemi Use is a mound settlement on the right bank of the Tigris, within the borders of Diyarbakır province in southeast Türkiye. Within the scope of the Ilsu Dam Project built on the Tigris River, field studies were carried out between 2001-2012. The existence of two periods, Late Assyrian and Late Neolithic, was determined. The main cultural deposit in the mound covers the period known as *Hassuna/Samarra* in the traditional cultural definition of Mesopotamia. Both material culture and ¹⁴C results show that the settlement was inhabited between 6100-5950 BCE. Approximately 25,000 pottery sherds were collected in five building levels of the Late Neolithic Period. Comprehensive studies on these sherds continue both typologically and technologically. In this study, various recipes for pottery paste, mineral, and organic admixture (including dung), different construction methods of ceramics, including using molds (textile and skin prints have been found), and other stages of ceramics manufacturing were studied in the pottery of the Late Neolithic Period of Hakemi Use. The production technology of different ceramic groups and other contemporary Mesopotamian sites were compared.

Keywords: Hassuna, Samarra, Pottery Technology, Late Neolithic, Mesopotamia



Introduction¹

Hakemi Use consists of two side-by-side mound settlements in southeast Türkiye, approximately 250 km from the Syrian border. These mounds, 70 km east of the modern city of Diyarbakır, are located on the Bismil Plain, on the bank of the old bed to the right of the Tigris River. Bismil Plain, which forms the flat area of the Upper Tigris Valley, has an average altitude of 550 m and is a fertile plain irrigated by the Tigris River and its tributaries. Southeast Taurus Mountains are located 100 km north of this plain, Raman Mountains 70 km east, the volcanic Karacadağ 80 km west, and the Mardin Mountains 50 km south (Figure 1). Today, the Tigris River flows approximately 100 m north of the mound.



Figure 1: The position of Hakemi Use in the Upper Tigris Valley

The excavations in the settlement were carried out between 2001-2013 by a team from Ankara Hacettepe University under the Diyarbakır Museum Directorate, with the financial support of the General Directorate of State Hydraulic Works within the scope of the Ilısu Dam Project. After the field studies were carried out for the last time in 2012, they were only carried out in the form of material studies in the excavation house and Diyarbakır Museum in the 2013 season.

Today, the mound on agricultural land is a person's private property and the cultural deposit on the surface has been badly damaged due to years of agricultural activities. Among the two-mound settlements side by side, the one on the west was named Hakemi Use I, and the existence of the Late Assyrian and Late Neolithic periods was determined. Only

¹ This article was prepared within the framework of the research theme of the IA RAS "Interdisciplinary approach to the study of the formation and development of ancient and medieval anthropogenic ecosystems" (No. NIOKTR 122011200264-9)

the medieval (14th century CE) village settlement was named Hakemi Use II in the east. The mound in the west has a width of about 1.2 h. Excavations were concentrated in this mound. Existing cultural deposits in the two building levels belonging to the Late Assyrian period were found in the upper half-metter section of this 4 m settlement. The bottom five building levels were found in the 3.5 m cultural deposits, representing the material culture of Mesopotamia known as Hassuna/Samarra. Both the relative dating of the typological material culture and the radiocarbon results from the intact contexts show that the first inhabitants of the settlement settled on the flat area at the banks of the Tigris River in 6100 BCE and left the settlement in 5950 BCE, after an uninterrupted settlement approximately 150 years. Unfortunately, no reliable data could be found on the reasons for this abandonment during the excavations. However, surveys carried out by the excavation team in the region point to this abandonment originating from the Tigris. In the last years of the settlement, a natural blockage occurred in the narrow valleys beyond the Raman Mountains, causing floods in the Bismil Plain; this may have caused the abandonment. The fact that the settlements after 5800 BCE (Early Halafian period) were at least 100 m inland from the Tigris and on high terraces in the survey conducted in the region supports this view.

An area of approximately 1350 m^2 was opened in the Hakemi Use excavations, and most of the virgin soil was reached (Tekin 2020). Except for one of the architectural remains unearthed, it was determined that there was no stone foundation in all the buildings, and it was determined that the mud was built in the *pisé* technique with a wooden-like mold (Tekin 2011, 152). The buildings mainly consist of a few rooms with rectangular plans, and the doorway is rarely seen. Considering the smallness of the rooms, it is understood that the existing wall remains are the storage areas on the lower floor of the buildings, and the room/ rooms that make up the living area are on the second floor.

Approximately 25,000 sherds dated to the Late Neolithic consist of four main groups. These are the *Standard Ware*, the *Dark Faced Burnished Ware* (DFBW), the *Orange Fine Ware*, and the *Fine Ware*, and the main pottery in five building levels consists of vessels collected under the name of the *Standard Ware* (Tekin 2013, 496, Tab. 44.1).

Results of Previous Studies of Hakemi Use Pottery and Its Technological Descriptions

Pottery fragments unearthed during the excavations were divided into four main groups and sub-divided according to the surface quality. *Fine Ware* is categorized into four subcategories in the assemblage of pottery based on their surface decoration: *Simple Fine Ware, Painted Fine Ware, Incised Fine Ware,* and *Samarran Pottery* (İlhan 2022; Tekin 2011,153-156; Tekin 2020, 150-151) (Figure 2). The major pottery group - the *Standard Ware* found in relatively high proportions (69-76% from different building levels), seems to have been produced in Hakemi Use or a nearby settlement. Significantly less is the pottery



Figure 2: The main pottery groups of Hakemi Use. Numbers in this table-numbers of the cross-sections related to different ceramic types with varying variants of firing regime and mineral inclusions.

the Orange Fine Ware (12-13%) and the Dark Faced Burnished Ware (9-12%). Samarran Pottery is rare and limited to the upper layers, which might have been imported (Tekin 2013; Tekin 2020, 151). Samarran Pottery occurs only in the first and second building levels of the settlement, disappearing by the third building level. The number of Samarran pottery sherds found at Hakemi Use is only forty, a dozen of which are in the painted "Classical Samarran" style. The latter is confined to the uppermost layer. It should be noted that both the Samarran Pottery and the Pattern Burnished Ware (only in the upper two building levels) are found together and disappear simultaneously.

Standard Coarse Ware is characterized by rough surfaces that are either left untreated, wiped, or wet-smoothed; the most common surface color is buff, while some are light brown. In addition to dense plant temper, grit, and limestone temper are in the fabric of these Ware. The *Slipped Ware* – the external surface has red or reddish slip, and the majority with burnishing, but there are also samples without evidence of polish. *Incised* and *Impressed Ware*, comprising one percent of the *Standard Ware*, has two apparent variants: plain and slipped. The paste includes organic as well as sand and lime temper. The *Standard Painted Ware* (red and bitumen painted) has an extensive organic temper; their surface color is buff, and they are not well-fired, having a thick core of about a centimeter. The *DFBW* has mineral-tempered fabrics.

The vessels were fired at high temperatures, and their surfaces were well-burnished. Subgroups were defined according to their slip colors: gray/black and purplish-brown. Several sherds within the gray/black slipped the *DFBW* group are pattern-burnished. The *Orange Fine Ware* has lime and sand inclusions; small amounts of organic temper are also present. The vessels are 4-5 mm thick and well-fired at high temperatures. Some are slipped on both surfaces. *Simple* and *Painted Fine* paste is well tempered with fine sand, lime, and organic temper. The colors range from light buff to beige. *Samarran pottery* is very fine textured. Organic temper is either absent or occurs very seldom. The vessels are all well-fired. The wall thicknesses of the sherds rarely exceed 5 mm, and the surface colors are in shades of buff (Tekin 2007, 163-166; Tekin 2008, 273-274; Tekin 2011, 153-156; Tekin 2020, 150-151).

Distributions and Studies of Different Pottery Types

The *Standard Ware* is familiar throughout Upper Mesopotamia in the period under consideration. It varied significantly in surface treatment and ornamentation but always contained many plant impurities. It could be both "Coarse" and "Fine" (Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996; Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 43; Tekin 2007, 163-166). Other pottery types found on Hakemi Use "Fine Ware" distinguished by surface treatment, ornamentation, and fire regimes. Their main distribution is recorded in different territories. The *Orange Fine Ware* is distributed in the western part of Mesopotamia: in settlements of the Euphrates River

and its tributaries – Tell Sabi Abyad (Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996, 173), Tell Chagar Bazar (Cruells 2008, 676), Tell Boueid II (Nieuwenhuyse et al. 2002) and others, as well as at the foothills of the Taurus – Gre Filla (Ökse 2021, 313). *Painted Fine Ware* is similar to the Hassuna Standard Painted Ware, which is common in the eastern part of Upper Mesopotamia - Tell Hassuna (Lloyd and Safar 1945, 279, Fig. 11-14) and Yarim Tepe I (Merpert and Munchaev 1973). Incised Fine Ware, as a variant of Standard Hassuna pottery, is most widespread in the foothills of Northwestern Zagros -Tell Mattarah (Braidwood and Howe 1960, 26, 35-37; Odaka 2019, 252-259), Shaih Marif II settlement (Odaka et al. 2019, 72-76). Classic Samarran pottery is conventionally considered specific to Middle Mesopotamia - Tell es-Sawwan (Ippolitoni 1970-71) and Chogha Mami (Oates 1969). But the "northern style" of Samarra (Northern Samarra)² (Gut 1995, 191) is defined in many sites of Upper Mesopotamia: Tell Chagar Bazar (Cruells 2008, 675), Coba Höyük/Sakçagözü (Taylor et al. 1950, 56), Tell Baghouz (Nieuwenhuyse 1999; Nieuwenhuyse et al. 2001; Odaka 2003, 25-27), Tell Sabi Abyad (Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996), Tell Halula (Cruells 2008, 675) and others. Northern Samarra type is difficult to distinguish from the Painted Fine Ware/Standard Hassuna ceramics: the presence of ornamentation characteristic of Standard Hassuna, but the morphology is typical for Samarra. The Dark Faced Burnished Ware was initially defined at Tell el-Cüdeyde (Tell al-Judaidah) in the Amug Plain (Braidwood and Braidwood 1960, 73). It is widely distributed in littoral areas of the Mediterranean in Northern Syria and Cilicia (Cukurova). The most famous site presenting this ceramic type is Yumuktepe (Mersin) (Balossi Restelli 2006).

Methodology

The technological analysis includes studying different stages of pottery technology: raw materials, pottery paste, construction methods, surface treatment, and firing. The study is based on a freshly broken cross-section; the relief makes it possible to distinguish the details of impurities better and joints between construction elements.

Raw material and pottery paste: Different types of clay ferrugination and the presence of natural inclusions were recorded. We suggest mineral inclusions are natural if they are less than 0.2 cm and have rounded outlines. Mineral inclusions were added intentionally if they were more than 0.2 cm, not single, and had acute-angled outlines (Bobrinsky 1999; Nieuwenhuyse 2007). In studied ceramics, it can be detected following organic inclusions: dung and straw (Bobrinsky 1999, 18-19, 32-33, 41-44, 86; London 1981; Rice 1987, 82; Tsetlin 2003). Significant quality of plant residues of 0.2-1 mm wide and some millimeters long can tell us about the presence of dung (Petrova 2019; for more detail: Petrova, in press).

² For "Northern Samarra" also use the terms "Samarra-like", "Samarra derivate", "Samarra-influenced" (Cruells 2008, 673, 675).

Construction methods: It is possible to judge construction methods by the presence of traces left unsmoothed on the ceramic surface, changes in the relief of the vessel walls at the places of joints of sequential elements, and the presence of mold or a link between the vessel and the mold. The fact of junctures inside vertical and horizontal cross-sections indicates the manufacture of the vessel from various clay elements (coils, slabs, bands) (Bobrinsky 1978, 174-184; Roux 2019, 164-166; Rye 1981; Shepard 1956, 184; Vandiver 1987, 30-31): coils - the extended slightly inclined line of juncture in the horizontal cross-section, separation into many separate parts by horizontal or oblique or arcuate short joins in the vertical cross-section; slabs - vertical and horizontal cross-sections are divided by junctures at a large angle to the walls of the vessel into many separate parts; and bands -a single horizontal joint along the entire length in a horizontal cross-section, long inclined or curved joint in a vertical cross-section (Bobrinsky 1978, 175-176; Rice 1987, 125; Vasil'eva and Salugina 2010, 72-87; Petrova 2021).

Surface treatment: Various types of smoothing, burnishing, and additional clay coating are determined. In the latter case, characteristic rounded (micro) cracks appeared on the vessel's surface (Rye 1981, 41, 54; Shepard 1956, 67), resulting from uneven shrinkage of the clay, composing the elemental paste composition and coating. We divided the concept of "slip" into two types: "coating of the same clay" of varying thickness - a kind of clay similar to the main raw material without using additional admixtures; while "slip" - applying of the same clay mixed with a pigment or just different clay.

Firing: The firing regime, duration, and temperature are determined based on the thickness of the oxidized and not completely oxidized layers and the quality type of the transition of a margin between them (sharp or gradual) in the cross-sections, as changes in intentionally mixed or natural inclusions. The color of the surface determines the firing atmosphere: orange tones of varying intensity are characteristic of the oxidation regime, and gray tones are characteristic of the reduction regime (Balossi Restelli 2006, 102-103; Bobrinsky 1999, 93-95; Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2001; Rye 1981, 118).

Technological Analysis of Hakemi Use Pottery

Our analysis aimed to determine the main technological characteristics that distinguish different types of ceramics in the settlement and to compare the obtained technological knowledge with the data available on other settlements for the subsequent reconstruction of the cultural traditions of the ancient population. One hundred eighty ceramic fragments from the Hakemi Use settlement were studied from different ceramic types from all five building levels. Ceramics will be considered into main groups are the *Standard Ware* (Figure 2.1, 2), the *Orange Fine Ware* (Figure 2.3-6), the *Fine Ware, and DFBW* (Figure 2.14-18), but definable types of the *Fine Ware* will be considered separately "*Classic Samarra*"

(Figure 2.7,8), "*Northern Samarra*" (Figure 2.9-11), the *Standard Hassuna* (Figure 2.12,13). According to the studied ceramics, the most numerous groups of *Standard Ware* consists of vessels of different categories (bowls, jugs, pots, storage vessels, basins, husking trays). The wall thicknesses are between 9 and 18 mm (average of 11-13 mm). All other ceramic groups belonging to tableware (bowls, pots, jugs) are more thin-walled - from 4 to 10 mm. Open forms prevailed among the *Orange Fine Ware* and *Samarran* ceramics, among *DFBW*-closed forms.

Raw Material

It is possible to distinguish some groups of raw materials in the *Standard Ware* group. In most cases (mass material for the settlement), ferruginous, slightly - sandy clay with an admixture of mica is observed. In other types, sometimes ocher, quarts, and lime were fixed in small amounts. The last one is connected with painted types (Figure 2.1-2). In the Orange Fine Ware, different variants of ferruginous raw material are noted. It occurs in lime in different concentrations (Figure 2.3, 4, 6) and sometimes big size (up to 0.5 mm), but always has rounded outlines (Figure 2.6). Also, it can fix ocher and sometimes mica. Ceramics of the *Classic Samarra* type were from two kinds of clay: supposedly unferruginous (but there is another explanation, which will be discussed below) without visible inclusions (Figure 2.7) and slightly ferruginous with tiny lime in low concentration (Figure 2.8). In the Northern Samarra type, it is also possible to distinguish some variants of clay. It contains lime in different concentrations and sizes of mineral particles, but always with rounded outlines (Figure 2.9-11), sometimes with additions of mica and ocher. Ceramics of the Standard Hassuna type also have different clays: partly just lime (in different concentrations but always very small) (Figure 2.13), partly just with mica, and partly with a mixture of lime, mica, ocher, and quarts. In DFBW, lime is presented in all samples in different concentrations (mostly high) and minimal size. Also, in some samples, another mineral component could be detected (possibly ocher and some others) (Figure 2.14-18).

Pottery Paste

Two types of intentionally added inclusions are noted in the pottery paste of studied ceramics: organic and mineral.

Organic inclusions are represented by an admixture of dung and coarser plant inclusion (crushed straw) in various concentrations. Dung was noted in all samples of the *Standard Ware*, and its concentration in these products is very high - from half to a third of the volume of the pottery paste, but gradually decreases. It can be said that the dung (from cattle, supposedly) was added there in a slightly dried state since, along with strongly curved prints of the plant (Figure 3.3a), prints with breaks made in a dry state are recorded (Figure 3.3b). Also, dung was noted in a minor concentration in separate fragments of the *Orange Fine Ware* and the *Standard Hassuna* ceramics (no more than 1/10 from all volumes of pottery



Figure 3: The trace of dung in the core

paste). At an even lower concentration, an organic impurity of minimal size was noted in almost all samples of the *DFBW*.

The admixture of straw is represented by larger lamellar plant remains, from 2-3 mm or thicker, most likely associated with the leaves or stems of plants. It is sometimes fixed in the

Standard Ware, supposedly with the combination of dung, and in some cases of *Coarse Ware* without any ornamentation, it was used just straw.

Among intentionally mixed mineral inclusions, is basalt, which is fixed in some fragments of *Northern Samarra* type of ceramics (Figure 2.10). It can also be found in the *Standard Ware* (different types). Different basalt variants were detected (colors and composition: homogeneous and with inclusions) even in one fragment (Figure 4.4-5). Basalt is always combined with clay, which includes an admixture of mica. We also detected beige intentionally added mineral inclusions fixed in *Northern Samarra* type (Figure 2.11), possibly in the *Orange Fine Ware*. Black and light gray intentionally added minerals were found in *DFBW* (Figure 2.16-17).

Construction Methods and Forming

Different construction methods the *Standard Ware* were discovered. In the lower building levels, it was made using coils and short bands or elongated slabs. In both cases, vessels were made accessible – without any molds³. They were constructed with elongated slabs in two layers in the upper levels, seen from the multilayer flat junctions, dividing the cross-section into two parts (Figure 5.4-5). Large cracks sometimes occur on the outer or inner surface, passing along the boundaries of the slabs (Figure 5.3).

The same method is fixed in the *Orange Fine Ware* (Figure 6.8-10) and all other *Fine Ware* types: *Classic Samarra* (Figure 6.1-5), *Northern Samarra* (Figure 6.6-7), and the *Standard Hassuna* (Figure 7). The size and form of elements could be varied (Figure 6.3-4). The layering is visible in the break of the fragments related to *Classical Samarra*. The vessel was thrown into apparently incorrect high-temperature firing, as a result of which the clay slabs parted and a void formed between them (Figure 6.5). Also, the presence of various clay structural elements can be determined by the presence of open surfaces of lower elements (Figure 6.6-7). Unfortunately, given the paddling and a dark gray cross-section, it is difficult to say something about the clay elements used for making *DFBW*.

Regarding two-slab constructions, it can be assumed that this technique was used to strengthen the joints while paddling on the mold. We have evidence of mold mainly on the inner surface from different materials: skin, wicker prints of thin and rude textiles, or wicker. We can see marks from pulling the bag (thin textiles?) in the *DFBW* and the *Orange Fine Ware* on the inside under the rim (the rim was stuck on top) (Figure 8). It's possible to suggest the bag was used during the construction of *Standard Painted* and *Incised Ware* - several protruding lines are fixed on the inner side, radiating from the rim. The material's contraction creates waviness (Fig. 9.2a). It can be supposed to be the imprint of the cord (Figure 9.2b). In one case, bag prints were found on the outer surface of the *Standard Coarse Ware* (Figure

³ This will be discussed in more detail in the next article.



Figure 4: The basalt tempered

9.3). Wicker or knitted prints are located on the inner surface of the *Orange Fine Ware* (Figure 9.5-6). A skin mold on the inner surface of the *Standard Hassuna Ware* (Figure 7.2-3). In all considered cases, these bags could be either an independent mold filled with any soft material or a link between the mold and the clay vessel.



Figure 5: Two-layer slab construction in the Standard Ware.



Figure 6: Samarran (1-7) and the Orange Fine Ware (8-10), made with slabs.



Figure 7: The prints of two-layer slabs in the horizontal cross-section (4, 5) and skin mold (or link) (2, 3) on an inner surface of *Standard Hassuna Ware*

Surface Treatment

In most cases, on the surfaces of the *Standard Ware*, the *Orange Fine Ware*, and the *Northern Samarra*, fixed additional covering with the same clay was found. This layer peeling (Figure 10.2, 7; 5.2), curly cracks of this layer (Figure 10.5; Figure 5.1), and small



Figure 8: The prints from pulling the bag (thin textile?) in DFBW and Orange Fine Ware

curly losses of this layer were found along the cracks (Figure 10.9). Most often, the clay covering is combined with dung in pottery past, which is visible under this layer. It could be suggested that vessels containing the dung in the pottery paste in high concentrations were deliberately covered with an additional layer of clay, probably to reduce the porosity. Cases of using a slip-clay solution that differs from the raw material's main composition are rare: just in instances, the *Standard Hassuna*. It was the admixture of clay with light pigment



Figure 9: The traces of mold on the *Standard Ware* and *Orange Ware* (wicker prints knitted link)

(Figure 10.1). In two cases, it could suggest the presence of red slip (clay + pigment) in the *Standard Ware*. But the mostly red color is achieved by burnishing on a hard-dry surface, sometimes covered with red paint.

Another prevalent surface treatment is burnishing, which reduces porosity and increases



Figure 10: The traces of clay covering

moisture resistance (slightly). Burnishing could be carried out on an almost dry surface (the so-called "leather-hard" state). This situation is fixed on the *Standard Ware*, and burnishing gives a "red" effect (Figure 11.1). On the *DFBW*, both burnishing on a "leather-hard" surface and a not completely dry were found - while grooves from the polishing tool remained on the surface (Figure 11.2). The complete covering of the surface with burnishing is fixed in not big-size vessels of *Standard Ware* and *DFBW* ceramics (Figure 11.1-2). Burnishing is



Figure 11: Surface treatment (burnishing).

like ornamentation on different ceramic types (Figure 11.3-6). Smoothing of the surface with various tools (presumably fingers, grass, cloth, and stone tools) is also periodically recorded.

Firing

During the firing of the Standard Ware group, an oxidative atmosphere was used. In most

cases, the *Standard Ware* ceramics of all types were exposed to high temperatures (700-800°C) for a short time, after which it was abruptly removed from the fire. This is evidenced by thin oxidized (orange) layers near the surface, as well as a thick (black) inner layer (core) that has not been exposed to high temperatures (Figure 2.1). In some cases of the *Standard Ware*, the use of these temperatures was longer, and the vessel was under their influence for a longer time, which gives a gradual transition of colors from orange to light gray (Figure 2.2).

The Orange Fine Ware and the Fine Ware, in most cases, were exposed to high temperatures for a long time (Figure 2.3-5, 7-8, 9-10, 12-13), in some cases exceeding the specified temperature values for a short time resulting in a highly oxidized (bright orange) layer near the surface (Figure 2.12). Interestingly, the firing was fixed in *Classic Samarra* (Figure 2.8), Northern Samarra (Figure 2.9), and Standard Hassuna incised (Figure 2.13), when light layers of different thicknesses appeared near the surface of the vessel subjected to high-temperature oxidative firing. This situation is highlighted by "self-slip" - the covering of the vessel, which "consists of the same material that constitutes the body clay", which "results from carefully wiping the vessel surface". It also noted that this "treatment brings the finer particles and salts present in the clay to the surface. In combinations with neutral firing conditions, this may contribute a pale surface color" (Rice 1987, 151; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 70). In cases studied by us, the suggestion that salts present in the clay rise to the surface due to treatment is contradicted by the fact that the lighter layers of the cross-section near the outside and inside surface of the vessel wall are of different thicknesses. The outer layer is always thicker. We assume that this situation is related to the achievement of high firing temperatures, probably around 1000°C, when the next stage should be the greening of the surface, which is known on the ceramics of the Standard Hassuna and the Samarra (Nieuwenhuyse et al. 2001, 153; Petrova 2022, 34). It is possible that the ceramics of Classical Samarra were also subjected to such firing, only for a longer time (Figure 2.7). The desired color contrasts were achieved by firing the vessels at sufficiently high temperatures for the pigments to melt in alternating reducing-oxidizing circumstances (Courtois and Velde, 1984; Nieuwenhuyse et al., 2002, 40).

We discovered exciting groups of *Orange Fine Ware* and *Northern Samarra Ware*, where the vessels were initially fired in a reducing atmosphere (without access to oxygen), as their core has an intense dark gray-blue core (not light gray) (Figure 2.2), as in the case of gradual firing in an oxidizing atmosphere, and not be black, and as in the case of full firing in an oxidizing atmosphere, when the core remains not fully fired (Figure 2.1), and then subjected to oxidized firing - resulting in an outer orange layer (Figure 2.6,11).

DFBW black was mainly fired in a reducing/oxidizing atmosphere from the beginning because its core has a dark orange hue. But in the end, such vessels were subjected to short-term firing in a reducing atmosphere (Figure 2.16-18). *DFBW purplish-brown*,

on the contrary, has a core, indicating the initial reductive firing, but at the end of it, the atmosphere became reductive-oxidative (Figure 2.14-15). However, the exposure time to such final temperatures was different (oxidizing or reducing), which is also the reason for layers of different thicknesses near the surface. In the case of prolonged firing in a reducing atmosphere, a dark gray-blue color is also fixed (compare Figure 2.15 with Figure 2.6 and Figure 2.11).

General Discussion of Technological Stages

In general, the collected data showed a wide variety of cultural traditions in the field of ceramic technology, which provided many opportunities for further study and raised many interesting questions. For example, mica is a characteristic mineral inclusion of the raw materials of the Taurus foothills and is the typical impurity of the Hakemi Use Standard Ware mass material clays. It is not common in *Standard Ware* pottery originating from the more southerly settlements of Upper Mesopotamia – Tell Sabi Abyad and Tell Boueid II, where the natural clay inclusions are calcium carbonate of microfossil origin and quarts (Nieuwenhuyse et al. 2002, 44; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 74). The presence of a significant amount of natural admixture of limestone in such ceramic types as Orange Fine Ware, Standard Hassuna, and Samarran is not surprising and points to the Mesopotamian plain (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 85; Petrova 2021). But the existence of mica in the Orange Fine Ware and the Samarra Ware in Hakemi Use ceramics and in the Samarra Ware from Tell Boueid II (Nieuwenhuyse et al. 2002, 40) gives rise to different assumptions: some of the pottery was imported from the southern regions, but some could have been produced in the foothills of Taurus. It is also interesting that on the Tell Sabi Abyad settlement, the Orange Fine Ware ceramics and Hakemi Use were made from different types of clay: both with limestone (microfossil origin) and without it (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 74).

Of no less interesting is the study of intentionally included impurities. The presence of dung in ceramics connected us with Upper Mesopotamia and Zagros, where this tradition was spread in the second half of the 7th Millennium BCE. But in the period under study, it has been recorded everywhere in the eastern and southern parts of Fertile Crescent (Petrova 2019; in press). The presence of the dung is fixed in the *Standard Ware*, the *Orange Fine Ware*, and the *Gray-Black Ware*⁴ ceramics of Tell Sabi Abyad settlement of this period (Transitional or Proto-Halaf in term of Sabi Abyad) and Tell Boueid II (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 43, 55; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 75). By the definition O. Nieuwenhuyse, no vegetal temper was added to *DFBW* pastes from Tell Sabi Abyad (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 86). It is different from Hakemi Use data. In addition to dung, more significant plant residues are often recorded in the coarse vessels of all named settlements. However, their interpretation

⁴ Gray-Black Ware - ceramic type close to Standard Ware with grey surface colour (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 75).

is difficult. The only case when extensive plant remains can be confidently associated with threshing waste was recorded at Tell Koshak Shamali, where many impressions of husks were noted in ceramics (Le Mière 2001, 182; Petrova in press).

The study of specially added mineral impurities can also help discover the place of origin of various ceramics types. For example, basalt is relatively common in the Taurus foothills and nearest regions (Figure 4). It is found in Northern Samarra and, possibly, in the Standard Ware of Hakemi Use pottery. Coarse admixture of basalt to ceramics is known as the first half of the 7th mil. BCE on this territory: Mineral Coarse Ware - Kendale Hecala (Ökse 2021, 309) the Early Mineral Tempered Pottery – Sumaki Höyük (Erim-Özdogan 2011, 29; Gündüzalp 2021, 30). A small admixture of basalt is also recorded in ceramics of this time in Akarçay Tepe (Cruells et al. 2017, 31) on the river Euphrates and its tributaries: Khabur River - Tell Seker al-Aheimar (Basalt Tempered Ware) (Nishiaki and Le Mière 2017, 46); the Balikh River - Tell Sabi Abyad I and II Early Mineral Ware (EMW) (Nieuwenhuyse et al. 2010, 77). In the "Transitional" period at Hakemi Use, basalt-temper is also noted in Mineral Coarse Ware type, among others, deliberately added temper in Tell Sabi Abyad (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 80). Not far from the Hakemi Use settlement, numerous outcrops of basalt are associated with the activities of the volcano Karacadağ (Lustrino et al. 2012) (Figure 4). Also, it's possible to add that when basalt is combined with an admixture of mica, it indicates the local origin of ceramics. A detailed study of the mineral impurities composition in the future will help with different questions, including understanding Northern Samarra ceramics.

We also documented intentionally added dark (black and light-gray) mineral inclusions in *DFBW* from Hakemi Use. Some of them are probably amphibole⁵, which were in the *DFBW* "Pre-Halaf" and "Transitional" periods of Tell Sabi Abyad settlement (Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996, 126, 147; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 52, 82) and Boueid II (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 62).

In the *Orange Fine Ware* paste of Tell Sabi Abyad and Tell Boueid II ceramics, we documented large (more than 2 mm) and angular to sub-angular orange, reddish-orange, darkgray, and black colored inclusions, mudstone, sandstone, and calcium-carbonate particles (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 55-56; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 86). In studying *Orange Fine Ware* from Hakemi Use, reddish-orange inclusions (ocher?) and calcium-carbonate particles (lime) look like natural inclusions and can be more extensive but consistently rounded outlines. But we also documented beige (or light orange) angular inclusions, which can be intentionally added.

The study of construction methods also can tell us about relations between populations of the region, in studied period coils noted in ceramics from Tell Halula (Calvo *et al.* 2018, 158)

⁵ Deposits of amphibole is hundreds of kilometres of Sabi Abyad (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 52, 82).

and Tell Sabi Abyad. In *Standard Ware, Gray-Black Ware*, and *Mineral Coarse Ware*. For *Orange Fine Ware* and *Samarra Ware*, the construction method is described as follows "the base was pressed out in a mold, after which the wall was built with coils" (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 45; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 77, 79, 80, 86). The last method is also suggested for the *Samarra Ware* from Tell Baghouz (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2001) and Tell Boueid II (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 39). Along with slab construction in two layers on a base mold, coils are also noted for *Proto-Hassuna* and *Archaic Hassuna* pottery in the eastern part of the Fertile Crescent. During the *Standard Hassuna* period, coils almost wholly disappeared in this area. Ceramics of the *Standard Hassuna* and *Samarra* are made using a base mold using a two-layer slab construction (Petrova 2021; Petrova 2022).

The usage of the mold was found in the manufacture of *Samara* ceramics in all studied cases (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2001; Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 45; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 77, 79, 80, 86; Petrova, 2022).

Construction methods of ceramics, referred to as the *Standard Ware* require a more careful study in various territories since they can differ significantly and testify to different relationships. In Hakemi Use, we documented three construction methods in the *Standard Ware*. Coiling and making vessels from elongated slabs or short bands without mold, were found in the lower part of the settlement. On the upper level, we also discovered a two-layer slab construction of *Standard Ware* vessel on a base mold. Possibly it happened under the outside influence because this method is also fixed on ceramics of *Orange Fine Ware*, the *Samarra*, and the *Standard Hassuna* from Hakemi Use. It may be indirect evidence of the direct contact of the bearers of different technological traditions and that ceramics came to the settlement not only in finished form.

We found the prints of the mold (or link to the mold) of different types on Hakemi Use: from the skin, coarse textile, and possibly thin textile (bag). Such prints are known on the ceramics of Upper Mesopotamia from the Proto-Hassuna period (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2012, Fig. 4, 5; Berghuis 2018; Petrova 2019, Fig. 5). Weaving prints are also known on the lid of a vessel originating from Hakemi Use (Tekin 2017, Fig. 20).

Details of surface treatment, require clarification, especially the question associated with different types of additional clay coating of the vessel surface. The presence of slip (red slip or lightly-colored 'self-slip') was found on Tell Sabi Abyad and Tell Boueid II ceramics *Standard Ware*, sometimes *Gray-Black Ware* and *Orange Fine Ware* (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 56; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 76, 79, 86). We also assume the presence of an additional clay coating on these types of vessels. Still, we propose to single out the coating from the same clay and the slip itself (as a changed composition or different from the composition of the clay from which the vessels were made). Previous authors have probably used the

term "wash" for the first case. But it seems unfortunate since "wash" involves a skinny clay coating highly diluted with water. While on the ceramics we studied, the clay coating is thick enough to cover all inclusions (organic and mineral), often in high concentrations.

Also, explaining the "dark" surface color of the *DFBW* presents a challenge. Le Mière thinks it is generally not a firing result, but it depends on the clay used. Also, she noted that these "vessels were often slipped, which gave a bright, cherry-red color" (Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996, 126-127). The same is suggested for the *DFBW* from Tell Boueid II (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 62). But for Tell Sabi Abyad *DFBW* ceramics, Nieuwenhuyse noted that some part of it was fired in reducing circumstances, including *Pattern-Burnished Ware* (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 82-83). F. Balossi Restelli suggested that the dark color of the *DFBW* surface on ceramics from Yumuktepe, both modern for Hakemi Use and later periods, occurred for some reasons: the reduced firing regime, the covers with grits and very watery wash (Balossi Restelli 2006, 19). The ceramics of *DFBW* that we studied (with the black and purplish-brown color on the surface) Hakemi Use don't show any traces of slip. In this regard, we also want to mention that burnishing is the main characteristic of the *DFBW* (Balossi Restelli 2006, 18; Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 79). It gives a more intense color on the surface: in the case of more ferruginous clay in the oxidized regime, it will be red; in the case of the reductive regime - it will be black.

Studying the details of the firing condition also sets us the vector for searching for ceramic bonds. The oxidative firing regime is typical for the eastern part of the Fertile Crescent. It was used in *Proto-Hassuna* and *Hassuna* ceramics (Petrova 2021; Petrova *et al.* in press), *Orange Fine Ware*, and most *Standard Ware* (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 76, 86). The reducing firing regime is mainly known in the western part of Upper Mesopotamia and the Mediterranean coast (Balossi Restelli 2006). It is fixed in *Gray-Black Ware*, *DFBW*, and *Mineral Coarse Ware* in Tell Sabi Abyad. Nieuwenhuyse noted the use of different firing regimes in *Gray-Black Ware* and *DFBW* (Nieuwenhuyse 2007, 79). This is also typical on *DFBW* from Hakemi Use. And just about 20% of ceramics from Yumuktepe are fired in reducing atmosphere (Balossi Restelli 2006, 18).

Interesting is the existence in the collection of Hakemi Use ceramics groups of the *Orange Fine Ware* and the *Northern Samarra* types, initially fired in a reduction firing, and then experienced a reducing atmosphere. This may indicate their Western connections. It was noted already that the main features of *Samarran* pottery found at Hakemi Use are similar to that of the southern regions (Nieuwenhuyse 1999; Nieuwenhuyse 2000); however, there are still some differences between the two areas both "in fabric and designs" (Tekin 2011, 153-156). Therefore, the study of firing and the analysis of raw materials and impurities can tell us that some of the ceramics were local, and some were of southwestern origin.

Discussion of the Problems of Orange Fine Ware Connections

It is supposed that *Orange Fine Ware* is common to the *Archaic Painted Ware* (Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996, 173; Ökse 2021; Tekin 2013) of the eastern part of Upper Mesopotamia – Tell Hassuna (Lloyd and Safar 1945, 278, Fig. 7) and Yarim Tepe I settlements (Merpert and Munchaev 1993, 87-89). But later, Le Mière admitted that she did not identified *Orange Fine Ware* on the Sinjar sites – Yarim Tepe I, Tell Sotto, Kültepe (Le Mière 2000, 132). Nieuwenhuyse also pointed out the resemblance of *Standard Ware* from Tell Boueid II to *Proto-Hassuna* (Umm Dabaghiyah, Tell Sotto, Kültepe, Tell Kashkashok, Tell Hazna II, Tell Seker al-Aheimar) and *Archaic Hassuna* (Yarim Tepe I, Tell Shemshara). Besides this, he noted that *Archaic Hassuna* ceramics from Tell Hassuna and grit-tempered *Red-Burnished Pottery* from Tell Kashkashok II are closer to *Orange Ware* from Tell Boueid II (Nieuwenhuyse *et al.* 2002, 54, 60-61). This is a significant remark and requires a separate study. In any case, in addition to the discussions of *Orange Fine Ware* connections, it emphasizes that *Standard Ware* is a heterogeneous phenomenon; it may differ on different sites.

We can say that judging by the studied Orange Fine Ware from Hakemi Use and ceramics of Archaic Hassuna pottery from Yarim Tepe I and Tell Sotto (Petrova 2021), there is no complete correspondence between these ceramic types. All the studied groups of this pottery differ either in the composition of the raw materials used or are very similar in raw materials (clay with limestone admixture) but have a different type of firing (Fig. 2.6). The composition of ornaments is parallel (mainly simple lines and triangles). Still, we have to add that the quality of execution is very different. The painted lines on Orange Fine Ware are more even, neat, and thicker than on the ceramics of Archaic Hassuna. Also, of note is the absence of polished ornament on the last one, characteristic of Orange Fine Ware on Hakemi Use and Tell Sabi Abyad (Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996, 173). Firing of Orange Fine Ware is more high-temperature and longer, as evidenced by the bright orange surface noted by all researchers (Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996, 168; Ökse 2021, 313; Tekin 2013, 496). At the same time, the surface of the Archaic Hassuna ceramics is light orange (buff color). On the Tell Sabi Abyad, where Orange Fine Ware ceramics were allocated initially, it appears in the period called "Proto-Halaf" (or "Transitional"), which corresponds to Hassuna III "bears strong resemblances to the Hassuna and Samarra cultures known from northern and central Iraq" (Cruells and Nieuwenhuyse 2004, 48-49; Le Mière and Nieuwenhuyse 1996, 168). Therefore, the Archaic Hassuna pottery represents an earlier stage, probably existing only in the eastern part of Upper Mesopotamia. But whether there is a connection between these two types of ceramics still requires further consideration. Possibly, Archaic Hassuna ceramics is the predecessor of Orange Fine Ware.

Conclusions

As was said before, ceramics from Hakemi Use indicate that the Upper Tigris Valley was in interaction with other parts of the Near East, as far as the littoral areas of the Mediterranean, the Upper and Middle Mesopotamia, and the foothills of Northwestern Zagros. We can see the same situation at this region's sites like Gre Filla (Ökse 2021, 309-314) and Til Huzur/Yayvantepe (Caneva 2011, 176). In addition, the technological study of Hakemi Use ceramics shows that even within the same type, ceramics are not homogeneous and most likely have different places of origin. Indeed, some of the pottery of *Orange Fine Ware, Standard Hassuna*, and *Samarra* types were imported, and some could have been made in the foothills of the Taurus. Just ceramics *DFBW*, *Classic Samarra*, and *Standard Hassuna incised* can be called wholly imported.

The connection between the Upper Tigris region and the southern regions probably ran via the Mardin mountains (with an average elevation of 1000 m), the *Tur-Abdin* via the Tigris River and its tributaries (particularly along the stream of Şeyhan Çay), or through Savur and Derik (province Mardin). Ways to the obsidian sources in the northeast likely took the passes still used today by the most critical land roads, i.e., the Batman-Baykan-Bitlis-Van route. No significant barrier is located to the west since the Karacadağ massif is not an obstacle: it offers an easy course via Viranşehir (province Şanlıurfa) to the south. It can be passed on its sides, enabling travelers to reach the Balikh and Euphrates regions via Şanlıurfa, the Amuq region, and Cilicia. The pottery and small finds of Hakemi Use reflect the inhabitants' relationship to all of these regions (Tekin 2013, 499). However, judging by the analysis of ceramics, the most extensive ties among the population of the Upper Tigris at the beginning of 6th mil. BCE developed precisely in the southeastern direction (ceramics of *Orange Fine Ware, DFBW*, and some "*Northern*" *Samarra* samples).

References

Akkermans, P. M. M. G., Cappers, R., Cavallo, O., Nieuwenhuyse, O. P., Nilhamn B. & Otte, I. (2006). Investigating the early pottery Neolithic of northern Syria: new evidence from Tell Sabi Abyad. *American Journal of Archaeology*, 96, 1-22.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Conception/Design of Study- N.P., H.T.; Data Acquisition- N.P., H.T.; Data Analysis/ Interpretation- N.P., H.T.; Drafting Manuscript- N.P., H.T.; Critical Revision of Manuscript- N.P., H.T.; Final Approval and Accountability- N.P., H.T. Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Grant Support: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Acknowledgments: We thank Beyzanur Kargı, Filiz İlhan (Hacettepe University, Ankara), and Dr. Pavel Holoshin (Italy) for extra help.

Balossi Restelli, F. (2006). The development of "Cultural regions" in the Neolithic of the Near East. The "Dark Faced Burnished Ware Horizon". London: BAR International Series 1482.

- Berghuis, K. (2018). Basketry-impressed pottery from Late Neolithic Tell Sabi Abyad. In O. P. Nieuwenhuyse (Ed.), *Relentlessly Plain: Seventh Millennium Ceramics at Tell Sabi Abyad, Syria* (pp. 277-282). Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Bobrinsky, A. A. (1978). Pottery of Eastern Europe. Sources and methods of studying, Moscow: Nauka (in Russian).
- Bobrinsky, A. A. (1999). Pottery technology is an object of historical and cultural study. In A. A. Bobrinsky (Ed.), *Actual Problems of Ancient Pottery Investigation* (collective monograph) (pp. 5-109). Samarra: SamPGU (in Russian).
- Braidwood, R. J. & L. S. Braidwood (Eds.) (1960). Excavations in the Plain of Antioch. The Earlier Assemblages Phases A-J. Chicago: University of Chicago Oriental Institute Publications, LXI.
- Braidwood, R. J. & B. Howe (1960). Prehistoric Investigations in Iraqi Kurdistan. Chicago: The Oriental Institute of the University of Chicago.
- Calvo S., Faura, J. M. & Molist, M. (2018). A technological approach to ceramic manufacture in the Pre-Halaf in Tell Halula (Syria). In A. Gomez-Bach, Becker, J. & Molist, M. (Eds.). *III Workshop on Late Neolithic Ceramics in Ancient Mesopotamia: pottery in context* (pp. 151-162), Barcelona: Museu d'Arqueologia de Cataluna.
- Caneva, I. (2011). Til Huzur-Yayvantepe. In M. Özdoğan, Başgelen, N. & Kuniholm, P. (Eds.) The Neolithic in Turkey. The Euphrates Basin (pp. 151-172). Istanbul: Archaeology&Art Publications.
- Courtois, L. & Velde, B. (1984). Recherches compares sur les matériaux et les techniques de peinture céramiques de Mésopotamie (VI-V millénaires). *Paléorient*, 10(2), 81-93.
- Cruells, W. (2008). The Proto-Halaf: Origins, definition, regional framework and chronology. In J. Còrdoba, Molist, M., Pèrez, M. C., Rubio, I. & Martínez, S. (Eds.) *Proceedings of the 5th International Congress* on the Archaeology of Ancient Near East, Vol. 3 (pp. 671-689). Madrid: UAM Press.
- Cruells, W. & Nieuwenhuyse, O. (2004). The Proto-Halaf period in Syria. New sites, new data. *Paléorient*, 30(1), 47-68.
- Cruells, W., Faura, J. & Molist, M. (2017). Akarçay Tepe and Tell Halula in the context of the earliest ceramics production in West Asia. In A. Tsuneki, Nieuwenhuyse, O. & Campbel, S. (Eds) *The Emergence* of Pottery in West Asia (pp. 27-42). Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Erim-Özdoğan, A. (2011). Sumaki Höyük. A new Neolithic settlement in the Upper Tigris Basin. In M. Özdoğan, Başgelen, N. & Kuniholm, P. (Eds.) *The Neolithic in Turkey. The Tigris Basin* (pp. 19-60). Istanbul: Archaeology & Art Publications.
- İlhan, F. (2022). An evolution of the dark-faced pattern burnished bowl from Hakemi Use. Nevşehir Hacı Bektaş Veli Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 12(2), 791-801.
- Ippolitoni, F. (1970-71). The pottery of Tell es-Sawwan First season. Mesopotamia V/VI, 105-179.
- Gündüzalp, S. (2021). Beginning and development of pottery use in Upper Mesopotamia in the light of Sumaki Höyük data. *Neo-Lithics* 21, 29-31.
- Gut, R. V. (1995). Das pr\u00e4historische Ninive. Zur relative Chronologie der fr\u00fchen Perioden Normesopotamiens. Mainz am Rhein: Baghdader Forschungen, Bd. 19.
- Le Mière, M. (2000). L'occupation Proto-Hassuna du Haut-Khabur occidental d'aprés la céramique. In B. Lyonnet (Ed.), *Prospection archéologique dans le Haut-Khabur*, vol. 1 (pp. 127-149). Beyrouth: Institut Français d'Archéologie du Proche-Orient.

- Le Mière, M. (2001). The Neolithic pottery from Tell Kosak Shamali. In Y. Nishiaki & Matsutani, T. (Eds.) Tell Kosak Shamali - The Archaeological Investigations on the Upper Euphrates, Syria, Vol. 1 (pp. 179-196). Tokyo: The University Museum.
- Le Mière, M, & Nieuwenhuyse, O. (1996). The prehistoric pottery. In P. M. M. G. Akkermans (Ed.) *Tell Sabi Abyad. The Late Neolithic settlement* (pp. 119-284). Istanbul: Nederlands historisch-archaeologisch instituut.
- Lloyd, S. & Safar, F. (1945). Tell Hassuna: Excavations by the Iraq Government Directorate of Antiquities in 1943-44. *Journal of Near Eastern Studies*, 4, 255-331.
- London, G. (1981). Dung-tempered clay. Journal of Field Archaeology, 8/2, 189-195.
- Lustrino, M., Keskin, M., Mattioli, M. & Kavak, O. (2012). Heterogeneous mantle sources feed the volcanic activity of Mt. Karacadağ. *Journal of Asian Earth Sciences*, 46, 120-139.
- Merpert, N. Ya. & Munchaev, R. M. (1973). Early agricultural settlements in the Sinjar Plain, Northern Iraq. Iraq, 35, 93-113.
- Merpert, N. Ya. & Munchaev, R. (1993). Yarim Tepe I. In N. Yoffe & Clark, J. J. (Eds.). Early Stages in the Evolution of Mesopotamian Civilization. Soviet Excavations in Northern Iraq (pp. 73-114). Arizona: The University of Arizona Press.
- Nieuwenhuyse, O. (1999). Tell Baghouz reconsidered: a collection of "Classic" Sammaran sherds from the Louvre. Syria, 76, 1-18.
- Nieuwenhuyse, O. (2000). Halaf Settlement in the Khabur Headwaters. In B. Lyonnet (Ed.) Prospection Archéologique dans le Haut-Khabur, vol. 1 (pp. 151-260). Beyrouth: Institut Français d'Archéologie du Proche-Orient.
- Nieuwenhuyse, O. P. (2007). *Plain and Painted Pottery: The Rise of the Late Neolithic Ceramic Styles on the Syrian and Northern Mesopotamian Plain.* Turnhout: Brepols.
- Nieuwenhuyse, O., Jacobs, L., Van As, B., Broekmans, T. & Adriaens A. M. (2001). Making Samarra fine ware – technological observations on ceramics from Tell Baghouz (Syria). *Paléorient*. 27, 147-165.
- Nieuwenhuyse, O., Jacobs, L. & Van As, B. (2002). The ceramics. In A. Suleiman, & Nieuwenhuyse, O. (Eds.) *Tell Boueid II. A late Neolithic village in the Middle Khabur (Syria)* (pp. 35-124). Turnhout: (Subartu XI), Brepols.
- Nieuwenhuyse, O. P., Akkermans, P. M. M. G. & Van der Plicht, J. (2010). Not so coarse, not always plain the earliest pottery of Syria. *Antiquity*, 84, 71-85.
- Nishiaki, Y. & Le Mière, M. (2017). The Oldest Neolithic Pottery is from Tell Seker al-Aheimar, Upper Khabur, Northeastern Syria. In A. Tsuneki, Nieuwenhuyse O., & Campbel, S. (Eds.), *The Emergence of pottery in West Asia* (pp. 43-54). Oxford: Oxbow Books.
- Oates, J. (1969). Choga Mami 1967-68: a preliminary report. Iraq, vol. XXXI, 115-152.

Odaka, T. (2003). Samarra pottery in the National Museum of Aleppo, Syria. Al-Rafidan, XXIV, 25-35.

- Odaka, T. (2019). Neolithic potsherds from Matarrah, Northern Iraq: the collection of the University Museum, the University of Tokyo. In S. Nakamura (Ed.) *Decades in Deserts: Essays on Near Eastern Archaeology in honour of Sumio Fujii* (pp. 251-260). Tokyo: Rokuichi Syobou.
- Odaka, T., Nieuwenhuyse, O. & Mühl, S. (2019). From the 7th to the 6th Millennium BC in Iraqi Kurdistan: A local ceramic horizon in the Shahrizor Plain. *Paléorient*, 45(2), 67-83.

- Ökse, A. T. (2021). New data on the Late Neolithic pottery from the Northern Upper Tigris region: The Ambar Dam reservoir. In R. Özbal, Erdalkıran M. & Tonoike, Y. (Eds.), *Neolithic pottery from the Near East. Production, distribution, and use* (pp. 307-322). Antalya: Koç University Press.
- Petrova, N. Yu. (2019). The development of Neolithic pottery technology in Eastern Jazira and the Zagros Mountains. *Documenta Praehistorica*, XLVI, 128-136.
- Petrova, N. (2021). Neolithic pottery technology of Sinjar Valley, Northern Iraq (Proto-Hassuna and Archaic Hassuna periods). In R. Özbal, R., Erdalkıran M. & Tonoike, Y. (Eds.), *Neolithic pottery from the Near East. Production, distribution, and use* (pp. 213-228). Antalya: Koç University Press.
- Petrova, N. Y. (2022). Classic Samarra Painted Pottery from Yarim Tepe I, the Neolithic of Northern Iraq. Archaeology, Ethnography and Anthropology of Eurasia, 50/3, 29-38.
- Petrova, N. Yu., Kalganova, G. Yu. & Titova, M. A. (2023). Standard Hassuna Ceramics from Yarim Tepe I settlement from the collection of the Pushkin State Museum of Fine Arts. *Rossiyskaya Archeologia*, 1, 25-40 (in Russian)
- Petrova, N. (in press). The Dung, among others, temper in Zagros and Mesopotamia Neolithic pottery. In T. Richter, Darabi H. (Eds.) Revising the Hilly Flanks: The Epipaleolithic and Neolithic periods in the Eastern Fertile Crescent.
- Rice, P. M. (1987). Pottery Analysis. A sourcebook. Second edition. Chicago & London: University of Chicago Press.
- Roux, V. in collaboration with Courty M. A. (2019). Ceramics and Society. A technological approach to archaeological assemblages. Cham: Springer.
- Rye, O. S. (1981). Pottery technology. Principles and reconstruction. Washington: Taraxacum.
- Taylor, J. D. P., Seton-Williams, M. V. & Waechter J. (1950). The excavation at Sakce Gözü. Iraq, XII/2, 53–138.
- Shepard, A.O. (1985). Ceramics for the Archaeologist. Washington: Carnegie Institution of Washington.
- Tekin, H. (2007). New discoveries concerning the relationship between the upper Tigris region and Syro-Cilicia in the Late Neolithic. *Anatolian Studies*, 57, 161-169.
- Tekin, H. (2008). Hakemi Use: a newly established site dating to the Hassuna/Samarra period in Southeastern Anatolia. In J. M. Córdoba, Molist, M., Pérez, M. C., Rubio, I & Martínez, S. (Eds.). Proceeding of the 5th International Congress on the Archaeology of the Ancient Near East (pp. 271-283). Madrid: Centro Superior de Estudios Sobre el Oriente Proximo y Egipto.
- Tekin, H. (2011). Hakemi Use: a newly discovered Late Neolithic site in Southeastern Anatolia. In M. Özdoğan, Başgelen, N. & Kuniholm, P. (Eds.) *The Neolithic in Turkey, The Tigris Basin* (pp. 151-172). Istanbul: Archaeology&Art Publications.
- Tekin, H. (2013). The Contribution of Hakemi Use to the Prehistory of Upper Mesopotamia. In O. Nieuwenhuyse, Bernbeck, R. Akkermans, P. M. M. G. & Rogasch, J. (Eds.) Interpreting the Late Neolithic of Upper Mesopotamia (pp. 493-502). Turnhout: Brepols.
- Tekin, H. (2017). Tarihöncesinde Mezopotamya. Ankara: Bilgin Kültür Sanat Yayınları.
- Tekin, H. (2020). Hakemi Use excavations within the Ilisu projects. Anadolu / Anatolia, 46, 147-165.
- Tsetlin, Yu. B. (2003). Organic tempers in ancient ceramics. In S. D. Pietro (Ed.). Ceramic in the Society. Proceedings of the 6th European Meeting on Ancient Ceramics (pp. 289-310). Fribourg: The University of Fribourg Press.

- Vandiver, P. (1987). Sequential slab construction: a conservative Southwest Asiatic ceramic tradition, ca.7000-3000 B. C. Paléorient, 13(2), 9-35.
- Vasil'eva, I. N. & Salugina, N. P. (2010). Slab constructions. In B. Yu. Tsetlin (Ed.) Ancient pottery. Results and prospects of study (pp. 72-87). Moscow: Institute of Archaeology, Russian Academy of Sciences (in Russian).




AnAr, 29, 31–50 DOI: 10.26650/anar.2023.29.1334041

Research Article

Ancient Cylinder Seals from Upper Mesopotamia

Çağatay Yücel¹, Umut Parlıtı²



¹Dicle University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Protohistory and Near East Archeology, Diyarbakir, Turkiye ²Ataturk University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Protohistory and Near Eastern Archeology. Erzurum, Turkiye

ORCID ID: Ç.Y. 0000-0002-7997-7505; U.P. 0000-0001-9895-4926

Corresponding author: Umut Parliti,

Ataturk University Faculty of Letters, Department of Protohistory and Near Eastern Archeology, Blok A, No. 412, Erzurum-Turkiye E-mail: umutparilti62@gmail.com

Submitted: 08.07.2023 Revision Requested: 04.10.2023 Last Revision Received: 26.10.2023 Accepted: 27.10.2023

Citation: Yücel, Ç., & Parlıtı, U. (2023). Ancient cylinder seals from upper Mesopotamia. *Anadolu Araştırmaları-Anatolian Research, 29*, 31–50. https://doi.org/10.26650/anar.2023.29.1334041

ABSTRACT

This study examines 14-cylinder seals from the Diyarbakır Archeology Museum. Unfortunately, the museum inventory does not provide any information about their definition, period, or the culture they belong to. To determine their cultural significance, relevant details were presented to the academic community by comparing them with examples and similar items from previously published scientific papers. The seals discussed in this paper were exposed to abrasion, and some have signs of deterioration due to excessive use and scraping. The cylinder seals of this study represent the Akkadian, Old Babylonian, Mitanni, and Assyrian seal arts, depicting scenes from mythology, worship, hunting, and struggles. **Keywords:** Cylinder Seal Akkadian Old Babylonian Mitanni, Middle and Neo-

Keywords: Cylinder Seal, Akkadian, Old Babylonian, Mitanni, Middle and Neo-Assyrian



Introduction¹

In the ancient Near East, seals were defined as an object used to determine ownership, allowed people to sign documents, ensured the inviolability of goods and properties, and formalized all kinds of business and transactions (Özkan, 2011: 148). These artifacts were typically made of solid materials such as stone, sometimes ivory, bone, glass, tile, metal, wood, hard-dried clay or baked clay (Collon, 1987: 4; Pittman, 1987: 12; Yücel ve Parlıtı, 2020: 34). The origin of the seals, which are still actively used today, date to the Neolithic Period. Around 7000 BC, when seals were extensively utilized in the region spanning from Northern Syria to Southeastern Anatolia and Central Anatolia. In the prehistoric period when only stamp seals were produced, they were decorated with geometric patterns and animal scenes (Tsouparopoulou and Casties, 2014: 39). The increased trade of the Neolithic cultures during the Hassuna period coincided with the growing use of seals. Throughout the Halaf period, seals with similar forms and designs continued to be used as a shared artistic concept in the settlements of Southeastern Anatolia, Northern Syria, and Mesopotamia (Özkan, 2001: 16; Özkan, 2011: 148). In the Uruk period, animal scenes were preferred, and a wide variety of animals were represented. Another characteristic of glyptics of this period was the priestking (Tsouparopoulou and Casties, 2014: 39). With the transition to cylinder seals, important transformations occurred in the Near East trade. One of the most significant indicators of merchants bridging Anatolia and Mesopotamia during the Assyrian Colonial Period were the hundreds of cylinder seal impressions found in Central Anatolian settlements (Özkan, 1993: 501). Cylinder seals continued to be used for the next millennium, eventually ending with the Achaemenid period (Özkan, 2011: 149).

Due to their extensive usage over long periods, seals, despite their small size, gained significant importance in the analysis of political, cultural, and economic relations between different continents and cultures, as well as in understanding the societal roles of humans². Archaeological evidence revealed that cylinder seals became an integral part of daily life in Ancient Mesopotamia and Anatolia. In contrast to royal reliefs or monumental sculptures, these seals depicted events from everyday life. Seals were widely used by individuals ranging from kings to slaves, in daily tasks and correspondence. Production of seals was carried out by specialized seal makers known as "burgul" in Sumerian and "purkullu" in Akkadian

¹ This study was conducted with the permission of the Diyarbakır Archaeology Museum, under the auspices of the Directorate of Culture and Tourism of the Governorship of Diyarbakır, Turkey, with permission dated 29.03.2019 and numbered 51045164-155.01-E.272234.

² For example, the shipwrecks of Uluburun and Gelidonya, dating back to the 13th century BC and originating from Syria, carried various goods belonging to civilizations as distant as Anatolia, Syria, Cyprus, the Baltic, and Egypt. The Gelidonya shipwreck yielded scarab seals associated with Egyptian culture. Additionally, the significance of a mace head fragment bearing the seal of Pharaoh Ramses II, discovered in the vassal kingdom center of Kargamiş, held great importance. In Panaztepe, a Mycenaean Age pithos tomb contained two scarabs, with the name of Pharaoh Amenhotep III deciphered on one of them, while another pithos tomb dating back to the 12th century BC contained a single scarab. For more information, refer to Özkan, 2007, 93-94, Fig. 8, 10.

(Dede, 2014: 21; Yücel, & Parlıt, 2020: 34). Cylinder seals primarily served as objects of prestige. They were preferred over stamp seals, which were previously used in trade, due to their more appealing narrative and religious expressions. Crafted from valuable or semiprecious stones, cylinder seals, especially the finest examples were believed to belong to the royal family, indicating their ownership.

Methodology and Aim

The seals included in the study were organized and described in a catalog. Detailed descriptions, evaluations, and comparisons were provided within the catalog. The examined seals were numbered from one to fourteen and classified according to their chronological and typological characteristics. Consequently, the museum cylinder seals are from the Akkad, Old Babylon, Mitanni, Middle Assyrian, and Neo-Assyrian cultures. To facilitate a description of the objects, terms commonly used in work related to cylinder seals were included in the present study. This study's goal was to examine the correlation between the museum seals by using the previous research of scholars in the field. These seals, believed to have originated from Diyarbakır and its surroundings, which are now housed in the Diyarbakır Museum, depict scenes such as mythological stories, struggles, offerings, and worship. Additionally, these seals served as protective amulets and tools for trade.

When considering the southern and eastern parts of Anatolia, these seals from the Akkadian, Old Babylonian, Mitanni, Middle Assyrian, and Neo-Assyrian civilizations are represented by a small number of examples. From this perspective, this study and similar works are of great importance in understanding and analyzing the belief systems, trade relations, and political structures of these civilizations in the region as a result of their relationships and expansions into Anatolia. With this purpose and following the methodology applied in an evaluation of the seals, the dual or single scenes depicted on the seals are associated with similar examples. Not only the iconography but also the narrative structure and the technique of execution are crucial in this regard. In the cylinder seals discussed in our article, those with dual scenes depict a primary narrative followed by a secondary narrative. For seals with single scenes, the narrative is depicted from left to right, top to bottom, and filler motifs are discussed.

Results and Catalog

The scenes depicted in modern impressions of the seals were arranged chronologically in the catalog headings. The cylinder seals we discuss are introduced starting from the main scene and progressing towards the side scenes. In dual scenes, the artifacts were analyzed from right to left and from top to bottom. It is understood that the photographs of the seals were taken by museum officials in very low resolution. Therefore, to enhance their clarity and comprehensibility, the images have been digitally enhanced and drawings were made.

Catalog	Picture and Drawi	ng No:1	Museum Inventory Number: 26/47/866	
No: 1		0		
Type: cylinder Seal	Material: Black	Period: Second	Arrival to the Museum: Transfer from the	
	Hematite Stone	half of the 3 rd	Anatolian Civilizations Museum	
		millennium BC (2500-2100 BC)		
Dimensions: length:	2,7 cm, diameter of:	: 1,2 cm		
Analogues: Ward, 19	09: 209; Ornan, Ort	iz, & Wolff, 2013: 8	; Ökse, 2006: 559; Danışmaz, & Şahin, 2022: 4.	
Definition and Expl	anation: The upper	part of the seal and	the figurative area are eroded by time and use.	
The earliest example	s of similar seal sce	nes were found in A	rslantepe VI B Early Bronze Age I A, layers at	
Aşvan and Norşun Te	epe dated to the early	/ 3rd millennium BC	, and in plates from the early 3 rd millennium BC	
at Amuq G and Tell B	rak (Ökse, 2006: 554	4). The seal was carv	ved with a tool (rasp?) made with very deep cuts.	
The seal is limited to	a single repeated sce	ene. It depicts an ani	mal with an open mouth and stylized leaf motifs	
on it. In front of the a	animal is a stylized t	ree of life. It has a d	listinct artistic style. The figure is schematically	
engraved with angula	ar lines, without rega	ard for body proport	ion or anatomical structure. A close comparison	
of motifs was made w	vith the decorations of	on cylinder seals from	m the Ras-Shamra/Ugarit in Syria (Danışmaz, &	
Şahin, 2022: 5). The	peculiarity of this se	al is that instead of	the usual method of drilling or cutting into hard	
micro-quartzite stone	s such as hematite,	chalcedony, jasper	or carnelian, the engraver chose the method of	
carving with a file on	a hard stone (Ornai	a, Ortiz & Wolff, 20	13: 7). The cylinder seal impressions consisting	
of animal and human	i figures engaged in	farming were found	I on large pottery in the Tell Mardikh G palace,	
which are thought to	store agricultural pr	roducts because the	seals are the same as those described for use by	
rural agricultural societies. (Okse, 2006: 555).				
			man man	
			AND THE AND	
A THE S	A THE WELL		C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	
TTI	Profile C	26/47/86	KIRN	
and share	marre reality		ARBA	
	3 cm	and and	3 cm	

1. Mythological Scenes

Picture and Drawing No: 1

Catalog	Picture and Drawing		Museum Inventory Number: 21/9/10
No: 2	No: 2		
Type:	Material: Serpentine <i>Period:</i> Akkadian		Arrival to the Museum: Confiscation
Cylinder Seal			
Dimensions: length: 3,4 cm, diameter: 1,5 cm			
Analogues: Teissier, 1984: 123, 135; Ward, 1909: 34.			

Definition and Explanation: The repeating motif of warriors on the cylinder seal originates from the Akkadian and Amorite periods. Typically, it portrays a central composition depicting a struggle between a bull-man-human or a lion-bull-man. However, the seal was reinterpreted, presenting a scene of a human battling a giant serpent. Upon examination of the scene, it becomes evident that Gilgamesh and Enkidu (?) are depicted. Gilgamesh could represent the portrayal of a ruler of animals by gripping the giant serpent with his hand. In fact, an Assyrian Palace relief discovered in Dur-Sharrukin and exhibited in the Louvre Museum, portrays Gilgamesh as the lord of animals, holding a lion in his left arm and a snake in his right hand (Delorme, 1981: 55). Among the naked heroes, a tree of life is prominently depicted along with a saw-shaped tool on the tree. Geometric shapes are used as a filling motif behind the back of the naked hero holding the snake.



Catalog No: 3	Picture and Drawing No: 3		Museum Inventory Number: 5/5/75	
Type: Cylinder Seal	Material: Frit	Period: Akkadian	Arrival to the Museum: Confiscation	
Dimensions: length: 2,4 cm, diameter: 1,1 cm				

Analogues: Ward, 1909: 34.

Definition and Explanation: The cylinder seal features a single scene. In the center of the seal, Gilgamesh is depicted as a naked, bearded figure with a belt or sash around his waist. The three curls in Gilgamesh's hair are depicted as triple dots (Rehm, 1994: 269-270). Gilgamesh is shown with his arms outstretched, capturing two bulls. The bulls are standing upright with their heads turned backward. There are figures of a scorpion and a bird (?) among the other figures (Von der Osten, 1934: Cat. 295) The subject matter is similar to seals from the Akkadian period. In figure groups from this period, the figure band was cut in a linear style.



Catalog	Picture and Drawing No:4		Museum Inventory Number: 14/3/12
<i>Type:</i> Cylinder Seal	Material: Period: Mitanni Black Hematite Stone Priod: Mitanni		Arrival to the Museum: Confiscation
Dimensions: length: 2 cm, diameter: 1,2 cm			

Analogues: Teissier, 1984: 123, 135; Ward, 1909: 34; Von der Osten 1934: 147.

Definition and Explanation: The cylinder seal comprises a single repeating scene, where a two-horned deer is seen walking toward the right. On the back of the deer, a smaller human figure is engraved to create a sense of distance. The figure has its arms raised in an adoring manner, while the body of the deer is adorned with geometric zigzag patterns. Between each of the human figures, there are additional geometric-shaped and ladder motifs. Quadruple rosettes are positioned behind the deer to represent the sun. The use of rosettes is a common motif, and they are generally placed for decorative purposes (Von der Osten, 1934: 146-147). Seals in the Mitanni style are divided into two groups by Frankfort, *the popular Mitanni style* (1700-1200 BCE) and *the fully developed Mitanni style* (1500-1350 BCE) (Frankfort, 1939: 273-283). The seal examined in our study was crafted in *the popular Mitanni style*. In *the popular Mitanni style*, sunfigures such as *the tree of life* and *deer* are commonly depicted. These cylinder seals, belonging to the Mitanni culture dating back to the mid-2nd millennium BCE, suffered from wear and tear, excessive use, and second-time engraving. Some of them could have been damaged due to the forcible removal of ornate gold caps, that are similar to early Kassite seals (Thorn and Collon, 2013: 125).



Ancient Cylinder Seals from Upper Mesopotamia

Catalog No: 5	Picture and Drawing	No:5	Museum Inventory Number: 3/2/98	
Type: Cylinder seal	Material:	Period:	Arrival to the Museum: Purchasing	
	Black hematite stone	Middle Assyrian		
Dimensions: length: 2,	8 cm, diameter: 1,3 cm			
Analogues: Ward, 1909	9: 34, 197, 200; Niederre	iter, 2020: 63, 66; Avc	1, 2013: 214, 216; Sezen, 2015: 254; Von	
der Osten, 1934: 248; I	Porada, 2014: 329.			
Definition and Explan	ation: Positioned below	the winged sun disc i	s a depiction of the sun, and beneath it a	
stylized tree. Flanking	the stylized tree are two	goats with lion's claw	vs, and a tail with snake head and wings.	
The presence of wing	ed animals in scenes ha	animals in scenes has been documented since around 2200 2100 BC (the Third		

The presence of winged animals in scenes has been documented since around 2200-2100 BC (the Third Dynasty of Ur period) (Avc1, 2013: 72). The stylized tree symbol is the most widespread ornamentation in the art of Sami in Mesopotamia. During the Neo-Assyrian period, it became an imperial symbol and its extensive use led to its dissemination throughout the entire Near East until the end of the first millennium, according to some researchers (Parpola, 1993: 167; Avc1, 2013: 4, 72). The sun disk and the sun (often accompanied by a crescent) are frequently depicted in Late Assyrian artworks.



Catalog No: 6	Picture and Drawin	ng No:6	Museum Inventory Number: 8/2/97	
<i>Type:</i> Cylinder seal	Material:	Period:	Arrival to the Museum: Confiscation	
Dimensions: length: 2 c	Dimensions: length: 2 cm_diameter: 1.1 cm			
Analogues: Ward, 1909	: 353: Teissier, 1984:	99; Tosun, 1956: 67.		
<i>Analogues</i> : Ward, 1909: 353; Teissier, 1984: 99; Tosun, 1956: 67. <i>Definition and Explanation:</i> In the single scene engraved on the cylinder seal, there is a winged, horned, bird-headed creature along with other creatures known as griffins, which have horns, bird heads, and human bodies. They are holding a fruit resembling a pineapple/date fruit in their hands. The winged, horned, bird-headed creature in the background extends its left hand toward the altar. Bird-headed human figures were also depicted on the seals of the Alişar, Acemhöyük, and Karahöyük civilizations. In Alişar, the winged bird-headed creatures held an antelope in one hand and a curved weapon in the other (Özkan, 2022: 77). In a seal impression from Acemhöyük, mixed creatures with bird-like wings for arms and bird-like feet for legs were shown. The demons depicted were holding a date palm tree with a crescent symbol on it (Özkan, 2022: 77). Complex religious ceremonies in Anatolia were depicted on seals, metal ritons, relief vases, rock monuments, and from the 14 th century BCE onwards, on orthostats. In seals dating back to the late 18 th century BCE, libations were performed by griffin-headed demons or priests wearing masks (Collon, & Sevinç, 2004: 86-87). These depictions are precursors of the griffin demons seen in Middle Assyrian and Neo-Assyrian art. In the seal from Catalog 5, which is believed to be from the Neo-Assyrian period, the central griffin-headed demon is depicted holding the fruit of a pineapple/date tree. On the far right, just below a wild goat, there are three concentric circle-shaped symbols. These symbols were found on seal impressions, cylinder seals, altars, and braziers discovered in the excavations of Konya Karahöyük (Alp, 1994: 102-103). Alp suggested that concentric circles could be associated with the cult of the sun (Alp, 1994: 102). The triple griffin figures are facing towards the right. There is an altar between the central griffin and the one in the back, while the griffin on the far right extends its hand				
the second				
1 cm				
Picture and Drawing No: 6				

Catalog	Picture and Draw	ving No:7	Museum Inventory Number: 16/1/08
INO: /	16 1		
<i>Type:</i>	Material:	Perioa: Neo-Assyrian (8 th	Arrival to the Museum: From Ergani
Cylinder seal	Black Staatita Stana	century BC)	Çakırlaş village.
Dim	Steattle Stone	1	L
Dimensions: length	: 1,6 cm, diameter:		
Analogues: Teissier	, 1984: 17-18; Nys	, 2018: Cat. 32.	
Dimensions: length: 1,6 cm, diameter: 1 cm Analogues: Teissier, 1984: 17-18; Nys, 2018: Cat. 32. Definition and Explanation: The criterion in bird/gryphon-man depictions revolves around whether they possess wings or not. The portrayal of griffins has had a historical presence in Anatolia since the Age of Assyrian Trade Colonies. An example of such depictions was found on a seal discovered during the Konya- Karahöyük excavations, wherein a winged birdman was depicted kneeling on one leg along with a seated god (Erkanal, 1993: 33, Lev. 58). In Catalog 7, in the central scene, there are two birdmen facing each other, with a goat-headed figure behind the birdman on the left and behind the birdman on the right, there is a scorpion and a human figure. The human figure raises its right hand upward in an adoration position. Between the horned, goat-headed figure and the birdman on the left, there is a vessel believed to contain elixir. There are two symbols resembling Hittite hieroglyphic signs between the birdmen (Erkanal, 1993: 143). Above the scorpion, there is an eight-pointed star symbol. The symbol between the birdmen could be a variation of the Hittite hieroglyphic sign (Erkanal, 1993: 143).			
Picture and Drawin	ng No: 7		

2. Antithetical Scenes: Hybrid Creatures and Animals

Catalog No: 8	Picture and Drawing	No:8	<i>Museum Inventory Number:</i> 19/26/06		
Type: Cylinder Seals	<i>Material:</i> Black Hematite Stone	Period: Neo-Assyria	Arrival to the Museum: Purchasing		
Dimensions: length: 2	,7 cm, diameter: 1,2 cm	1			
Analogues: Nys, 2018	: Cat. 32; Niederreiter,	2020: 32.			
Definition and Expla Between the winged d pointed star. Notably, t a seal symbolizes Mar presumably the owner holding an object, pos- the idea of being creat the story is conveyed a <i>let vour head be held b</i>	Definition and Explanation: This repeating scene depicts a winged dragon (bull) and the seal's owner. Between the winged dragon/bull and the seal's owner, there is the symbol of Ishtar, represented by an eight- pointed star. Notably, the seal's owner is depicted without a beard. Usually, a winged horned dragon (bull) on a seal symbolizes Marduk. But, the bull (dragon) portrayed here as a griffin represents Tiamat. On the right, presumably the owner of the seal, is in a kneeling position with one leg inside a garment, arms open in the air, holding an object, possibly in a position that suggests creation. The seal's owner may have wanted to convey the idea of being created by Marduk, just as Marduk created Samsu-iluna. For in the mythological narrative, the story is conveyed as follows: "When you strike the foreign lands that are hostile to you like a violent storm,				
powers of Suen, let yo	ur intellect shine like t	he sun! May the god Marduk w	who created you raise your head		
among lords and princ	es!" (Falkenstein, 1949	9: 218).			
3 cm					
I cm					
Picture and Drawing	No: 8				

3. Hunting and Fighting Scenes

Catalog No: 9	Picture and Drawing No:9		Museum Inventory Number: 20/6/10
Type:	Material: Sintered Quartz	Period:	Arrival to the Museum:
Cylinder Seals	Stone	Neo-Assyrian	Purchasing
-		(883-612 BC)	-

Dimensions: length: 2,6 cm, diameter: 1 cm

Analogues: Von der Osten, 1934: 248; Ward, 1909: 197, 200; Avc1, 2013: 214, 216; Nys, 2018: Cat. 32, 82, 83; Niederreiter, 2020: 63, 66; Sezen, 2015: 254; Ensert, 2017: 104; Genç, 2017: 128, Pic. 2b; Munn-Rankin, 1959: Plate VII-26.

Definition and Explanation: Sintered³ quartz cylinder seals typically depict a standing god (Marduk), a twolegged animal, or a hybrid creature hunting. The scene is then bordered with double lines across the top and bottom. The targets aimed at with arrows are in the linear style of Assur and generally consist of a bull, wild goat, or wild sheep (sometimes a winged human-bird) (Niederreiter, 2020: 33). The god depicted is likely Marduk with a two-winged scorpion-man (Munn-Rankin, 1959: 27).

This rendering is a well-known subject and can be seen in several known examples from the Assyrian cities of Assur and Kalhu, as well as from border areas of Iran, such as the Zagros cemetery near Sanandaj (Niederreiter, 2020: 33). The scene consists of a single frieze. The bodies are roughly carved in a flat manner, and the details are roughly rendered with a grooved-mouthed stylus, with some details shown in relief. (Ensert, 2017: 101). In some seal examples, a bearded sphinx with raised wings is depicted, along with a bearded, long-tuniced archer (deity) aiming at it with a bow and arrow. In front of the sphinx, there is a motif of the Tree of Life. A hybrid creature can also be depicted with a human bearded head, bird tail, and feline claws, and there is a deity shooting an arrow towards it. The hybrid creature likely represents one of the protective entities from Assur (Ornan, Ortiz, & Wolff, 2013: 14). In this depiction, the hybrid creature is walking to the right and the god is aiming an arrow at the creature's back.. In front of the hybrid creature is the tree of life, and in front of the god are two wing-like objects (Yücel, & Parlıtı, 2020: 8). The subject matter of this seal is associated with a group of locally found Assur or Assurized seals, prevalent in the western regions of the Assyrian Empire, depicting only animals or hybrid creatures (Reich., & Brandl, 1985: 47, Cat. 6:3).



3 Sintering or fritting is the process of compressing and forming a solid mass of material by pressure or heat without melting it to its liquefaction point. Sintering occurs as part of a manufacturing process used with metals, ceramics, plastics, and other materials.

Catalog No: 11	Picture and Drawing No: 11		Museum Inventory Number: 30/3/13	
<i>Type:</i> Cylinder Seals	Material:Period: Neo-Assyrian (9thCalcitecentury BC)		Arrival to the Museum: Confiscation	
Dimensions: length: 2 cm, diameter: 1,15 cm				
Analogues: Ward, 1909: 372.				

Definition and Explanation: The scene is bordered by a raised line across the top and bottom. Between the two borders that frame the scene, there is a hunting scene with three figures. It belongs to Assur's linear/style. The three figures likely represent the god Ninurta. In each depiction of Ninurta, he is in a standing position facing the viewer with a sword in his right hand and a trident in his left. He is wearing a long, belted robe with a band diagonally placed across his chest, and the lower part of the robe is adorned with a fringed skirt. He has a belt around his waist and a sheath for a dagger attached to it. Flanking each Ninurta in the upper area are an eight-sided star and a crescent above a sphere. Below the eight-sided star and crescent are a pair of bulls facing each other. One of the bulls is kneeling and the other is raising its two front legs. (Niederreiter, 2020: 30) The earliest known example of a similar scene on a cylinder seal can be traced back to the reign of Kassite King Kurigalzu II (1332-1308 BCE). In this earlier depiction, Ninurta is holding a trident with three arrows and the two bulls are in a combat position in front of him.



4. Presentation, Worship, Offering Scenes

Catalog No: 13	Picture and Drawing No: 13		Museum Inventory Number: 26/48/86	
Type: Cylinder	Material: Diorite	Period: Old	Arrival to the Museum: Museum of Anatolian	
Seals	Stone	Babylonian (1820-	Civilizations.	
		1730 BCE)		
Dimensions: length: 1,8 cm, diameter: 1 cm				
Analogues: Nys, 2018: Cat. 32; Von Bakel, 2019: 7.				
Definition and Explanation: A triple deity and goddess group depicted in a single frieze. The deity in the				
center has their left hand placed towards their chest. The adorned goddess on the right has her right hand raised				
upwards and her left hand positioned at the waist. The naked goddess on the left is depicted frontally, holding				

her breasts with both hands.



Catalog No: 14	Picture and Drawing No: 14		Museum Inventory Number: 5/1/84
<i>Type:</i> Cylinder Seals	Material: Steatite	Period: Neo-Assyrian	Arrival to the Museum: Purchasing
Dimensions: length: 3,4 cm, diameter: 1 cm			

Analogues: Nys, 2018: Cat. 32.

Definition and Explanation: The seal consists of a single scene, featuring two opposing altars in an antithetical form, with a smaller altar in the center. On top of the altars, there are depictions of winged sun disks within the altars.



Conclusions

The seals examined in the current study indicate the existence of a strong network of trade or powerful colonies established by dominant states of the period in Diyarbakır. Almost all of these cylinder seals were acquired through illegal excavations, purchases, and seizures, and subsequently added to museums. Scientific excavations would contribute to completing numerous missing pieces related to Mesopotamian and Anatolian civilizations, including many seals like these.

Morever, these cylinder seals, reflecting the glyptic elements, depict Assur and Assurized objects. They are likely part of Assur palace items used and presented by administrative or military officials associated with Assur, along with other findings such as armor scales, horse

trappings, and components of Assur-style architecture. However, the acquisition of these cylinder seals through illicit excavations and purchases has hindered obtaining information about other components of Assur. These particular cylinder seals, potentially belonging to the period following the Assyrian campaign led by Tiglath-Pileser III in 734/733 BCE, demonstrate the influence of Neo-Assyria.

These seals deviated from the usual Assur linear style and demonstrate a completely different application method, indicating the utilization of techniques from various cultures in the Neo-Assyrian period (8th century BCE) throughout the Near East. From this perspective, it seems that Assur embraced the cultures of the territories it conquered, even benefiting from them, and further developing its own. For instance, the use of minimal perforations with a tool resembling a sickle on quartz, a hard stone, as seen in Catalog 9 and Catalog 10, is an unusual practice. All these factors contributed to the creation of the Assur seal style. Additionally, the transformation of a curved or feathery scorpion tail into a hybrid dragon tail demonstrates the influence of local productions and how seals were influenced by Assur imperial artworks.

When evaluating the mythological scenes, the origin of the winged horse and the possible Tree of Life scene depicted in Catalog 5 can be traced back to the 3rd millennium BCE. This mythological narrative continued to be influential until the Neo-Assyrian period, eventually becoming a symbol of the empire. As a result of its political impact, this motif successfully spread throughout the entire Near East. The main elements of the naked bull-man depicted in Catalog 2 and Catalog 3 can be traced back to the Akkadian period. The mythological narrative portrayed in Catalog 3, with its foundation in the Epic of Gilgamesh in Sumerian culture (2800-2500 BCE), demonstrates the influence of this mythology on later cultures. The seal depicted in Catalog 4, featuring a horned deer and a human figure with raised hands above it, reflects the style of the Popular Mitanni culture (1700-1200 BCE). Seals portraying compositions of deer, the Tree of Life, and figures are associated with the Mitanni culture dating back to the mid-2nd millennium BCE. In the scene depicted in Catalog 6, there are depictions of winged, horned, bird-headed creatures and horned, bird-headed, human-bodied griffins. This similar popular scene composition was used from Anatolia to Mesopotamia, starting from the Middle Assyrian period.

Catalog 7 depicts a scene of hybrid creatures and animals in an antithetical composition, featuring two standing birdmen facing each other. In this scene, it is noteworthy that there is a symbol resembling Hittite hieroglyph between the goat-headed figure standing behind the birdman figure on the left and between the two birdmen. It is possible to trace the origin of this symbol and the narrative depicted on the seal back to the period of the Assyrian Trade Colonies in Anatolia.

One of the most exquisite examples of hunting scenes depicted on seals can be found in Catalog 8, where Marduk's winged dragon is portrayed, and the beardless figure likely represents the owner of the seal. This depiction offers significant insights into the concept of private property and its political, social, and religious implications. Catalog 9 showcases an archer figure, a bipedal hybrid creature, and a scene featuring the Tree of Life, which was widely appreciated across the geography from Mesopotamia to the Zagros Mountains in Iran. Another seal, depicted in Catalog 10, featuring an archer scene, has spread to another geographical region, the Levant, and Southeast Anatolia. The significance of this seal lies in the archer figure shooting the snake, which corresponds to the most well-known mythological narrative of Mesopotamia, stretching from Israelite centers to Diyarbakır. In Catalog 10, we observe the depiction of a dragon, a human archer, and the Tree of Life, indicating their popularity during the Neo-Assyrian period. In Catalog 11, we encounter a similar mythological depiction where Ninurta is confronted by a bull, a different animal from the snake found in Mesopotamia's tradition.

The presentation, worship, and offering scenes depicted on seals, such as in Catalog 12, extend in subject matter until the end of the 3rd millennium BCE. This mythological scene continued to be depicted on seals in the 2nd millennium BCE and persisted into the 1st millennium BCE. In Catalog 13, two divine figures are shown making an offering before a goddess. Catalog 14 features an altar and a winged solar disc within the altar. These scenes demonstrate the uninterrupted application of symbols known from Mesopotamian culture, particularly during the 3rd millennium BCE, into the inner periods of the 1st millennium BCE.

Suggestions

Most of the seals currently housed in the Diyarbakır Museum warehouse were obtained through purchases and confiscations. The procurement of these seals by the Diyarbakır Archaeology Museum primarily occurred as a result of illicit excavations in the mounds located within and surrounding the region of Diyarbakır. Consequently, it is necessary to initiate systematic mound excavations in Diyarbakır, a region of great significance in terms of historical settlements in Mesopotamia. Such endeavors will not only unveil previously undisclosed facets of artifact smuggling but also elucidate the intricate relationship between Mesopotamia and Anatolia.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Conception/Design of Study- Ç.Y., U.P.; Data Acquisition- Ç.Y., U.P.; Data Analysis/ Interpretation- Ç.Y., U.P.; Drafting Manuscript- Ç.Y., U.P.; Critical Revision of Manuscript- Ç.Y., U.P.; Final Approval and Accountability- Ç.Y., U.P. Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Grant Support: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

References

- Alp, S. (1994). Konya Civarında Karahöyük Kazılarında Bulunan Silindir ve Damga Mühürleri, Türk Tarih Kurumu publications, Ankara.
- Avcı, A. (2013). Mezopotamya Silindir Mühürlerindeki Kutsal Ağaç Motifleri, Dumlupınar University Institute of Social Sciences, Unpublished Master's Thesis, Kütahya.
- Collon, D. (1987). First Impressions Cylinder Seals in the Ancient Near East, British Museum Publications.
- Collon, D., & and Sevinç, F. (2004). Eski Yakındoğu'da Rahip ve Rahibe Tasvirleri. Ankara Üniversitesi Dil ve Tarih-Coğrafya Fakültesi Dergisi, 44 (2), 79-111.
- Danışmaz, H., & Şahin, Ö. (2022). Tunceli Müzesi'nde Bulunan Bir Grup Mühür. In Colloquium Anatolicum, No. 21, 1-13.
- Dede, M.G. (2014). Anadolu'da Bulunmuş Eski Tunç Çağı'na ait Silindir ve Damga Mühürler, Ankara University Institute of Social Sciences, Unpublished Master's Thesis, Ankara.
- Delorme, J. (1981). The Ancient World, (Ed. Dunan, M., Bowle, J.,), The Larousse Encyclopedia of Ancient and Medieval History, New York, NY: Excaliber Books.
- Erkanal, A. (1993). Anadolu'da Bulunan Suriye Kökenli Mühürler ve Mühür Baskıları, TTK Publications, Ankara.
- Ensert, H.K. (2017). Oylum Höyük'ten İki Yeni Assur Silindir Mührü: Okçu ile Yılan Ejderhanın Mücadelesi ve Bir Av Sahnesi, *Prof. Dr. Aliye Öztan'a Armağan*, 101-104.
- Falkenstein, Adam. (1949). "Ein sumerisches Kultlied auf Samsu'iluna". In Archiv Orientální 1, 17. 212-226.
- Frankfort, H. (1939). Cylinder Seals: a Documentary Essay on the Art and Religion of the Ancient Near East. Macmillan, London.
- Genç, E. (2017). Kuriki Höyük'te Ele Geçen Bir Grup Yeni Assur Dönemi Silindir Mührü, From Samosata to Acemhöyük Trailing the Ancient Civilisations Studies Presented to Honour of Aliye Öztan, Ege Üniversitesi Rektörlüğü Bizim Büro Basımevi, 121-128.
- Kaçmaz Levent, E. (2022). A Group of Neo-Assyrian Cylinder Seals from Mardin Museum, Arkeoloji ve Sanat 170, 30-34.
- Munn-Rankin, J. M. (1959). Ancient Near Eastern Seals in the Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge, Iraq 21/1, 20-37.
- Niederreiter, Z. (2020). Catalogue of the Cylinder Seals in the Royal Museums of Art and History, I: Neo-Assyrian and Neo-Babylonian Periods (Circa 1000–500 B.C.), Monographs of the Institute of Ancient Studies, Faculty of Humanities, Eotvos Lorand University, Budapest.
- Nys, N. (2018). The Sphinx Unriddled. The sphinx and related composite creatures: a motif of politicalreligious legitimation during the dynamical period of cultural changes appearing in the Late Bronze (1600-1200 BC) and the Early Iron Age (1200-800 BC) in the Eastern Mediterranean. Diss. Ghent University.
- Ornan, T., Ortiz, S. & Wolff, S. (2013). A newly discovered Neo-Assyrian cylinder seal from Gezer in context, *Israel Exploration Journal*, 6-25.
- Ökse, A.T. (2006). Gre Virike'de Bulunan Silindir Mühür ve Kaplar Üzerinde Yer Alan Silindir Mühür Baskıları, *Hayat Erkanal'a Armağan Külütrlerin Yansıması* (Edt. Betül Avunç), Homer Yayınları İstanbul, 554-559.

- Özkan, S. (1993). The Seal Impressions of Two Old Assyrian Kings, (Edt. Mellink, M., Porada, E., Özgüç, T.,), *Studies in Honor of Nimet Özgüç*, Türk Tarih Kurumu, Ankara, 1993, 501-503.
- Özkan, S. (2001). Köşk Höyük Seals, Anatolica XXVII, 15-22.
- Özkan, S. (2007). Ülkemizde Bulunmuş Eski Mısır Eserlerine Göre Anadolu-Mısır İlişkileri, *Tarih İncelemeleri Dergisi XXII/1*, 77-116.
- Özkan, S. (2011). Kaniş'te Mühür Sanatı" (Edt. Kulaklıoğlu, F., Kang, S.,), Anadolu'nun Önsözü, Kültepe-Kaniş Karumu Asurlular İstanbul'da, 148-153.
- Özkan, S. (2022). Eski Anadolu Mühür Sanatı. Akademisyen Kitap Evi, Ankara.
- Parpola, S. (1993). The Assyrian Tree of Life: Tracing the Origins of Jewish Monotheism and Greek Philosophy, *Journal of Near Eastern Studies* 52.3, 161-208.
- Pittman, H. (1987). Ancient Art in Miniature: Near Eastern Seals from the Collection of Martin and Sarah Cherkasky. Metropolitan Museum of Art.
- Porada, E. (2014). A Subject for Continuing Conversation (Essays in Honor of Machteld J. Mellink, 1986), Erika Bleibtreu /Hans Ulrich Steymans (Hrsg.). A Centenary Volume: Edith Porada zum 100. Geburtstag (Orbis Biblicus Et Orientalis 268) (German Edition), 325-338.
- Rehm, E. (1994). Neuerworbene Rollsiegel des Badischen Landesmuseums in Karlsruhe, (Edt. M. Dietrich ve O. Loretz), Beschreiben und Deuten in der Archäologie des Alten Orients. Festschrift für R. Mayer-Opificius (Altertumskunde des Vorderen Orients, 4), Münster, n. 6: dans cette Publication l'enseigne n'est pas Reconnue Comme l'étendard étudié par H. Seyrig, 269-282.
- Reich, R., & Brandl, B. (1985). Gezer under Assyrian Rule, Palestine Exploration Quarterly 117.1, 41-54.
- Sezen, G. (2015). MÖ I. Bin'de Anadolu'da Geç Asur ve Geç Babil Mühürleri, Ankara Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Arkeoloji Anabilim Dalı, Yayımlanmamış Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Ankara, 2015.
- Teissier, B. (1984). Ancient Near Eastern Cylinder Seals from the Marcopoli Collection. University of California Press.
- Thorn, B. & Collon, D. (2013). Dr Lee's Collection of Cylinder Seals, Iraq 75, 119-142.
- Tosun, M. (1956). Mezopotamya Silindi Mühürlerinde Hurri-Mitanni Üslubu. Anadolu-Hitit San'atında Hurri Unsurunun Tayini Dolayısiyle Silindir Mühürler Üzerinde Bir Araştırma. I. Kısım. Türk Tarih Kurumu Basımevi Ankara.
- Tsouparopoulou, C. & Casties, R. (2014). Progress report: an Online Database for the Documentation of Seals, Sealings, and Seal Impressions in the Ancient Near East", *Studia Orientalia Electoronica* 2, 37-68.
- Von Bakel, T. (2019). Marduk Defeats Tiamat and Kingu on a Cylinder Seal- Dramatic Scenes from the Enuma Elish Depicted on Cylinder Seals, 1-21.
- Von der Osten, H.H. (1934). Ancient Oriental Seals in the Collection of Mr. Edward T. Newell. The University of Chicago Oriental Institute Publications Volume XXII, Chicago, Illinois.
- Ward, W.H. (1909). Cylinders and other Ancient Oriental Seals in the Library of J. Pierpont Morgan, New York: Privately Printed.
- Wiggermann, F.A.M. (1992). Mesopotamian Protective Spirits: The Ritual Texts. Vol. 1. Brill.
- Yücel, Ç. (2020). Diyarbakır Arkeoloji Müzesi'nden Bir Grup Silindir Mühür, Arkeoloji ve Sanat 165.165, 1-12.
- Yücel, Ç., & Parlıtı, U. (2020). A Group Of Cylinder Seals From The Diyarbakır Museum, Siirt Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi 8(15), 32-56.



Anadolu Araştırmaları Anatolian Research





Research Article

Stables and Pens in the Citadels and Residential Areas of the Urartian Kingdom: A Textual, Archaeological and Ethnographic Evaluation

Ali Çifçi¹ 💿



¹Assoc. Prof., Marmara University Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, Department of History, Istanbul, Turkiye

ORCID ID: A.Ç. 0000-0002-1404-9820

Corresponding author: Ali Çifçi,

Marmara University Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, Department of History, Istanbul, Turkiye E-mail: cifciali1@gmail.com

Submitted: 18.10.2023 Revision Requested: 06.11.2023 Last Revision Received: 06.11.2023 Accepted: 12.11.2023

Citation: Cifci, A. (2023). Stables and pens in the citadels and residential areas of the Urartian Kingdom: A textual, archaeological and ethnographic evaluation. *Anadolu Araştırmaları-Anatolian Research*, 29, 51–66. https://doi.org/10.26650/anar.2023.29.1378062

ABSTRACT

This study presents a comprehensive evaluation of stables and pens in settlements of the Urartian Kingdom period. Urartian royal inscriptions contain references to such structures; however, the interpretation of their functions, the translation, and the meaning of these words remain ambiguous. Considering that the subsistence economy in the landscape ruled over by this kingdom was mainly based on animal husbandry, evidence for stables/corrals and sheepfolds/pens in the archaeological record appears elusive. For this reason, this study first evaluates textual evidence and then moves on to reanalyze archaeological remains obtained from Urartian royal settlements and lower towns together with the results of ethnographic research conducted in the region, and it suggests new interpretations for the functions of relevant architectural remains at Urartian settlements to identify the structures that may have served as pens and stables.

Keywords: Urartian Kingdom, Animal Husbandry, Stables, Pens



Introduction

The geography that the Urartian Kingdom ruled over is composed of high mountain ranges, pastures, and deep river valleys. As they expanded the borders of their kingdom, the Urartians established many new fortresses and settlements of varying dimensions in the conquered territories. These settlement sites and fortresses are formed of a citadel and a lower town, and they are founded upon rocky ridges on the skirts of mountains, in agricultural plains, or at strategic points controlling the juncture of major road networks. Until the present day, research in Urartian archaeology has typically focused on the excavation of fortresses, which were established by the Urartian monarchy. Meanwhile, relatively fewer excavations have been conducted in the lower towns found at the foot of these fortresses. Excavations of fortress sites have been prioritized targeting the discovery of royal inscriptions, architectural complexes like storage buildings, temples, and rich metal assemblages. It should also be noted that, apart from a few exceptions (e.g., Çavuştepe, Armavir, Arinberd, etc.), most of the excavated sites are dated to the mid-7th century BC, corresponding to the reign of king Rusa, son of Argišti.

Unfortunately, in the Urartian landscape, mound settlements where the great majority of the population must have lived have not been investigated sufficiently. It can be said that most archaeological data from excavations at Urartian sites are the products of the kings, the royal family, and the ruling elite, and they are restricted to a brief historical period (Çifçi, 2020: 30-31). For this reason, extant evidence in general is far from informing us about the broader social structure of the Urartian period. Likewise, excavations in lower town or outer town settlements surrounding Urartian period fortresses have exposed only limited areas and results have remained insufficient in answering many basic questions about society. Importantly, no comprehensive study has yet been conducted on architectural elements such as storage units, hearths/ovens, workshops, and animal pens in domestic compounds within lower towns, and the character and functions of such architectural remains have not been analyzed systematically.

The Urartian state's investment in building infrastructure for agriculture is a wellrecognized research subject. In contrast, the scarcity of evidence for stables/pens for domesticated animals from lower town excavations appears as a significant problem, especially considering animal husbandry was (and is) the main basis of the subsistence economy in eastern Anatolia (Figure 2-3). In addition to tangible factors like the very limited expanse of lower town excavations and insufficient information about the functions of unearthed architectural remains, what appears as a major problem is that animal husbandry and related questions have not found their rightful place among research priorities for archaeologists who undertake excavations in the region. Therefore, in this study, we evaluate archaeological evidence from Urartian fortresses and lower town settlements in conjunction with the results of ethnographic studies conducted in the region. The study aims to investigate the functions of the architectural elements of the excavated domestic spaces as a whole, especially in the lower city settlements, and to identify the structures that may have served as sheepfolds/pens and stables for horses.



Figure 1: The map shows the modern centres and site names mentioned in the text.



Figure 2: A herd of sheep grazing in the Keşiş Göl area of Van (Courtesy of Erkan Konyar, September 2009)



Figure 3: Cattle grazing in Kayalıdere village of Varto/Muş (Courtesy of Erkan Konyar, August 2009)

Reassessment of Textual Evidence

Urartian royal inscriptions reveal that the Urartian kings regularly launched military campaigns into neighboring regions to gather war booty, tribute, and various resources. According to the inscriptions, some of the military campaigns were organized to gather live animals. Royal annals of the kings Argišti I (A 8-3)¹ and Sarduri II (A 9-3) are particularly informative in terms of the war booty acquired by military campaigns (Çifçi, 2017: 98-105, Table 9). For instance, inscriptions mention cattle, sheep, goats, horses, and even camels in some cases. Nevertheless, while the texts provide detailed information about animals gathered as war booty or animals sacrificed to the gods in various ceremonies, Urartian royal inscriptions do not directly speak of any buildings associated with domesticated animals such as stables/corrals, pens, or sheepfolds in pasturelands.

A structure called "*burganani*" in the inscriptions from the reigns of Išpuini (A 2-1; A 2-9 A-B; A 3-1; A 3-11)² and his son Minua (A 5-28; A 5-29; A 5-30; A 5-31), dating to the late 9th century BC, has been interpreted as a "corral" or a "pen" used for keeping sacrificial animals (König, 1955/57: 179; Balkan, 1960: 137; Salvini, 2006: 161). There are, however, different opinions on the translation of this word (Çifçi, 2017: 236-237, Table 26); e.g., "fortress" (?) (Melikishvili, 1960: 53, 392)³ and "pasture" or "meadow" (Dinçol and Kavaklı, 1978: 13). Therefore, the meaning of the word "*burganani*" remains ambiguous and the function of the structure/building that it represented remains open to interpretation.

¹ Urartian inscriptions cited in this study follow Mirjo Salvini's Corpus dei testi Urartei (CTU).

² In the Assyrian version of the Kelishin inscription (A 3-11), the part that corresponds to the section where *burganani* is mentioned in the Urartian version is unfortunately broken.

³ Melikishvili (1960: 53 and 392) interprets the word [*burgana*] *burgalali* (*burganali*) as "fortress" (?); *cf.* Harouthiounyan (2001: 441): "castle" or "fortress".

Another relevant building type known from textual sources appears in "the *siršini* of Minua" inscription (A 5-68 and A 5-69), dated to king Minua's reign, and found associated with a structure built on the north slope of the rock massif on which Van Kalesi fortress lies (**Figure 4**). Based on the inscription, this structure was identified as a "royal pen" where sacrificial animals were kept before being offered to the gods (Tarhan, 2011: 318-319). With a single entrance (8.5 m wide x 2 m high) facing the north, this *siršini* structure carved into the bedrock measures 20 m x 9 m and is 2.5 m high (Konyar, 2018: 162). It is difficult to imagine, however, that a building with such a narrow doorway, high walls with no window openings, and no air circulation could have served as a pen. It would not be possible to keep animals alive for a long time inside such an enclosure (Çifçi, 2015: 217).



Figure 4: The 'siršini' of Minua on the northern slope of Van Kalesi (September 2012)

Another building type called ^Ésirhanini that is attested in susi temple inscriptions at Karmir-Blur and Ayanis (A 12-1 II, A 12-1 III, A 12-2 II), dated to the reign of king Rusa, son of Argišti, is interpreted in relationship to a series of rituals in which animals are sacrificed for the god Haldi and his consort, the goddess Arubani. Additionally, in the inscriptions at Armavir (A 12-3) and at Bastam (A 12-5), the same building name is also seen associated with a temple dedicated to an unidentified deity. In studies on the translation of the Ayanis temple inscription, it is indicated that sacrifices were offered to the deities when the king was in Rusahinili (Salvini 2001: 260). On the other hand, it has also been suggested that this building was allocated to the *mare*-men (*ma-ri-a-hi-ni*⁴ or *ma-ri-gi*⁵) (Diakonoff, 1991: 15,

⁴ A 12-1 II 10', A 12-2 4', A 12-3 8'.

⁵ CT Tk-1 Ro 9'.

no. 27), a group of officials on duty at the fortress, who were in charge of slaughtering the animals from the $^{\acute{E}}sirhanini^6$ to be sacrificed to the Haldi Gates and the temple (Diakonoff, 1991: 15, no. 26). Therefore, there must have been two royal pens associated with different rituals mentioned in Urartian royal inscriptions, one that belonged to the royal family, and another that belonged to the high-ranking officials on duty at the palace. That said, there is a certain degree of ambiguity in the translation of the inscriptions related to the subject matter.

Royal Settlements and Stables/Pens

The building types mentioned in the royal inscriptions, *burganani*, *siršini*, and ^É*sirţhanini*, have not been directly equated with any specific building found at excavated royal settlements so far.⁷ Some of the royal settlements like Çavuştepe, Bastam, Karmir-Blur, Armavir, and Arinberd are excavated in their entirety, while others like Kef Kalesi, Yukarı Anzaf, and Toprakkale are investigated in limited exposures (Figure 1). Archaeological excavations have shown that these royal construction projects were carried out abiding by a plan that included architectural units such as palace and temple complexes, large storage rooms including pithoi, residential quarters, and workshops. No stables or pens were identified at these sites, except the examples from Çavuştepe and Bastam fortresses and the area nearby fortifications of Ayanis, which will be reviewed below.



Figure 5: The paved tripartite stable area near the Northern Gate at Bastam (Kroll 2018: 137, Fig. 3)

⁶ Diakonoff (1991: 15) reads it as "serhane-house".

⁷ It has been proposed that a stable dedicated to the gods may have existed in an area nearby the pond on the southern skirts of Aznavurtepe (Balkan, 1960: 144). However, because no excavations were conducted in this sector of the fortress, there is no evidence for the presence of a building that can be called "temple stables".

At Bastam, dated to the reign of Rusa, son of Argišti, two long buildings with a tripartite plan were found in two separate areas by the south gate and by the north gate, and they were identified as stables for horses. The tripartite hall near the south gate measures 47 m by 9 m and consists of three long, parallel hallways, used as a stable (Kleiss, 1980: 299-300).⁸ The two hallways on the sides would have served as stalls and the low walls that separate the central corridor from the stalls would have been used for troughs or feed tubs. The floors of the stalls on the two sides were paved with stones, while the central corridor had a claypacked floor. Low stone platforms along the outer walls were most probably used for feeders (Kroll, 2018: 138, Fig. 4). The rectangular tripartite hall by the north gate measures about 29 m x 10 m (Figure 5). Like the tripartite hall by the south gate, in this building, too, the central corridor is separated from the two halls on the sides, in this case, with roughly dressed stone column bases (Kroll, 2018: 137, Fig. 3). Additionally, a large area surrounded by an enclosure wall was also unearthed by excavations east of the fortress at Bastam, which may have been a stable or a pen. Chemical composition analyses of soil samples from the floors of tripartite halls by the north and south gates have shown a high amount of urine (Kroll, 1989: 329-333). This finding corroborates the identification of these two buildings at Bastam as stables where horses were kept. The structures at Bastam bear similarities to a building at Hasanlu, also in Lake Urmia basin, found in level IVb (Kroll, 1992, 2012: 280), which dates to the pre-Urartian period (Dyson, 1989).

Another stable discovered by excavations is known from the royal settlement of Çavuştepe. On the northern skirts of the Lower Fortress of Çavuştepe, a road with two ramps leads up to the citadel. A structure with cyclopic walls, identified as "royal/state stable" in excavation reports, is found north of the road (Erzen, 1978: 17). Another structure, also built on the citadel skirts and surrounded by an enclosure wall, was identified as a military post with stables. The cultural deposit inside this building contained manure-rich organic soils and a large amount of rubble (Erzen, 1966: 55).⁹ Additionally, a small building, destroyed by an intense fire, northwest of the citadel at Yukarı Anzaf fortress may have also been a stable (Belli, 1998: 510). Two horse skeletons were unearthed in the southeast corner of the structure, in addition to a 1.5-m-thick ash deposit containing organic remains such as chaff, hay, and wood.¹⁰

⁸ Wolfram Kleiss (1980: 300) estimates that, as a stable, this structure could have held 35 horses in each stall.

⁹ The first structure is larger, covering an area of about 18 x 100 m. The "barracks"/military post building in the second area measures about 70 x 20 m (Tarhan, 2021: figs. 3 and 8). In the first building, above the floor fill, a mudbrick blockage made of more than a dozen courses supports the foundation, which is built with large field stones, and the floor fill is packed with paving blocks and the floor is paved with stone slabs (Tarhan, 2021: 578).

¹⁰ The dimensions of the building are not reported directly. In the excavation reports, it is indicated that the excavation area was defined by joining two 5 m x 5 m trenches and then the area was expanded by a 7 m x 19 m trench (Belli, 1998: 510).

In an area known as Güneytepe just by the citadel fortifications of Ayanis fortress, a structure that was detected by geophysical surveys and further investigated by a test trench is also thought to be a stable (Fig. 6). The structure consists of a courtyard paved with large and heavy stone slabs and a building surrounded by low walls, along the edge of the stone pavement, separating it from the unpaved area. The outer walls feature buttresses suggesting an association with Urartian royal architecture and bronze and iron arrowheads discovered in excavations suggest that it was related to military activity (Stone and Zimansky, 2003: 222-223, Fig. 11.11). Moreover, in terms of its location and architectural characteristics, parallels can be drawn between this structure and the stables at Bastam (Stone, 2005: 192; Stone and Zimansky, 2003: 222-223, Fig. 11.10; 2004: 238-239).¹¹

At another Urartian period fortress, Horom, a rectangular building (16 m x 10 m) with a floor paved with large slab stones was unearthed by excavations in an area close to the center of the Citadel Wall Terrace C (Kroll, 2018: 141-142; Badaljan *et al.*, 1993: 18, Fig. 18). Only a portion of the corner of this building was exposed. The building has a tripartite plan like the stables at Bastam, and its stalls are paved with stones, while the central corridor has a claypacked floor (Kroll, 2018: 141, Fig. 7).

The existence of stables in royal settlements is also corroborated by the Assyrian king Sargon II's account of his military campaign against the Urartian king Rusa I in 714 BC. Here, Sargon speaks of stables inside the citadel walls of Urartian settlements like Tarui and Tarmakisa in Baru province.¹² Therefore, while archaeological evidence may be debatable, the presence of stables inside Urartian citadels is evident based on texts.

No stables are reported from the excavations of the Aşağı Anzaf fortress, which was built as a military garrison near the Urartian capital Tushpa, positioned on the main eastern road (Çifçi and Gökce, 2021) that connects the capital city to the Lake Urmia basin (Belli, 1999: 9-15). At fortress sites and especially those that served as military posts, there must have been places for keeping the horses of the soldiers who lived in the fort. Also, such fortresses should have contained stables/pens with hay and feed for pack animals that were raised or were waiting to be loaded for transporting goods. Hence, we need to consider that part of the built spaces at Aşağı Anzaf fortress and other fortresses on major roads were likely to be reserved for animals, and we should also anticipate that future excavations at other fortress sites with military or strategic importance may reveal stables.

¹¹ Based on their proximity to the citadel gates, it has been proposed that both buildings may have been stables for the horses and the chariots of royal army regiments (Stone, 2005: 189).

^{12 &}quot;Tarui and Tarmakisa, strong, walled cities, situated in the plain of the land of Dalaia, where he had great supplies of grain, whose walls were very strong, whose outer walls were well built, whose moats were very deep and completely surrounded them; in the midst of which are stabled the horses, reserved for his royal army, which they fatten each year ..." (Luckenbill, 1989: no. 159).



Figure 6: Stable building in Unit PP51 on Güneytepe in Ayanis Outher Town (Stone and Zimansky 2003: 223, Fig. 11.10)

Lower Settlements and Stables/Pen

At most royal settlements and fortresses of the Urartian period, except Toprakkale and Çavuştepe, a lower town settlement is found at the skirts of the citadel hill or on the settlement plain below (Çifçi, 2017: 142-145). The Urartian state relied on the population of these lower towns for human resources necessary for building an army, constructing various buildings including citadels, and maintaining its security and sustenance needs. In some cases, as it is stated in the temple inscription of Ayanis (A 12-1 VI–VII), war captives were deported and employed as labor force for the construction of the fortress, the citadel, and public buildings, and they were also settled in the lower town in the settlement plain. At a few Urartian royal settlements (Van Kalesi, Bastam, Ayanis, Karmir-Blur, and Armavir), in addition to the excavations on the citadel, excavations were also conducted in the lower towns, albeit in limited areas (Figure 1). Lower town excavations at these sites have revealed different numbers and types of domestic buildings.

Residential contexts unearthed by excavations in the Ayanis lower town settlement area show that there were two domestic building types, which their architectural layout and construction techniques can distinguish. The first building type is represented by buildings with sturdy walls and regular floor plans found in an area close to the citadel walls. It has been suggested that these residential compounds were built by the state and were inhabited by citadel personnel, military officials, and the hereditary elite. In some of these buildings, e.g., Building 6 in Ayanis Güneytepe, it is noted that there are no spaces that can be associated with stables, pens, hearths, ovens, and other features related to domestic activities (Stone, 2012: 93, Fig. 06-05). Excavators suggest that the residents of these domestic units must have relied on the citadel for food and related services. The second building type is found on the slope of Güneytepe, farther away from the fortress, and is characterized by buildings that do not abide by a standard plan and are built using various construction techniques. These domestic buildings are composed of various units including workshops, kitchens, storerooms with pithoi, bread-ovens (tannurs), and stone-paved areas, which are identified as stables by the excavators. Ethnoarchaeological studies have documented that in present-day Ayanis village, the floors of the stables are paved with large stone slabs (Cilingiroğlu *et al.*, 2009: 186, Res. 77). Likewise, ethnographic studies in the 1970s carried out part of Keban Project in Elazığ Altınova villages have also documented that the stables attached to the houses had stone-paved floors (Peters, 1972: 166-168). In the Elazığ Altınova villages and the Ayanis village, these stone-paved stables were reserved for raising and keeping cattle. As opposed to packed earth floors, stone-paved floors have practical benefits; stone-paved floors are easier to keep clean from animal dung, and they also provide a more stable ground that can sustain the weight and the trampling of the animals.

Stone-paved rooms identified as possible stables were found in most residential buildings unearthed in Ayanis lower town excavations (Buildings 1, 9, 11, 12, 13, and 14, etc.) except a few examples like Buildings 3, 6, and Building 15, of which only a small portion is excavated (Stone, 2012: 94, Fig. 06.06). In Building 1, for example, a room with a stone-paved floor was identified as a possible stable, and an L-shaped area with an earthen floor was identified as a sheepfold/pen (Stone, 2012: 94, Fig. 06.06). In Building 11 and Building 14, two two-storied buildings built into the bedrock on a slope at Güneytepe, the ground level of the houses were designed as a stable/pen, where evidence for cheesemaking was also recovered by excavations (Stone, 2012: 96, Fig. 06.07, 06.08).

At the Karmir-Blur and Bastam fortresses, which date to the same period as Ayanis, lower town excavations were carried out in limited areas. Although the Urartian period lower town of Karmir-Blur spreads over an area of about 40 hectares, residential areas have been investigated only in limited exposures located south and southeast of the citadel (Piotrovsky, 1952: 79-86; Ogenesian, 1955:16-35). Domestic compounds unearthed in excavations here consist of independent residential units that are in most cases formed of two or three rooms and a courtyard, featuring stone-paved areas (Ogenasian, 1955: figs. 5 and 9 B). At Bastam, the Urartian period domestic contexts again were unearthed in a limited area, as well, consisting of an excavation trench measuring 35.50 m x 29 m. Excavations revealed a domestic building with eight rooms and part of another building that extends further east into the unexcavated area (Kleiss, 1979: 24-30, 1988: 19-20, Abb. 11-12, Taf. 11.2). Urartian period houses in this area have two subphases and, like the houses found in other Urartian lower towns, they are formed by adjacent rooms built around a courtyard. Excavated buildings have yielded contexts with various functions such as workshops, kitchens, storage rooms, and ovens, as well as stables with stone-paved floors.

At Armavir, residential buildings are found in an area that lies between the two citadels, east of the West Citadel fortifications (Martirosjan, 1974: 103, Fig. 38). Eight of these multiroomed domestic buildings were unearthed by excavations. Houses are formed by a central colonnaded hall or a courtyard with adjacent rooms that were used as workshops, kitchens, and storage rooms. Three of the houses (House 1, 2, and 8) feature stone-paved contexts (Martirosjan, 1974: 104-119, figs. 39, 41, 45). Excavators suggest that the stone-paved areas in these houses were used as stables/pens (Martirosjan, 1974: 104, 108-109, 114-115, figs. 39, 41, 45). For example, in House 1, in direct alignment with the storeroom with pithoi in the northeast corner, is a rectangular area with a stone-paved floor, where stone troughs and feeders are found, which appears as a stable. Excavators estimate that 30-40 cattle could be kept in this stable/corral (Martirosjan, 1974: 104).

Among the rural settlements of the Urartian period some can be defined as mansions of tribal lords (Köroğlu, 2009), and two of the examples investigated by excavations are Yoncatepe (Belli, 2006) and Patnos-Giriktepe (Balkan, 1964: 139-143; Schachner, 2021). At these settlements, stone-paved areas were unearthed by excavations, but they were not interpreted to be stables according to the excavation reports. The mansion at Yoncatepe is a two-story building with its entrance on the east side. To the west of the entrance, there are two large courtyards, reported as unroofed spaces, and their floors are paved with large stone slabs (Köroğlu, 2009: 384, Res. 2). Further into the building, there is another, smaller courtyard, where a low mudbrick bench is built all along the foot of the walls (Konyar, 2022: 208). Most rooms on the ground floor of the building complex were identified as workshops, storage rooms, and kitchens. Considering that Yoncatepe lies in a region where animal husbandry is the main subsistence activity, it is interesting not to see any built spaces dedicated to animals in this mansion and other similar structures. At the same time, however,

some of the excavated areas may have functioned as stables/pens, although not identified as such by the excavators who have investigated these sites. In this respect, we suggest that the stone-paved areas, identified as unroofed courtyards at Yoncatepe can be identified as stables and the smaller area with mudbrick benches may have been a corral/pen where the benches were used for troughs and feeders. The ethnographic record provides architectural parallels supportive of this interpretation. In the present-day vernacular architecture of the region, the two-story houses are designed so that a part of the ground level with its stone-paved floor is used as a roofed space dedicated to stables, feeders, and storage rooms, while in one-storied houses, a part of the house is used as a stable or a pen (Peters, 1972: 166-168). There are practical benefits to using the ground floor of a house as stables and pens. Keeping the domestic animals in a built space on the lower level of a house allows for a close watch against dangers and it also raises the temperature in the living spaces on the upper floor, which is a sustainable solution against the cold during the harsh and long winters as experienced in the region (Yakar, 2000: 153). It is reasonable, therefore, to define some of the contexts on the ground floor of the mansion at Yoncatepe as stables and pens.

Like Yoncatepe, some of the architectural contexts in the mansion of Patnos-Giriktepe were identified as workshops, storage rooms, and kitchens by the excavators, as well. As in the case of Yoncatepe, animal husbandry and related spaces like stables and pens have not been a subject of consideration in the evaluation of the architectural remains from Patnos. Inferring from previous examples, we suggest that the stone-paved area seen in the north of the settlement layout plan of Patnos-Giriktepe (Schachner, 2021: 312, Fig. 4) may be identified as stable.

A final example comes from Van Kalesi's mound. The building labeled "House 2" at the mound is a building complex with a central colonnaded hall, a parallel but narrower hall, and ten rooms. Room 1 at the northern end of the building features a courtyard-like, stone-paved area in its eastern portion (Konyar, 2022: 199, figs. 128, 130). In the light of examples in other excavated domestic buildings of the Urartian period, this context can be identified as a stable.

Conclusions

In this study, firstly we have provided an overview of textual evidence and then moved to the excavated contexts, that have been and can be identified as a stable or a pen, at Urartian period settlements. The climate and the natural topography of the landscape ruled over by the Urartian Kingdom is not immediately suitable for large-scale agricultural production, and animal husbandry has been the main basis of the subsistence economy in the region. Since early prehistory, intermontane valleys and highland plateaus of eastern Anatolia, Transcaucasus, and northwestern Iran were inhabited by pastoralist communities who relied on animal husbandry for their subsistence before and after the establishment of the Urartian Kingdom. Therefore, considering the number, diversity, and geographical distribution of excavated Urartian period settlements, we should expect to find substantial evidence related to animal husbandry at Urartian sites. Unfortunately, however, excavated contexts in citadels and lower town settlements have yielded very limited zooarchaeological evidence¹³ and only a few buildings are identified as stables and pens.

Ethnoarchaeological work in the region has shown that cattle are typically raised and kept in roofed spaces. On the contrary, sheep and goats are kept and raised in temporary sheepfolds and pens away from the village settlements, because especially from the spring until the winter, the herds are grazed in pasturelands (Hopkins, 2003: 33-34; Sezer and Işıklı, 2021). It is unlikely that pens and stables would have been situated inside the fortresses of the Urartian period. Considering the formal characteristics, construction techniques, and functions of the architectural units unearthed in excavated citadels, which were used and inhabited by royalty and high-ranking administrative officials, the citadels would not have been the location for animal shelters. However, as in the Bastam and Çavuştepe examples, stables for horses were built in the citadel areas, especially close to the citadel gates. At Ayanis, a stable for horses was built close to the citadel walls. Horses were crucial for transportation for the Urartian army in the rural landscape and they must have been raised in certain regions of the kingdom, overseen by the state (Çifçi, 2017: 100-101). The horses of the ruling elite and the highranking military officials, however, must have been kept inside the citadel walls of royal fortresses.

Excavations in the lower towns or outer towns of royal settlements with citadels like Ayanis, Karmir-Blur, Bastam, and Armavir have revealed multi-roomed domestic buildings, in which rooms with stone-paved floors were identified as stables and pens. While this seems to hold for some contexts, stone-paved floors may have served other purposes, as well. Therefore, every stone-paved context cannot be directly associated with animal shelters, and it is necessary to evaluate other parameters like the location and the size of these stonepaved contexts when defining their function. At the same time, there remains the possibility that other contexts with unpaved floors in the settlements may have also served as animal shelters. Urartian texts do not yield clear or coherent information on the location of stables/ pens and animal-keeping practices. Moreover, no analytical method has yet been employed for understanding the function of architectural contexts that are identified as possible stables and pens with the exception of Bastam, where chemical composition analysis of soils provides evidence for urine concentration. The ethnographic record of eastern Anatolian villages provides close parallels, which aid in the identification of archaeological contexts.

¹³ For a general evaluation of the analyses of faunal assemblages found at Urartian settlement sites, see Çifçi, 2015: 219-220 and 2017: 105-112.

It has been ethnographically documented that, domestic animals, especially cattle, are raised and kept in roofed spaces with stone-paved floors that constitute a part of the village houses. A viable research strategy for definite answers about the function of so-called stables and pens in the archaeological record of the Urartian sites would entail conducting chemical elemental composition analyses of soil samples from the contexts in question, which would provide us with significant empirical information about the activities that took place in these spaces whether related with animals or not.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: The author has no conflict of interest to declare.

Grant Support: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

References

- Badaljan, R.S., C. Edens, R. Gorny, P.L. Kohl, D. Stronach, A.V. Tonikjan, S. Hamayakjan, S. Mandrikjan, M. Zardarjan (1993). Preliminary Report on the 1992 Excavations at Horom, Armenia, *Iran* 31: 1-24.
- Balkan, K. (1960). Patnos Yakınında Anzavurtepe'de Bulunan Urartu Tapınağı ve Kitabeleri, *Anatolia* V: 133-158.
- Balkan, K. (1964). Patnos'ta Keşfedilen Urartu Tapınağı ve Urartu Sarayı, *Atatürk Konferansları*. Ankara, Türk Tarih Kurumu I: 235-43.
- Belli, O. (1998). 1997, Yılı Aşağı ve Yukarı Anzaf Urartu Kaleleri Kazısı, Kazı Sonuçları Toplantısı 20/1: 507-526.
- Belli, O. (1999). The Anzaf Fortresses and the Gods of Urartu. (Trans. by G. Summers and A. Üzel) İstanbul: Arkeoloji ve Sanat.
- Belli, O. (2006). Yoncatepe Sarayı ve Nekropolü, Anadolu Medeniyetleri Müzesi 2005 Yıllığı. Ankara: 381-431.
- Çifçi, A. (2015). Animal Husbandry in Urartian Kingdom, In M. Işıklı, B. Can (Ed.), International Symposium on East Anatolia— South Caucasus Cultures Proceedings I, Volume II, Atatürk Universitesi & ESRUC Konsorsiyumu, Erzurum 10-13 Ekim 2012, (214-228). Cambridge: Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Çifçi, A. (2017). The Socio-Economic Organisation of the Urartian Kingdom, (Culture and History of the Ancient Near East 89). Leiden: Brill.
- Çifçi, A. (2020). Urartian Studies During the Foundation of Modern Nation States: Archaeological Traditions, Ideologies and Perceptions, *Ancient West and East* 19: 1-42.
- Çifçi, A. & Gökce, B. (2021). 'I Have Made A Highway of Biainili': Transportation and Road Networks in the Territories of the Urartian Kingdom, *Altorientalischen Forschungen* 48/2: 221-232.
- Çilingiroğlu, A., Ö. Çevik, A.Ü. Erdem, E. Stone, Ö. Harmanşah, N.E. Işık, P. Zimansky & A. Batmaz (2009). Van Ayanis (Ağartı) Köyü'nde Etnoarkeolojik Araştırma. (TÜBİTAK Proje No: 106K224) İzmir.
- Diakonoff, I.M. (1991). Sacrifices in the City of Teisebâ (UKN 448) -Lights on the Social History of Urartu, Archäologische Mitteilungen aus Iran 24: 13-21.
- Dinçol, A.M. & Kavaklı, E. (1978). Van Bölgesinde Bulunmuş Yeni Urartu Yazıtları. Anadolu Araştırmaları Ek Yayın 1, İstanbul.

Dyson, R.H. (1989). Iron Age Architecture at Hasanlu: An Essay, Expedition 31: 107-127.

- Erzen, A. (1966). Van Bölgesi Çavuştepe Kazısı, Türk Arkeoloji Dergisi 15/1: 55-57.
- Erzen, A. (1978). *Çavuştepe I. M.Ö. 7.-6. yüzyıl Urartu Mimarlık Anıtları ve Ortaçağ Nekropolü*, Ankara: Türk Tarih Kurumu.
- Harouthiounyan, N. (2001). Korpus urartskich klinoobraznych nadpisej, Izdatel'stvo 'Gitutjun' Erevan: Nacional'noj Akademija Nauk Respubliki Armenija.
- Hopkins, L. 2003. Archaeology at the North-East Anatolian Frontier, VI. An Ethnoarchaeological Study of Sos Höyük and Yiğittaşı Village, Louvain: Peeters.
- Kleiss, W. (1979). Bastam I: Ausgrabungen in den Urartäischen Anlagen 1972-1975, Berlin: Gebr. Mann Verlag.
- Kleiss, W. (1980). Bastam, an Urartian Citadel Complex of the Seventh Century, BC, American Journal of Archaeology 84: 299-304.
- Kleiss, W. (1988). Bastam II: Ausgrabungen in den Urartäischen Anlagen 1977-78, Berlin: Gebr. Mann Verlag.
- Konyar, E. (2018). Yüksek Yaylanın Başkenti Tuşpa Arkeoloji Rehberi, İstanbul: Homer.
- Konyar, E. (2022). Urartu: Aşiretten Devlete, İstanbul: Homer.

König, F. W. (1955-57). Handbuch der Chaldischen Inscriften I-II, Graz: Selbstverlage des Herausgebers.

- Köroğlu, K. (2009). Urartu Dönemi Bey Konakları, In H. Sağlamtimur, E. Abay, Z. Derin, A. Ü. Erdem, A. Batmaz, F. Dedeoğlu, M. Erdalkıran, M. B. Baştürk, & E. Konakçı (Ed.), *Studies in Honour of Altan Çilingiroğlu. A Life Dedicated to Urartu on the Shores of the Upper Sea* (383-394). İstanbul: Arkeoloji ve Sanat.
- Kroll, S. (1989). Chemische Analysen Neue Evidenz f
 ür Pferdest
 älle in Urartu und Pal
 ästina, Istanbuler Mitteilungen 39: 329-333.
- Kroll, S. (1992). Ein Triple Road System' oder Stallbauten in Hasanlu IVB?, Archäologische Mitteilungen aus Iran 25: 65-72.
- Kroll, S. (2012). On the Road(s) to Nowhere: A Re-Analysis of the Hasanlu "Tripartite Road System" in Light of the Excavated Evidence, In H.D. Baker, K. Kaniuth & A. Otto (Ed.), *Stories of Long Ago. Festschrift für Michael D. Roaf* (Alter Orient und Altes Testament 397), (277-284). Münster: Ugarit-Verlag.
- Kroll, S. (2018). Horse Stables in Urartu, In B. Gökce, P. Pınarcık (Ed.), Eski Yakındoğu'da Ulaşım Üzerine Yazılar (133-146). Ankara: Akademisyen Kitabevi.
- Luckenbill, D.D. (1989). Ancient Records of Assyria and Babylonia II, London: Histories & Mysteries of Man.
- Melikishvili, G.A. (1960). Urartskie Klinoobraznye Nadpisi, Moscow: Izdatel'stvo Akademii Nauk SSSR.
- Martirosjan, A.A. (1974). Argištichinili, Archeologičeskie Pamjatniki Armenii 8, Erevan: Akademija Nauk Armjanskoj SSR
- Ogenasian, K.L. (1955). Karmir-Blur IV. Arkhitektura Teishebaini. Erevan: Izdatel'stvo Akademii Nauk Armjanskoj SSR.
- Peters, E. (1972). Altınova'daki Kerpiç Evler, Keban Projesi 1070 Çalışmaları, Ankara: 163-172.
- Piotrovsky, B.B. (1952). Karmir-Blur II. Archeologičeskie Raskopki v Armenii 2, Erevan: Izdatel'stvo Akademii Nauk Armjanskoj SSR.

- Salvini, M. (2001). The Inscriptions of Ayanıs (Rusahinili Eiduru-Kai) Cuneiform and Hieroglyphic, In A. Çilingiroğlu & M. Salvini (Ed.), Ayanis I: Ten Years' Excavations at Rusahinili Eiduru-kai 1989–1998 (Documenta Asiana 6), (251-270). Rome: Istituto per gli Studi Micenei ed Egeo-Anatolici.
- Salvini, M. (2006). Urartu Tarihi ve Kültürü, (Çev. B. Aksoy), İstanbul: Arkeoloji ve Sanat.
- Salvini, M. (2008). Corpus dei testi Urartei. Le iscrizioni su pietra e roccia Vol. 1-3, Roma: CNR.
- Salvini, M. (2012). Corpus Dei Testi Urartei. Iscrizioni su Bronzi, Argilla e ltri supporti. Nuove iscrizioni su Pietra, Paleografia generale Vol. 4. Rome: CNR.
- Schachner, A. (2021). Giriktepe: az bilinen bir Urartu sarayı, Anadolu Medeniyetleri Müzesi 100 Yaşında, Ankara: 309-314.
- Sezer, V. & Işıklı, M. (2021). Urartu Hayvancılığına Etnoarkeolojik ve Zooarkeolojik Bir Bakış: Ayanis Örneği, Colloquium Anatolicum 20: 199-220.
- Stone, E.C. (2005). The Outer Town at Ayanis, 1997-2001, In A. Çilingiroğlu & G. Darbyshire (Ed.), Anatolian Iron Ages 5. Proceedings of the Fifth Anatolian Iron Ages Colloquium held at Van, 6-10 August 2001, (187-193). London: British Institute at Ankara.
- Stone, E. (2012). Social differentiation within Urartian settlements, In S. Kroll, C. Gruber, U. Hellwag, M. Roaf & P. Zimansky (Ed.), *Biainili-Urartu: The Proceedings of the Symposium Held in Munich 12-14 October 2007*, (Acta Iranica 51) (101-113). Leuven: Peeters.
- Stone, E.C. & Zimansky, P.E. (2003). The Urartian Transformation in the Outer Town of Ayanis, In A.T. Smith & K. S. Rubinson (Ed.), Archaeology in the Borderlands: Investigations in Caucasus and Beyond, (213-228). Los Angeles: Costen Inst Archaeology Press.
- Stone, E.C. & Zimansky, P.E. (2004). Urartian City Planning at Ayanis, In A. Sagona (Ed.), A View from the Highlands: Archaeological Studies in Honour of Charles Burney, (233-243). Leuven: Peeters.
- Tarhan, M.T. (2011). Başkent Tuşpa/The Capital City Tushpa, In K. Köroğlu & E. Konyar (Ed.), Urartu: Doğu'da Değişim/Transformation in the East, (286-333). İstanbul: Yapı Kredi Yayınları.
- Tarhan, M.T. (2021). Sardurihinili-Çavuştepe, In Gocha R. Tsetskhlade (Ed.), Archaeology and History of Urartu (Biainili), Dedicated to the memory of Prof. Altan Çilingiroğlu (497-592), (Colloquia Antiqua 28). Leuven: Peeters.
- Yakar, J. (2000). Ethnoarchaeology of Anatolia: Rural Socio-Economy in the Bronze and Iron Ages, Tel Aviv.




AnAr, 29, 67–94 DOI: 10.26650/anar.2023.29.1364956

Research Article

Achaemenid Period Ceramic Typology from the Ramhormoz Plain in Southwest Iran: Eastern Anatolia, Southern Mesopotamia Relations

Leila Afshari¹ , Soraya Afshari², Behrouz Omrani³



¹Dr. Research Institute of Cultural Heritage & Tourism, Tehran, Iran ²Dr. Iranian Center for Archaeological Research, Tehran, Iran ³Assoc.Dr. Research Institute of Cultural Heritage & Tourism, Tehran, Iran

ORCID ID: L.A. 0000-0002-7673-6132; S.A. 0000-0002-0085-5119; B.O. 0009-0007-0035-107X

Corresponding author: Leila Afshari, Research Institute of Cultural Heritage &Tourism, Tehran, Iran E-mail: Lafshari@richt.ir

Submitted: 22.09.2023 Revision Requested: 04.10.2023 Last Revision Received: 11.10.2023 Accepted: 14.10.2023

Citation: Afshar, L., Afshari, S., & Omrani, B. (2023). Achaemenid period ceramic typology from the ramhormoz plain in Southwest Iran: Eastern Anatolia, Southern Mesopotamia relations. *Anadolu Araştırmaları-Anatolian Research*, *29*, 67–94. https://doi.org/10.26650/anar.2023.29.1364956

ABSTRACT

The Ramhormoz Plain and large portions of its northern piedmont are part of modern-day Khuzestan province. A season-long survey was conducted in this region in 2020. During this survey, cultural artifacts were identified and recorded at 36 sites from the Achaemenid period. This identification was based on the pottery seen on the surface. The identification of Achaemenid settlements in the Ramhormoz plain was made possible by taking into account the local pottery of Khuzistan reported from the Tappeh Darough. This study both describes the types of pottery from the Achaemenid period as well as introduces various settlements of this period. Two of the most diagnostic vessel forms of the Achaemenid pottery of the Ramhormoz collection are carinated bowls and jars with everted rims. Most of the pottery discovered is local, but the overall study of the Achaemenid pottery of the Ramhormoz Plain shows the limited influence of the pottery tradition of the Persians and of northwestern Iran. Pottery traditions of eastern Anatolia and southern Mesopotamia can only be identified to a limited extent in the Ramhormoz Plain.

Keywords: Southwest Iran, Khuzestan, Ramhormoz Plain, Achaemenid Period, Ceramic Tradition, Settlement



Introduction

The Ramhormoz Plain is one of the least investigated regions in southwestern Iran. Even in its brevity, the results of the 1969 Wright-Carter survey)Wright & Carter 2003, pp. 61-82) showed that the Ramhormoz region is promising in shedding light on the relationship between the highlands and lowlands of southwest Iran. (Alizadeh 2014, pp. 230). The Ramhormoz region and large portions of its northern piedmont are part of the modern-day Khuzestan province (Alizadeh 2014, pp. 3).

The intensive production of pottery for everyday use, its exportability, and its use in the transportation of trade goods make it the best cultural material for understanding ethnic groups and communities, and pottery plays an important role in communication between regional cultures (Majidzade 1991, pp. 4). One of the essentials of a methodical study of Achaemenid pottery is to focus on understanding the pottery traditions of indigenous societies. The focus of Achaemenid material culture studies on royal artifacts has long hindered the study of rural and indigenous communities in the region. This process also weakened targeted research aimed at recognizing non-royal pottery traditions. Today, archaeological research has accelerated efforts to fill this gap in the Achaemenid geography, as in other regions.

The recognition of the Achaemenid period pottery in the Ramhormoz Plain is based on the archaeological survey of the Tappeh Darougeh. Tappeh Darougeh is located in the southwestern region of Iran, to the west of the Mianab Shushtar Plain and near the Karun River. The survey of Tappeh Darougeh yielded remains from the Achaemenid, post-Achaemenid (Atayi 2006) and Seleucid-Parth periods (Khosrowzadeh & Ali 2006).

The Ramhormoz region did not attract archaeological attention until the late 1948s. Archaeological research in this plain began with surveys and excavations by Donald McCown (McCown 1954, pp. 56-67). In the 1960s, archaeological excavations began at Tol-e Bormi, one of the most important Elamite settlements in the region (Alizadeh 2014, pp. 230). Later, in 1969, a series of regional scientific surveys were conducted by Henry Wright and Elizabeth Carter (Wright & Carter 2003, pp. 61-82). In 2006, Lily Niakan of the Archaeological Research Institute and Abbas Alizadeh of the Chicago Institute of Oriental Studies conducted more extensive archaeological research on this plain (Niakan & Alizadeh 2007). Later, between 2007 and 2009, the Ramhormoz Plain was studied further by Loghman Ahmadzadeh and Mehdi Omidfar, the final results of which were published under Alizadeh's supervision (Alizadeh, 2014). The most recent archaeological survey on this plain was conducted in 2020 under the direction of one of the authors of this present study (L. Afshari) ¹ (Afshari 2021).

¹ The archaeological survey of the Ramhormoz Plain was carried out for one season in February 2020 under license number 98103611 of the Research Institute of Cultural Heritage & Tourism.

In 2020, an archaeological survey was conducted in the central area of the Ramhormoz Plain, on both sides of the Ala River, in an area of approximately 530 square kilometers. In this survey, 36 Achaemenid settlements were identified. This result is important and significant in the archaeology of the Achaemenid period in southwest Iran and it will change common views about the area. The survey suggests that the settlement pattern in the center of the Ramhormoz Plain was clustered in two areas, northwest and southeast, on both sides of the Ala River. The table below lists basic information for each site (Table 1, Map 1-2).

With the end of archaeological research in the Ramhormoz Plain and the analysis of the findings and data from this study, an overview of the distribution of cultural remains and settlements of the Achaemenid period can be provided.

The distribution of the potsherds identified in our study provides us with a substantial amount of data on the character and policy of the settlements. First of all, the settlements are located near, or connected to, the Susa-Persepolis trade route. The rich geographical conditions of the plain affected the dynamics of the settlements in the historical period. The archaeological studies conducted under the direction of Ismail Yaghmaei (Yaghmaei 2016, pp. 4), which were important in the identification of the remains of settlements on the Susa-Persepolis Royal Road, revealed the nature of this settlement policy. Examples of similar settlements include Tol-e Ishan Gazo, Tappeh Mehr Al-Nesa and Tappeh Kheyr Al-Nesa. The settlements are located at short distances from each other along the route of the Royal Road. This shows that the road was decisive in the settlement concept in the region. These settlements provided economic relations with the caravans passing along the Royal Road. This led to the economic progress and prosperity of the plain. In other words, the most important factor that brought the Ramhormoz Plain into prominence during the Achaemenid period was its location on the Susa-Persepolis Royal Road.

No	Settlement Name	Settlement Code	Elevation (above sea level)	Area (ha)	Geographic Reference: UTM Zone
1	Tol-e Geser	RH001	55 m	12.8	E 34 96 48 N 34 70 416
2	Tol -e Quvileh	RH 004	350 m	8.6	E 35 41 54 N 34 62 351
3	Tol-e Ishan Gazo	RH 005	243 m	3.6	E 35 63 25 N 34 65 691
4	Tol-e Bormi	RH 011	158 m	18	E 36 57 37 N 34 57 164
5	Char Peer	RH024	103 m	15	E 34 94 02 N 34 64 276
6	Tappeh Ariz Ahmadi	RH027	68 m	1.6	E 35 20 01 N 34 71 733
7	Tappeh Cham Rejy or Cham Hendevaneh	RH028	77 m	1.6	E 35 13 30 N 34 72 098
8	Tol -e Abbas	RH032	136 m	2.3	E 36 28 67 N 34 64 791
9	Tol -e Mava	RH040	126m	0.9	E 36 95 23 N 34 49 099
10	Tol -e Mokhtari	RH045	90 m	1.7	E 34 87 89 N 34 63 559
11	Tappeh Qaravol	RH048	96 m	1.3	E 35 10 97 N 34 57 411
12	Jobaji	RH058	215 m	62.2	E 37 29 45 N 34 57 852

Table 1: Achaemenid Period settlements in the Ramhormoz Plain

13	Tappeh Mehr Al-Nesa	RH065 A	123m	1.1	E 36 69 98 N 34 52 083		
14	Tappeh Kheyr Al-Nesa	RH065 C	131m	1.4	E 36 70 04 N 34 51 856		
15	Tol-e Ishan Seyyed Shebeiyb or Tol-e Toppi	RH071	120 m	2.6	E 36 55 71 N 34 46 874		
16	Tol -e Gapo Cham	RH077C	87m 3.6		E 36 75 34 N 34 42 087		
17	Tappeh Ishan Embrij or Tappeh Selsebil	RH081	90 m	2.1	E 37 16 27 N 34 42 667		
18	Tol -e Gobeir A	RH084 A	98 m	8.7	E 37 02 54 N 34 40 124		
19	Tol -e Gobeir B	RH084 B	84 m	0.2	E 37 04 32 N 34 40 067		
20	Tol -e Rigi (Tol-e Suz)	RH085	154 m	3.8	E 37 2591 N 34 48 843		
21	Tol -e Rigi A	RH085 A	138 m	3.7	E 37 26 84 N 34 48 946		
22	Tol -e Rigi B	RH085 B	143 m	0.7	E 37 23 76 N 34 48 973		
23	Qale Sefid	RH086	208 m	10.2	E 37 48 63 N 34 54 951		
24	Ab Mahak/ Abshar Mahak	RH089	237 m	1.8	E 37 83 23 N 34 55 596		
25	Pacheh Kuh	RH091	193 m	1.4	E 37 08 81 N 34 63 031		
26	Tol -e Gur Piyazi	RH093 A	223 m	1.4	E 37 31 15 N 34 59 678		
27	Char Taqi/ Char Taq	RH093 B	231m	1.1	E 37 33 51 N 34 59 645		
28	Ein Korreh	RH095	103 m	10.2	E 36 28 40 N34 46 298		
29	Tappeh Bulaibul	RH096	109 m	0.5	E 36 41 61 N 34 44 679		
30	Tappeh Dimeh Sadat	RH097	99 m	4.1	E 36 39 87 N 34 44 468		
31	Tol-e Kayd	RH104	96 m	0.6	E 36 63 71 N 34 59 444		
32	Shifeh	RH112	89 m	0.4	E 35 69 42 N 34 70 474		
33	Tol -e Mentar	RH115	92 m	5.6	E 34 98 86 N 34 62 254		
34	Tol -e Kaviri	RH116 A	97 m	1.8	E 34 90 89 N 34 63 212		
35	Tol-e Karami B	RH116 B	97 m	1.1	E 34 91 68 N 34 63 270		
36	Tol -e Karami C	RH116 C	97 m	0.4	E 34 94 83 N 34 63 330		



Map 1: Location of the Ramhormoz Plain (Google earth.com)



Map 2: Distribution of Achaemenid period settlements in the Ramhormoz Plain (Afshari 2020)

Achaemenid pottery from the Ramhormoz Plain

In order to analyze the pottery of the Achaemenid period, we first classified the items in terms of form. At this stage, comparative studies were carried out to date the pottery. According to the research, the pottery traditions of the Achaemenid period continued until some time after the end of this period.

Thus, it is important to note that the material and settlements presented in this paper could potentially span the period from the Achaemenid period to a century later.

After the relative certainty of dating the pottery to the Achaemenid period, the types in the collection were dated. The Achaemenid pottery from the Ramhormoz Plain can be divided into five different types: 1- Common ware, 2- Light green slipware, 3- Red slipware 4- Eggshell ware 5 - Painted ware. The pottery is also divided into 5 different groups in terms of form: 1- Carinated bowls 2- Bowls with simple rims 3- Jugs 4- Short necked jars 5- Storage jars.

Pottery Typology and Classification Light green slip ware

The thick light green slip on the exterior and interior surfaces of the vessel is the most distinctive feature of this ware group. Only one example shows the use of a light green slip on the outer surface and a red slip on the inner surface. The paste color of the light green slip ware, which occurs in coarse, medium or fine versions, is predominantly orange and brown, and to a lesser extent orange-brown, buff and gray. The paste is tempered with fine, medium and coarse grit, sand, white particles (lime?) and chaff fragments. All of the sherds in the light green ware group were fired at high temperatures. Although most of the sherds are wheel-made, a few examples were hand-shaped. In terms of green coating, there is a similarity between this type of ceramic and the ceramics from the Tappeh Darougeh in the Mianab Shushtar Plain. This type is typical of local ceramics made in the Ramhormoz Plain (Atayi 2006, pp. 143-164).

Red slip ware

The most prominent feature of the red ware group is its red surface color. In terms of paste inclusions and firing characteristics, the majority of red ware items are composed of medium ware with fine and medium inclusions which were fired at high temperatures. The medium samples of the red ware group have predominantly orange and to a lesser extent camel and light brown paste colors. The medium and fine ware is tempered with grit, sand and white particles (lime?). All of the pottery in the red ware group was fired at high temperatures. The paste color of the medium ware of this group is predominantly orange with buff and brown tones to a lesser extent. The clay of the fine ware is better levigated than the coarse ware and is tempered with fine grit and sand. All fine and medium specimens of the red ware group are covered with red slip. Most specimens of this ware are wheel-made. However, some sherds were found to be hand-made.

Common ware

The sherds belonging to this group have a predominantly orange paste, but to a lesser extent brown, gray and buff colors as well. The paste is well levigated, medium to fine, tempered with grit, sand, white particles (lime?) and chaff. All pottery fragments in the non-slip plain ware group were fired at high temperatures. Some of the samples show color variations on the exterior and interior surfaces due to firing; mostly orange, light brown, gray and buff are quite dominant. Most of the sherds belonging to this group are wheel-made but a few were made by hand and most of them are of medium quality. The exterior surface of the sherds belonging to this group is decorated with horizontal bands or stepped decoration. Some specimens of the common ware bear incised and or applique decoration (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Motifs of the decorated non-slip ware group (Afshari 2020)

Eggshell ware

Eggshell ware accounts for 1% of the pottery types found on the Ramhormoz Plain. Only two sherds of this pottery were recovered from two sites. One of these sherds belongs to a carinated bowl with an everted rim and was recovered from Mehr al-Nesa settlement; the other is a fragment of a simple bowl with a simple rim and was recovered from Ishan Seyyed Shebeiyb or Tol-e Toppi settlement. This type of thin-walled eggshell pottery is mostly found in Southern Mesopotamia (for this type in Southern Mesopotamia see Fleming 1989).

Painted ware

This group of ware was found on the surface of a handful of settlements. The painted sherds are tempered with fine grit and sand. The paste color is predominantly orange and buff and all sherds are well-fired. The painted pottery is wheel-made and fine in quality. The motifs are usually found on the exterior surface. The motif repertoire consists of geometric and thin horizontal bands. On the monochrome-painted sherds, the motifs are painted in red in parallel lines on the rim or body. In some examples, geometric motifs are painted on light green slip. Tol-e Karami B, Tol-e Mava and Tol-e Suz or Tol-e Rigi provided this pottery (Figure 2).



Figure 2: Painted ceramics recovered from the Ramhormoz Plain (Afshari 2020)

Forms of Achaemenid pottery from the Ramhormoz Plain Carinated Bowls or S-Carinated Bowls

A significant portion of the vessels from the Ramhormoz Plain are bowls, which are discussed here together with their subtypes. Of all the ceramics recovered from the Ramhormoz Plain settlements attributed to the Achaemenid period, it can be said that the S-carinated bowl was the most widespread throughout the Achaemenid Empire.

Visual images of these bowls can be seen in the reliefs of the eastern staircase of the Apadana at Persepolis (Schmidt 1963, Loh 32). Although this type of bowl was produced to a limited extent in other cultural periods, by the middle of the 1st millennium BC it was clearly distinguished from other examples from other periods by its paste color, additives, firing temperature and exterior characteristics (Farjami 2022, pp. 59).

A bowl with a carinated body and an everted rim from Tappeh Mehr Al-Nesa (Plate 1, no. 1) is similar to bowls from the Choghamish site in Iran (Delougaz & Kantor 1996, Plate 74, no. A) and from the Karakoyunlu Kale II settlement (Özfirat 2019, Figure 10, no. 11). Of special note is a bowl (Plate 1, No. 2) with an inverted rim and a carinated body. Parallel examples of this bowl were recovered from Level I of Kultepe Hadishar in Iran (Abedi et al 2014, Fig 59, no. 1) and from Tetikom in Eastern Anatolia (Senyürt & Ekmen 2005, Type 1.8., no. 1).

Another example of the Achaemenid pottery culture is a sherd from the Tol-e Gapo Cham settlement with a carinated body and a flared rim (Plate 1, no. 3). Similar examples have not been reported from other sites.

A bowl with a thickened rim from Cham Reji (Plate 1, No. 4) is similar to one from the royal city of Susa II, level 5A in Southwest Iran (de Miroschedji 1987, Figure 8, no. 11).

A bowl from the Tol-e Abbas site with a slightly inverted rim and a carinated body (Plate 1, no. 5) is similar to examples found in the Mianab Shushtar Plain in southwestern Iran

(Atayi 2006, Fig. 13, no. 22), as well as at Saz Tape (Cimin Tape II) in eastern Anatolia (Summers 1993, Fig. 9, no. 8). Other samples of pottery from the period include another sherd with an everted rim from Tol-e Abbas (Plate 1, no. 6). Parallel sherds to this come from a survey conducted on the Mianab Shushtar Plain (Atayi 2006, Fig. 13, no. 13, Fig. 14, no. 8). They also come from the Choghamish site (Delougaz & Kantor 1996, Plate 74, no. I) and from excavations carried out at Tetikom in Eastern Anatolia (Şenyürt & Ekmen 2005, Type 1.20., 8) as well as from the Choghamish settlement (Delougaz & Kantor 1996, Plate 74, no. I), from the excavations conducted at Tetikom in Eastern Anatolia (Şenyürt & Ekmen 2005, Type 1.20., no. 7), from level III of Karagündüz Höyük (YiğitPaşa 2016, Plate 18, no. 1) and from level II B of Sös Höyük (Kalkan 2008, Plate I, no. 2).

A bowl sherd, similar to the bowl sherd from Tol-e Rigi or Tol-e Suz with a carinated body and everted rim (Plate 1, No. 7) was recovered from the Tetikom excavations (Şenyürt & Ekmen 2005, Type 1. 20: 11). Similar bowls to the one with a carinated body from the Jobaji site (Plate 1, no. 8) (Plate 1, no. 8) were found at Tol-e Nurabad in the Fars region of Iran, in phase B5a (Weeks et al 2009, Fig 3.132, no. TNP 2215) and at the Karagündüz Höyük dating to the Late Iron Age/Achaemenid period in Eastern Anatolia (Kalkan 2013, Abb 5, no. 13,25).

This ceramic form has been found in most of the settlements of the Achaemenid Empire, and its distribution in the east and west of the empire appears to have been uniform and to have been influenced by both indigenous and local influences.

Bowls with a simple rim

Similar to the bowl with a simple rim from Tol-e Ishan Seyyed Shebeiyb or Tol-e Toppi (plate 2, no. 1) are those found in level 4 of the royal city of Susa II (de Miroschedji 1987, Figure 10, no. 1) and among the ceramics from the Saz Tape surveys (Işıklı & Özdemir 2019, Figure 1, no. m).

These bowl types are among the common forms of bowls found both in southwestern Iran and in Eastern Anatolia.

Similar to the bowl with an everted rim from the Char Taqi/Char Taq site (Plate 2, no. 2) are the ones recovered from the royal city of Susa II, level 5A (de Miroschedji 1987, Fig 7, no. 15) and from the Karakoyunlu fortress II in Eastern Anatolia (Özfirat 2019, Fig 10, no. 12).

Another bowl with an inverted rim and a globular body from Tappeh Mehr Al-Nesa (Plate 2, no. 3) is similar to the one recovered from Persepolis in Iran (Atayi 2004, Loh-e 31, no 8) and to the one from Zivistan (Lower Elmalık) in Eastern Anatolia (Kalkan 2008, Plate, ZİV-I, no 10).

A sherd bowl with a simple rim from Tappeh Mehr Al-Nesa (plate 2, no. 4) is similar to one found in the Mianab Shushtar Plain in southwestern Iran (Atayi 2006, Fig. 15, no. 20).

A similar bowl with an inverted rim (plate 2, no. 5) was also found in the excavations at the Persepolis fortification (Atayi 2004, Loh-e 13, no. 13).

Within this group of samples, mention should be made of the bowl with an inverted rim (Plate 2, No. 6) from Tol-e Quvileh. Similar bowls of this form were recovered from level 3 of Karagündüz Höyük (Kalkan 2008, levha KGH XXXI, no. 2) and from the excavations at Tetikom (Şenyürt & Ekmen 2005: Type 2. 13., no. 10).

Similar bowls with simple rims (Plate 2, No. 7) were recovered from Karakoyunlu Kale II (Özfirat 2019, Fig. 10, no. 1) and from İmikuşağı levels 5b-a (YiğitPaşa 2016, Plate 6, no. 3).

Similar examples of the bowl with a simple rim from Ein Korreh (Plate 2, no. 8) were also found at Tappeh Darougeh Level 5 (Atayi 2006, Figure 136, no. 10, 13) in Iran and at phase B5a of Tol-e Nurabad (Weeks, et al 2009, Fig 3.132, no. TNP 2246) in the Fars Region. Other similar bowls with a simple rim (Plate 2, no. 9) were recovered from phase B5a at Tol-e Nurabad (Weeks et al 2009, Figure 3.132, no. TNP 2246) and from layer 5 at Tappeh Darougeh (Atayi 2006, Fig. 136, no. 10,13) in Iran.

Jugs

Along with all the Achaemenid ceramic forms from this plain mention should also be made of jugs. A parallel example of a long-necked jug with an everted rim from the Jobaji site (Plate 3, no. 1) was also found at the Tol-e Espid site in the Fars region of Iran. Others were found at phase 12 (Asgari Chaverdi, Petrie & Seyedin 2014, at Tasvire 4.97, no. 499) and at the Van Kalesi mound in Eastern Anatolia as well as from Level IIa-2 (Kaygaz 2002, Plate 63, no. 3; Kalkan 2008, pp. 118).

Similar to the example of a long-necked jug with an inverted rim (Plate 3, No. 2) from Ein Korreh were the ones recovered from the Mianab Shushtar Plain in Iran (Atayi 2006, Figure 18, no. 17) and from the survey at Zivistan (Aşağı Elmalık) in Eastern Anatolia (Kalkan 2008, Plate ZİV-I, no. 4).

Worthy of note is a fragment of a long-necked jug with an inverted rim recovered from the Kheyr Al-Nesa site (Plate 3, no. 3). A similar example of this jug was recovered from level 5 A of the royal city of Susa II (de Miroschedji 1987, Fig 17, no. 2).

The jugs with everted rims found at Tol-e Geser reveal another characteristic form of the Achaemenid Period ceramics. Parallel examples of these thickened long-necked jugs with everted rims (Plate 3, no. 4) were also discovered at the Choghamish archaeological site in Iran (Delougaz & Kantor 1996, Plate 75, no. AA) and at the tombs of Ur in Southern Mesopotamia (Woolley 1962, Plate 51, No. 159b, Plate 42, no. 62).

Mention should also be made of the long-necked jugs with thickened rims recovered from the Tol-e Abbas settlement (Plate 3, no. 5); similar examples have not been reported from other sites.

Another sherd recovered from Shifeh, which has a parallel in Pasargad (Stronach 1978, Fig 106, no. 7), is a jug with an everted rim (Plate 3, no. 6). The fragment of a cup (Plate 3, no. 7) with an exquisitely shaped and everted rim, which has a very important form, is similar to the ones from layer 6 of Tappeh Darougeh (Atayi 2006, Fig. 136, no. 21), from the Choghamish site (Delougaz& Kantor 1996, Plate 75, no. B&C), from Tol-e Takht in Pasargad (Stronach 1978, Fig. 106, no. 2), and from level II of the Achaemenid architectural remains of Nippur in southern Mesopotamia (Gibson 1975, Fig. 49, no. 020127).

The jug with an inverted rim from the Tol-e Mentar site has a long-necked form (Plate 3, No. 8) and its parallel was found at Level 5 A of the royal city of Susa II (de Miroschedji 1987, Figure 17, no. 2).

Short Necked Jars

A storage jar with an everted rim (plate 4, no. 1) was recovered from Tappeh Bulaibul in the Mianab Shushtar Plain in southwestern Iran (Atayi 2006, Figure 17, no. 6). Similar examples to the one with a spherical body and everted rim from the Pacheh kuh site (Plate 4, no. 2) were also found at Level 10 of Tille Höyük (Fuensanta & charvat 2013, Tasvire 6, no. B) and at Level 3 of Karagündüz Höyük (Kalkan 2008, Plate XI, no. 4).

Another example of the spherical body storage jar from Tol-e Bormi (Plate 4, no. 3) with an inverted rim and a spherical body was found at level 2B at Yanık Tape in northwestern Iran (Summers& Burney 2012, Fig 17, no. 27). Similar examples of storage jars with everted rims found at Tol-e Bormi (Plate 4, no. 4) were also found during the excavations of the Persepolis fortification (Atayi 2004, Loh-e 49, no. 12).

Another fragment from the Cham Raji site is a storage jar (Plate 4, no. 5) with an everted rim. A similar example of this storage jar was found in layer 5A of the royal city of Susa II (de Miroschedji 1987, Figure 15, no. 7).

Similar to the sherd with a short neck and an everted rim from Tol-e Gobeir B (Plate 4, no. 6) were those recovered from Saz Tape (Cimin Tape II) (Summers & Burney 2012, Fig 8, no. 7), Karakoyunlu Kale II (Özfirat 2019, Fig. 10, no. 13) and from the tombs of Ur in Mesopotamia (Woolley 1962, Plate 47, no. 118).

Among the other pottery types, the sherd with a flat rim, short neck and spherical body from Tol-e Gobeir B (Plate 4, no. 7), which is a common form in both Iran and Eastern Anatolia, is similar to the sherds found at Saz Tape (Summers & Burney 2012, Fig 8, no. 7), Level

IIB of Sös Höyük, (YigitPaşa 2016: Plate 27, no. 1) and Karakoyunlu Kale II (Özfirat 2019, Fig. 10, no. 10).

Storage Jars

Among all the Achaemenid ceramic forms from the Ramhormoz Plain mention should also be made of storage jars. Of note among these is a thickened storage jar with an inverted rim from the Tol-e Bormi site (Plate 5, no. 1). A similar example was recovered from the Mianab Shushtar Plain in southwestern Iran (Atayi 2006, Figure 17, no. 2). Other examples of this type of vessel are the two storage jars (plate 5, no. 2,3) with inverted rims from the Tol-e Bormi site. Similar examples of these vessels are those found at Dahane Gohlaman (Zehbari, Mehr Afarin & Musavi Haji 2015, Fig 21, No. 41) in southeastern Iran. Another example of these jars has an everted rim and it was found at Tol-e Bormi (Plate 5, no. 4). Parallel examples were recovered from the royal city of Susa II, from level 5 A (de Miroschedji 1987: Figure 17, no. 4) and from the Van KaleMound, level IIa-2 (Kaygaz 2002, Plate 63, No. 2; kalkan 2008, pp. 118). Another sherd, also of a special form and with an inverted rim, was found at the Pacheh Kuh site (plate 5, no. 5), and is similar to the one from level 4 of the royal city of Susa II (de Miroschedji 1987, Figure 8, no. 3).

A similar example to the one with a short neck from the Dimeh Sadat site (Plate 5, no. 6) was found in the Mianab Shushtar Plain (Atayi 2006, Figure 17, no. 6).

Another example of these storage jars is a thickened sherd with an inverted rim from Tappeh Dimeh Sadat (Plate 5, no. 7). The closest parallel of this sherd is reported from layer 7 of Tappeh Darougeh (Atayi 2006, Figure 140, no. 6). A similar storage jar with an inverted rim (Plate 5, no. 8) was also recovered from phase 11 of Tol-e Spid (Asgari Chaverdi et al 2014, Fig. 4-101: TS 340) and from Level II a-2 of the Van Kalesi Mound (Kalkan 2008: Plate VKH-III, No. 6) dating to the Late Iron Age / Achaemenid period in Eastern Anatolia.

Among these, a storage jar with an inverted rim (Plate 5, no. 9) from Tol-e Gobeir A is similar to the finds from the tombs of Ur (Woolley 1962, Plate 44, no. 90).

Conclusion

In this paper we have tried to provide at least basic information about the Achaemenid settlements and the pottery of the Ramhormoz Plain. The importance of this research is that it shows that paying attention to local pottery traditions and knowing the local characteristics of each region can increase our archaeological understanding.

The number of settlements indicates that this plain was one of the prosperous regions of Khuzistan during the Achaemenid period. Comparing the number of sites in this plain with Shushtar (23 site) (Moghaddam 2005, pp. 143-164; map 9), with the Khuzestan Plain (23

site) (de Miroschedji 1981: 171, tab. 1, Fig. 56) and with the Patak-Imamzadeh Abbas region (5 site) (de Miroschedji 1981: 174, tab 2, Fig. 60), a significant numerical superiority is evident. Of course, this context should be approached with caution, since there was a period when there was not enough information about local pottery traditions in, for example, the Susiana Plain, Khuzistan (Vanke 2003, pp. 497-562; Figure 74). Therefore, these plains need to be re-examined with new methods and in terms of indigenous species. Of course, this issue is not specific to the Achaemenid period, but should be considered for all cultural periods, especially the historical and Islamic periods.

The Achaemenid pottery from the Ramhormoz Plain can be divided into five different types: 1- Light green slipware 2- Red slip ware 3- Common ware 4- Eggshell ware 5- Painted ware. The pottery is also divided into 5 different groups in terms of form: 1-Carinated bowls 2- Bowls with simple rims 3- Jugs 4- Short necked jars 5- Storage jars. The light green slipware was recovered from the excavations at Tappeh Darougeh and has been identified as the local ware of this region (Atayi 2006, pp. 477-496). Most of these vessels were produced for daily use. The decorations used on the surface of the ceramics are embossed parallel horizontal bands or fingerprinting. 61% of the Achaemenid ceramics of the Ramhormoz Plain are light green slip ware and 7% are red slip ware. Painted wares with horizontal parallel lines account for only 1% (Graph 1). Among the Achaemenid ceramic forms of the Ramhormoz Plain, we can mention the bowls with an everted rim and carinated body (S-Carinated), which is one of the characteristic forms of the Late Iron Age and the Achaemenid period. The study shows that the regional pottery of the Achaemenid period is similar to that of Khuzistan, Fars and to some extent the northwestern region of Iran. The comparisons also show that the pottery of this period was not entirely local and was influenced by neighboring regions such as Eastern Anatolia and Southern Mesopotamia; however, some of this pottery was also entirely local and not influenced by other regions. Regarding the technique of manufacture and the tempering agent, the red slip ware collections of the Ramhormoz survey are different from those of the eastern Anatolian sites, but they are similar to those found at Jubaji in the Ramhormoz plain, which date to the Neo-Elamite period (Shishegar 2015). In terms of form, they are, however, comparable to the Late Iron Age /Achaemenid pottery of eastern Anatolia (Senyurt, kamış & Akçay 2011). Therefore, we may conclude that, despite the long distance between these two regions, the tradition of making such pottery vessels was initiated in eastern Anatolia and then reached the Ramhormoz plain via the Royal Road. Moreover, since eggshell ware is mostly found in Southern Mesopotamia, it was probably imported from this region to the Ramhormoz Plain.



Graph 1: Percentages of Achaemenid Period Ware Groups Found in the Ramhormoz Plain

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Author Contributions: Conception/Design of Study- L.A., S.A., B.O.; Data Acquisition- L.A., S.A., B.O.; Data Analysis/ Interpretation- L.A., S.A., B.O.; Drafting Manuscript- L.A., S.A., B.O.; Critical Revision of Manuscript- L.A., S.A., B.O.; Final Approval and Accountability- L.A., S.A., B.O.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Grant Support: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

References

- Afshari, L. (2022). Gozaresh-e Barresi Bastan Shenakhti Estegrarhaye Hakhamaneshi Dashte Ramhormoz baraye Takmil-e Nagshe Bastanshenasi Keshvar, Arshiv Ketabkhane Pazhoheshkade Bastanshenasi, Tehran (unpublished).
- Alizade, A. (2014). Ancient Settlement Systems and Cultures in the Ram Hormuz Plain, SouthWestern Iran: Excavations at Tall-e Geser and Regional Survey of the Ram Hormuz Area, Oriental Institute Publications, Volume 140, The Oriental Institute of the University of Chicago.
- Atayi, M. T. (2004). Moarefi Sofal Hakhamaneshi Hozeye Fars: Barresi Raveshmand Tabagebandi Shodeh Barouye Takhte Jamshid, Payanname Karshenasi Arshad, Reshte Bastan Shenasi, Daneshgah Taribiat Modares.
- Atayi, M. T. (2006). "Tosif va Tabaghebandi Sofalhaye Dore Hakhamaneshi ", in: Barresihaye Bastanshenakhti Mianab Shoushtar, Abbas Moghaddam (Edt), Be hamkari Alireza Khosrowzadeh vd. Sazman Miras Farhangi va Gardeshgari, Pazhoheshkade Bastan Shenasi, 2005, 143-164.
- Atayi, M. T. (2006). Gozaresh Gamanehzani Tappeh Darougeh (KS1593), in: Barresihaye Bastanshenakhti Mianab Shoushtar, Abbas Moghaddam (Edt), Be hamkari Alireza Khosrowzadeh vd. Sazman Miras Farhangi va Gardeshgari, Pazhoheshkade Bastan Shenasi, 477-496.
- Atai. M. T., Boucharlat. R., (2009), An Achaemenid pavilion and other remains in Tang-i Bulaghi, ARTA, 005, 1-33.
- Adachi, T. & Zeidi M. (2009), Achaemenid and post-Achaemenid Remains from TB 75 and the General Survey of the Tang-i Bulaghi, Edited by Rémy Boucharlat & Hasan Fazeli Nashli, ARTA,002, TB 75, PP 1-8.

- Abedi, A. et al. (2014). "Excavation at Kul Tepe (Hadishahr), North-Western Iran, 2010: First Preliminary Report", ANES 51, 33-165.
- Asgari Chaverdi, A., Petrie, C. & Seyedin, M. (2014). *Pazhoheshhaye Bastan Shenasi Tol-e Espid, Fars,* Tehran, Naşre Hampa va Daneshgah Honar-e Shiraz.
- De Miroschedji, P. (1987). "Fouilles Du Chantier Ville Royale II A Suse (1975-1977)- II. Niveaux D'Époques Achéménide, Séleucide, Parthe et Islamique, *Cabiers de la Dafi 15*. 11-143.
- Delougaz, P. & Kantor, H. (1996). Choghamish, The First five seasons of Excavations 1961-1971, Volume I, Part 2: Plates, Abbas Alizadeh (Edt), The oriental Institute of the University of Chicago.
- Fleming, D. (1989) "Eggshell Ware Pottery in Achaemenid Mesopotamia", Iraq, Vol. 51, 165-185.
- Farjami, M. (2022). "Negahi Mogadamati bar Olguye Estegrargahi va Sonathaye Sofalgari Dore Hakhamaneshi/Pasa Hakhamaneshi dar Ostan Khorasan Jonoubi", *Majale Jame Bastan Shenasi*, 3, 50-73.
- Fuensanta, J.G. & Charvat, P. (2013). "Birejik Hakhamaneshi va Asre Ahan 3 B dar Jonoub Shargi Anatoli", in: Bastanshenasi Emperatouri Hakhamaneshi, Pierre Briant & Remy Boucharlat (Edt), (Çev. Seyed Mohammad Amin Emami, Ali Akbar Vahdat va Mahmoud Behforouzi), Bongah Tarjomeh va Nashre Ketab Parse, 2013.
- Gibson, M. (1975). Excavations at Nippur Eleventh Season, M. Civil, J.H. Johnson and S.A.Kaufman (Edt), The Oriental Institute of the University of Chicago, Oriental Institute Communication No. 22, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago&London.
- Işıklı, M. & Özdemir, M.A. (2019). "Erzincan, Saztepe (Cimintepe II): Akhaimenid Dönemi İçin Bölgesel Bir Merke", Orta ve Doğu Anadolu Geç Demir Çağı: Post-Urartu, Med ve Akhaimenid İmparatorluklar, Aynur ÖZFIRAT Şevket DÖNMEZ Mehmet IŞIKLI Mona SABA (Edt), İstanbul, 351-382.
- Kalkan, H. (2008) MÖ Yüzyıllarda Doğu Anadolu: Arkeolojik Veriler Işığında Tarihsel ve Kültürel Değerlendirme, Ege Üniversitesi, Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, Kalesik Arkeoloji anabilim Dalı, Doktora Tezi, İzmir.
- Kalkan, H. (2013). "A Royal Tradition in Karagündüz Mound: Imitatio Regis?", International Journal of Human Sciences, 10 (2).
- kaygaz, N. (2002) Doğu Anadolu Geç Demir Çağ Merkezleri, Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart Üniversitesi, Çanakkale.
- Weeks, L.R., K.S. Alizadeh, L. Niakan, K., Alamdari, A. Khosrowzadeh and M. Zeidi (2009). The Mamasani Archaeological Project Stage One A report on the first two seasons of the ICAR - University of Sydney expedition to the Mamasani District, Fars Province, Iran, edited by D.T. Potts, K. Roustaei, C.A. Petrie, L.R. Weeks, Bar international series 2044.
- Moghaddam, A. (2005). Barresihaye Bastan Shenasi Mianab Shushtar, Tehran, Sazman Miras Farhangi va Gardeshgari, Pazhoheshkadeye Bastan Shenasi.
- McCown, D. E. (1949). "The Iranian Project", American Journal of Archaeology, Vol. 53/1:54;
- McCown, D. E. (1954)."The Relative Stratigraphy and Chronology of Iran" In *Relative Chronologies in Old World Archaeology*, Robert W.Ehrich (Edt), Chicago University of Chicago Press.
- Movahedi, S., Heydari Naser Abad, B., Hashemi Ana, S.K. & Ranjbar, F. (2013). "Pahnebandi Navahi Eglimi Ostan Khozestan", Daneshgah Azad Eslami Vahed-e Ahar, Faslname Elmi-Pazhoheshi Fazaye Jografyayı, Sale 12, Shomare 40, 64-73.

- Niakan, L. & Alizadeh, A. (2007). Gozaresh Moghaddamati Barresi Moshtarak Bastan Shenakhti Zist Mohiti Pazhoheshkadeh Bastan Shenasi ve Moasese Sharg Shenasi Daneshgah Shikago dar Dasht Ramhormoz, Shahrivar 1385, Mjmoe Maghalat Nohomin Gerdehamaei Bastan Shenasi Iran, Jeld 2, Tehran: Pazhoheshgah Sazman Miras Farhangi, Sanaye Dasti va Gardeshgari, Pazhoheshkadeh Bastan Shenasi, 393-433.
- Özfırat, A. (2019). " Van Gölü Havzası ve Ağrı Dağı'nda Akhaimenid Dönemi: Karagündüz Höyüğü Kazısı ve Yüzey Araştırması Merkezleri", in: ORTA VE DOĞU ANADOLU GEÇ DEMİR ÇAĞI: Post-Urartu, Med ve Akhaimenid İmparatorlukları, Aynur ÖZFIRAT Şevket DÖNMEZ Mehmet IŞIKLI Mona SABA (Edt), Ege Yayınları, İstanbul, 263-321
- Potts, D. T., et al. (2009). "Further Excavations at Qale Kali: (MS 46) By The Joint ICAR-University of Sydney Mamasani Expedition: Results of the 2008 Season", Iranica Antiqua, Vol. XLIV. 207-282.
- Potts, D.T., et al. (2009). "Further Excavations at Qale Kali: (MS 46) By The Joint ICAR-University of Sydney Mamasani Expedition: Results of the 2008 Season", Iranica Antiqua, Vol. XLIV, 2009, 207-282.
- Rouhi Zadeh, G., Masoumi, A.A. & Dehshiri, M.M. (2010). "Motalea Tireh Bagoulat dar Jonoub Shahrestan Ramhormoz", *Faslname Danesh Zisti Iran*, Dore 5, Shomare 2, 63-69.
- Summers, G.D. (1993). "Archaeological Evidence for the Achaemenid Period in Eastern Turkey", Anatolian Studies, Vol 43, 85-108.
- Summers, G.D. & Burney, C.A. (2012). "Late Iron Age Pottery From Northwestern ran the Evidence From Yanik Tepe", Ancient Near Eastern Studies, Supplement 39,269-315.
- Schmidt, E. (1963) Takhte Jamshid, Banaha, Nagsheha va Nebeshteha, Tarjome Abdollah Faryar, Tehran, Entesharat Franklin, 1963.
- Stronach, D. (1978). Pasargadae: A Report on the Excavations Conducted by the British Institute of Persian Studies from 1961 to 1963, Oxford: Oxford University Press, 283-284.
- Schmidt, E. (1957). Persepolis II, Content of Treasury and OtherDiscoveries the University of Chicago.
- Shishegar, A. (2015). Aramgah-e do Banouye Elami, Pazhoheshgah-e Miras farhangi ve Gardeshgari, Tehran.
- Şenyurt, S.Y., & Ekmen, H. (2005). Tetikom, Pasinler Ovası'nda bir Demir Çağ Yerleşmesi, Bakü-Tiflis-Ceyhan Ham Petrol Boru Hattı Projesi Arkeolojik Kurtarma Kazıları Proje Dökumanları: 1, Gazi Üniversitesi Arkeolojik Çevre Değerleri Araştırma Merkezi, Ankara.
- Şenyurt, S.Y., Kamış, Y. & Akçay, A. (2011). "Tasmasor Geç Demir Çağ Çanak Çömlek Buluntuları" in *Tasmasor*, S. Yücel Şenyurt (Edt), Bilgin Kültür Sanat Yayınları, 117-258.
- Vanke, R., "Gharb Iran dar Dore Part-Sasani: Tageire Shahanshahi", dar Bastan Shenasi Gharb Iran, Zire Nazare Frank Hole, Tehran, Entesharat Samt, 497-562.
- Weeks, L.R., Alizadeh, K.S., Niakan, L., Alamdari, K., Khosrowzadeh, A., & Zeidi, M. (2009). Chapter 3. Excavations at Tol-e Nurabad, in: The Mamasani Archaeological Project Stage One A report on the first two seasons of the ICAR - University of Sydney expedition to the Mamasani District, Fars Province, Iran, Daniel T. Potts and Kourosh Roustaei (Edt), The University of Sydney.
- Wright, H.T. & Carter, E. (2003). "Archaeological Survey on the Western Ram Hormuz Plain, 1969", Yeki Bud, Yeki Nabud: Essays on the Archaeology of Iran in Honor of William M. Sumner, Naomi F. Miller and Kamyar Abdi (Edt), Cotsen Institute of Archaeology Monograph 48. Los Angeles, University of California Press, 61-82.

- Woolley, S. L., (1962). Ur Excavations the Neo-Babylonian and Persian Periods, Professor M. E. L. Mallowan (Edt), Published For the Trustees of the Two Museums, London, 1962.
- YiğitPaşa, D. (2016). Doğu Anadolu'da Geç Demir Çağ Kültürü, Taşkın Köksel (Edt), Gece Kştaplığı Yayın evi, Samsun, 2016.
- Yaghmaei, E. (2016). Gozaresh-e Asib Shenasi Barkhi az Mohavatehaye Motalea Shode dar Barname " Shenasayi Rah-e Shahi Hakhamaneshi Shush-Takhte Jamshid" Fasl-e Dovom, Zemestan, Pazhoheshgah Miras Farhangi va Gardeshgari (unpublished).
- Zehbari, Z., Mehr Afarin, R. & Musavi Haji, S.R. (2015) "Studies on the Structural Characteristics of Achaemenid Pottery from Dahan-e Gholaman", ANES 52, 217-259.
- Zohre Zehbari, Z. & Mehrafarin,R. (2014). Motale Tatbigi Sanat Sofalgari Sharg Iran ba Hozeye Fars dar Dore Hakhamaneshi (Nemoune Moredi: Dahane Gohlaman), Motaleat Boumi, Dofaslname Pazhoheshi-Tahlili Daneshkade Honar va Memari Daneshgah Mazandaran, 25-39.
- Zeydi, M. (2012). "Barresi Bastan Shenakhti Mehran va Balouk Anaran dar Shahrestan-e Dehloran, Ostan-e Ilam", dar Namour Name, Maghalehaei dar Pasdashte yad-e Masoud Azarnoush, be koshesh Hamid Fahimi va KarimAlizadeh, Tehran, Entesharat Iran Negar, 157-168.



Plate 1: Achaemenid carinated bowls from the Ramhormoz Plain

r							· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
~	7	6	S	4	3	2	-	No.	
058	085	032	032	028	077C	065A	065A	Settlement	Code
Jobaji	Tol-e Rigi	Tol-e Abbas	Tol-e Abbas	Cham Rejy	Tol-e Gapu Cham	Tappeh Mehr Al Nesa	Tappeh Mehr Al Nesa	Settlement	Name
Carinated Bowl	Carinated Bowl	Carinated Bowl	Carinated Bowl	Carinated Bowl	Carinated Bowl	Carinated Bowl	Carinated Bowl	Form	
Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Manufac	ture
Red	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light	Buff	Buff	Interior C	Color
Red	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green	Buff	Buff	Exterior (Color
Dark buff	Orange	Orange	Orange	Orange	Orange	Buff	Buff	Paste Co	lor
adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	Firing	
Grit, sand	Grit, sand, chaff	Grit , sand	Grit , sand	Grit, sand, white particles, chaff	Grit, sand	Grit , sand	Grit, sand	Tempe	r
Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped		1	Interior Surface Surfac	Surface
Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped		I	Exterior Surface	treatment
fine	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	fine	Interior	0.1
fine	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	fine	Exterior	Quality
	,	1			•			Decorations	
3.132, No. TNP 2215, Kalkan 2013: Abb 5, No. 13,25	Senyürt , Ekmen 2005 Weeks et al 2009: Fig	Atayi 2006: Şekle 13, No. 13, Şekl-e 14, No. 8, Delougaz , Kantor 1996: Plate 74, No. 1, Şenyürt , Ekmen 2005: Tip 1.20., No. 7, YiğitPaşa 2016: levha 18, No. 1, Kalkan 2008: levha 1, No. 2	Atayi 2006: Şekle 13, No. 22, (Summers 1993: Fig 9, No. 8)	Kalkan 2008: levha I, No. 2	,	Abedi et al 2014: Fig 59, No. 1, Şenyürt , Ekmen 2005: Tip 1.8., No. 1	Delougaz, Kantor 1996: Plate 74, No. A., Şenyurt, Kamış ve Akçay 2005: Tip 6.3., No. 193, Özfırat 2019: Resim 10, No. 11		



Plate 2: Achaemenid bowls with simple rim from the Ramhormoz Plain

		Parallels	de Miroschedji 1987: Figure 10, No. 1, Işıklı , Özdemir 2019: Figür 1, No. m	Özfirat 2019: Resim 10, No. 12	Atayi 2004: Loh-e 31, No. 8, Kalkan 2008: levha, 1, No. 10	Atayi 2006: Şekle 15, No. 20	Atayi 2004: , Loh-e 13, No. 13	Kalkan 2008: levha XXXI, No. 2 Şenyürt , Ekmen 2005: Tip 2. 13., No. 10	Özfirat 2019: Resim. 10, No. 1, YiğitPaşa 2016: levha 6, No. 3	Atayi 2006: Şekle 136, No. 10,13, (Weeks, et al 2009: Fig 3.132, No. TNP 2246),	Weeks et al 2009, Figure 3.132, no. TNP 2246, Atayi 2006, Şekle 136, No. 10,13,
		Decorations	ı		ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı
	ılity	Exterior	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	fine	medium	medium
	Qui	Interior	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	fine	medium	medium
	treatment	Exterior Surface	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped
lain	Surface 1	Interior Surface	Slipped		Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	ı	Slipped	ı	ı
ne Ramhormoz F		Temper	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, white particles
ns from th		Firing	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate
th simple rin		Paste Color	Orangish brown	Orange	Orange	Orange	Orange	Orange	Orangish grey	Orange	Orange
owls wi	V tonion	Color	Light green	Light green	Red	Light green	Light green	Light green	brown	Light green	Light green
menid b	Intorior	Color	Light green	Orange	Red	Light green	Light green	Orange	Reddish brown	Orange	Orange
ics of Achae		Manufacture	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made
acterist		Form	Simple Bowl	Simple Bowl	Simple Bowl	Simple Bowl	Simple Bowl	Simple Bowl	Simple Bowl	Simple Bowl	Simple Bowl
mical char	Cottlomon	Name	Tol-e Topp	Char taghi	Tappeh Mehr Al Nesa	Tappeh Mehr Al Nesa	Tappeh Mehr Al Nesa	Tol-e Quvileh	Tol-e Karami B	Ein Korrel	Ein Korreł
ute 2: Tech	Sott Jom ont	Code	071	093 B	065A	065A	065A	004	116 B	095	095
Ъ		9	-	5	3	4	5	9	5	~	6



Plate 3: Achaemenid jugs from the Ramhormoz Plain

No.		1	2	ω	4	S	6	7	×	8
nt Code	Settleme	058	095	065 C	001	032	112	112	115	115
nt Name	Settleme	Jobaji	Ein Korreh	Tappeh Kheyr Al Nesa	Tol-e Gesei	Tol-e Abbas	Shifeh	Shifeh	Tol-e	Mentar
·m	Fo	Jug	Jug	Jug	Jug	Jug	Jug	Jug	Jug	Jug
acture	Manuf	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made and hand- made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made	Wheel-made
Interior Color		Red	Orange	Orange	Light green	Light green	Light green	Brown	Brown	Brown
Exterior Color		Red	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green	Brown	Light	green
Color	Paste	Buff	Orange	Orange	Orange	Orange	Orange	Brown	Brown	Brown
ng	Fir	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate
per	Ten	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, chaff	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, chaff	Grit, sand	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, white particles , shiny particles	Grit, sand,	orit, sanu, chaff
Surface treatment	Interior Surface	Slipped			Slipped	Slipped	Slipped		I	
	Exterior Surface	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	I	Slipped	Slipped
	Interior	fine	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium
Quality	Exterior	fine	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium
ations	Decor	ı						1		
Parallels		Asgari Chaverdi, Petrie , Seyedin 2014: Tasvire 4.97, No. 499, Kaygaz 2002: levha 63, No. 3	Atayi 2006: Şekle 18, No. 17, Kalkan 2008: levha, I, No. 4	de Miroschedji 1987: Fig 17, No. 2	Delougaz , Kantor 1996: Plate 75, No. AA, Woolley 1962: Plate 51, No. 159b, Plate 42, No.62		Stronach 1978: Fig 106, No. 7	Atayi 2006: Şekl-e 136, No. 21, Delougaz, Kantor 1996: Plate 75, No. B&C, Stronach 1978: Fig 106, No. 2, Gibson 1975: Fig. 49, No 020127	Gibson 1975: Fig. 49, No 020127 de Miroschedji 1987:	Figure 17, No. 2



Plate 4: Achaemenid short-necked jars from the Ramhormoz Plain

	No.	1	2	ω	4	S	6	7
Code	Settlement	096	091	011	011	028	084 B	084 B
Name	Settlement	Bulaibul	Pacheh kuh	Tol-e Bormi	Tol-e Bormi	Cham Rejy	Tol-e Gobeir	Tol-e Gobeir
l	Form	short- necked jar	short- necked jar	short- necked jar	short- necked jar	short- necked jar	short- necked jar	short- necked jar
ture	Manufac	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made
Interior Color		Orange	Light green	Light green	Light green	Orange	Dark orange	Dark orange
Color	Exterior C	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green	Orange	Dark orange	Light green
olor	Paste Co	Orange	Orange	Dark gray	Orange	Orange	Dark orange	Dark orange
3	Firing	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate
r	Тетре	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, chaff	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand, chaff	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand, white particles
Surface	Interior Surface		slipped	Slipped	Slipped		I	ı
treatment	Exterior Surface	slipped	slipped	Slipped	Slipped	ı	I	slipped
Quality	Interior	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium
	Exterior		medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium
ons	Decorati	ı						1
ls	Parallels		Fuensanta , charvat 2013: Tasvire 6, No. B Kalkan 2008: levha XI, No. 4	Summers , Burney 2012: Fig 17, No. 27	Atayi 2004: Lohe 49, No. 12	de Miroschedji 1987: Figure 15, No. 7	Summers , Burney 2012: Fig 8, No. 7, Özfirat 2019: Resim. 10, No. 13, Woolley 1962: Plate 47, No. 118	Summers , Burney 2012: Fig 8, No. 7, YiğitPaşa 2016: levha 27, No. 1, Özfirat 2019: Resim. 10, No. 10



Plate 5: Achaemenid storage jars from the Ramhormoz Plain

	No	1	2	3	4	S	6	7	~	9
	Referenses	011	011	011	011	091	097	097	095	084 A
e	Settlement Nar	Tol-e Bormi	Tol-e Bormi	Tol-e Bormi	Tol-e Bormi	Pache kuh	Dimeh Sadat	Dimeh Sadat	Ein Korreh	Gobeir A
	Form	storage jar	storage jar	storage jar	storage jar	storage jar	storage jar	storage jar	storage jar	storage jar
	Manufacture	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made	Wheel- made
	Interior Colo	Light green	Light green	Dark gray	Light green	Light brown	Gray	Brown	Orange	Dark orange
	Exterior Colo	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green	Light green	Gray	Light green	Light green	Light green
	Paste Color	Dark orange	Light brown	Dark gray	Brown	Light brown	Gray	Brown	Orange	Dark orange
	Firing	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate	adequate
	Temper	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand, chaff	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand, white particles	Grit, sand	Grit, sand	Grit, sand, chaff	Grit, sand
face	Interior Surface Su	Slipped	Slipped		Slipped		1			
ment	Exterior Surface	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped	slipped	ı	Slipped	Slipped	Slipped
.1:4	Interior	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium
mty	Exterior	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium	medium
	Decorations	I	Applique decoration on the exterior	ı	ı	1	1	ı	ı	1
	Parallels		Zehbari, Mehr Afarin Musavi Haji 2015: Fij 21, No. 41	Zehbari, Mehr Afarin Musavi Haji 2015: Fij 21, No. 41	de Miroschedji 1987 Figure 17, No. 4, Kaygaz 2002: levha 63, No. 2	de Miroschedji 1987 Figure 8, No. 3	Atayi 2006: Şekle 17 No. 6 Şenyurt, Kamış , Akça 2005: Tip 12.1., No. 241	Atayi 2006: Şekle 140 No. 6	Asgari Chaverdi et a 2014, Fig. 4-101: TS 340, Kalkan 2008: levha, III, No. 6	Woolley 1962: Plate 44, No. 90





AnAr, 29, 95–115 DOI: 10.26650/anar.2023.29.1338017

Araştırma Makalesi / Research Article

Doric Capitals in Pessinus: A Brief Overview of Pessinus Architectural Activities

Adem Yurtsever¹ 💿



¹Dr. Lecturer Member., Anadolu University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archeology, Eskişehir, Turkiye

ORCID ID: A.Y. 0000-0002-6727-9873

Sorumlu yazar/Corresponding author: Adem Yurtsever,

Anadolu University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Archeology, Eskişehir, Turkiye E-mail: yurtsever.adem@gmail.com

Başvuru/Submitted: 04.08.2023 Revizyon Talebi/Revision Requested: 31.10.2023 Son Revizyon/Last Revision Received: 03.11.2023 Kabul/Accepted: 29.12.2023

Atif/Citation: Yurtsever, A. (2023). Doric capitals in pessinus: A brief overview of pessinus architectural activities. Anadolu Araştırmaları-Anatolian Research, 29, 95–115. https://doi.org/10.26650/anar.2023.29.1338017

ABSTRACT

The city of Pessinus is located within the boundaries of Ballihisar Village, approximately 16 km south of Sivrihisar district in Eskişehir, Turkey. The area where the city is situated was first known as Phrygia and then as Galatia in ancient times. A significant portion of the ancient city currently remains buried beneath the village settlement. The conducted excavations and research have demonstrated the city to have been an important cult center during Hellenistic and Roman times. Pessinus and designs can evidently be found within its ancient ruins. One of the notable surviving examples of ancient architecture in the city is the Doric capitals identified at various points. This study provides a detailed analysis of the material, design, and stylistic features of the Doric capitals identified in Pessinus. Furthermore, it examines the typological variety, details, and regional variations of these capitals, along with their contributions to the overall architectural design.

Keywords: Pessinus, Doric capitals, architectural documentation, architectural order



Introduction

The scientific excavation and research in the important ancient cult center of Pessinus has a long history. Between 1967-2008, Prof. Dr. P. Lambrechts and Prof. Dr. J. Devreker conducted research with some interruptions on behalf of Ghent University (Claerhout & Devreker, 2008). Since 2009, research activities have been carried out under the direction of Prof. Dr. G. R. Tsetskhladze on behalf of Melbourne University (Tsetskhladze, 2019), and these studies continued uninterrupted until 2015.

The archaeological research that was carried out in the city has led to significant results regarding its historical period. These studies have provided valuable information about the city's relationship with the Hittite¹ culture (Claerhout & Devreker, 2008, p. 97; Tsetskhladze, 2019, pp. 24–25), the Phrygian culture (Tsetskhladze, 2009, pp. 703–710; Tsetskhladze, 2019, pp. 26–32; Verlinde, 2015a, p. 71), the development of the city's identity during the Hellenistic period (Verlinde, 2010, pp. 116–119; Verlinde, 2015a, p. 65), and its development during the Roman imperial period (Verlinde, 2010, 2015b). The detailed study of this significant cult center in Central Anatolia has not only shed light on the archaeological significance of the region but also improved the understanding of the characteristics of its cultural heritage.

This study focuses on the Doric capitals, specifically those discovered in the garden of the excavation house and those identified in the Eastern Stoa of the Quadriporticus (Devreker et al., 1995, p. 143; Devreker et al., 2009, pp. 64–67; Devreker et al., 2010, pp. 149–153),² known as Sector H (Verlinde, 2010; Verlinde, 2015). While the Doric capitals in the Quadriporticus display similar stylistic features, the origins and precise arrival date of those found in the excavation house garden remain uncertain, making their unique stylistic characteristics all the more intriguing. Despite this, a comprehensive stylistic analysis of these capitals has not been undertaken, and beyond those already documented, no additional examples of Doric capitals were found during the field survey of the ancient city of Pessinus.

The diversity in the quality of materials the stonemasons of the time used demonstrate their skill in working with different types of stone. The Doric capitals found near the excavation house are made of marble, whereas those discovered in the East Stoa of the Quadriporticus were crafted from sandstone. Such variation in building materials suggests the presence of craftsmen capable of working with both types and also implies different material preferences for distinct architectural structures. This study aims to meticulously examine the materials, designs, and stylistic features of the Doric capitals discovered in Pessinus. Based on the results of this research, the study proposes a date for these capitals and assesses

¹ During the Pessinus excavations, a hearth dated to 1500 BC was found in Area B6a.

² This Quadriporticus, a structure planned by Peristyl, is located in front of the temple area dedicated to the cult of the emperor, which was built in the second quarter of the 1st century AD.

their significance within the city's historical context. Furthermore, this study presents fresh insights and interpretations regarding the function of the Sector H structure that was analyzed in terms of the Rhodian Peristyle plan (Vitr. De arch. VII.7,3; Verlinde, 2015a, p. 61).

Methodology, Materials, and Profile Characteristics

The catalog prepared for the Doric capitals found at Pessinus reveals that certain groups of capitals share common stylistic features. Each Doric capital has been described in detail in the catalog's tables, with exemplary capitals having been numerically categorized from Cat. No. 1 to Cat. No. 9 (see Table 1). Notably, three distinct groups (i.e., Cat. No. 1, Cat. Nos. 2-4, and Cat. Nos. 5-9) have been identified due to their similarities in stylistic features. These groups were formed based on considerations of the capitals' profile characteristics, dimensions, and decorative details. The process of stylistic analysis and exemplification has been elaborated for each capital by drawing upon different well-dated examples, which has been crucial in establishing the main elements for dating.

The documentation of the capitals has been a significant aspect of this study, particularly with the inclusion of profile drawings. Detailed profile drawings have been meticulously prepared for each grouped capital. Special attention has been given to the echinus and annulet profile types, leading to the creation of large-scale drawings that aid in better comprehension. These profile drawings are essential in determining the capitals dating and identifying the differences and similarities in their stylistic features (Fig. 1). In addition to conventional documentation methods, a tablet computer equipped with a LiDAR sensor has been utilized for scanning each documented capital (Yurtsever, 2023, pp. 200–206). This innovative approach has allowed the preservation of digital scans of the columns, resulting in the establishment of a comprehensive database. By employing both traditional and modern documentation methods, this research ensures a robust and comprehensive analysis of the Doric capitals stylistic evolution and architectural significance at Pessinus.

During the documentation, the condition, preservation status, profile characteristics, and material quality of the Doric capitals were able to be better understood. The Doric capital displayed in Cat. No. 1 (see Figs. 2 and 11) is considerably damaged and incomplete. The design features of the capital can be understood thanks to the intact sections and their profile characteristics. The neck section exhibits concave curves with sharp edges, and its arris are band-shaped with Ionic fluting. Above the fluting, an annulet is depicted in two steps. The echinus on the annulet slightly curves outward and rises slightly proud, with a thin line appearing where the echinus meets the abacus table. The abacus table has some erosion, and a band-shaped crown profile can be observed on the table. The typological feature of the crown profile could not be determined due to the preservation status.

The Doric capital referred to as Cat. No. 2 (see Fig. 3) has largely preserved its profile characteristics, and the lower part of the capital has a dowel socket measuring 4x4x5 cm at

the center. The neck section has a band-shaped relief ornament in the form of a half-circle with sharp edges, and a depiction of an arrow/spearhead is placed between each half-circle relief. Therewithal, the general form of the neck decorations resembles a different variation of the Ionic cymatium. The only difference here is the absence of the egg in the hollow. The decorative style in question can also be interpreted as spearhead-like embellishments rising to the starting point of the annulets and terminating in a semi-circular form between the grooves. The annulet on the neck section shows a style known as a "saw-toothed," or V-shaped, annulet. The transitions between the neck and annulet are harmonious, resulting in a seamless and aesthetically pleasing appearance. The echinus on the annulet slightly curves outward and rises slightly proud with fine comb traces in its central part. Based on the documented capitals of the same type and profile characteristics, one can infer that the abacus has a flat band-shaped profile and carries a "Pergamon Ovolo" crown (Shoe, 1936, p. 22; Vasdaris, 1987, pp. 62–69; Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 53-60, figs. 20-21; Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolancı, 2022, p. 195, fn. 17). The Doric capitals labeled Cat. Nos. 3-4 (see Figs. 4-5) also exhibit similar profiles and stylistic features with Cat. No. 1. The profile features of the capitals with Cat. Nos. 2-4, which likely belong to the same building, were analyzed by comparing the intact sections of these capitals with each other, resulting in the creation of a restitution proposal for the capitals (see Fig. 12).

The Doric capital labeled Cat. No. 5 (Fig. 6) is well-preserved and fully maintains its profile characteristics. The neck section of the capital contains shallow line ornamentation, and the neck is slightly inclined downward from the annulet. The annulet is saw-toothed (i.e., V-shaped).³ The transitions between the neck and annulet are smooth and natural. The echinus on the annulet slightly curves outward and rises slightly proud. The abacus table is flat and carries round corner consoles. The Doric capitals labeled Cat. Nos. 6-8 (Fig. 7-9) display the same profile and stylistic features. Only the dimensions of the capital labeled Cat. No. 9 (Fig. 10) are taller compared to the other capitals in the same group. Additionally, thicker comb traces can be observed on the longer neck section of this capital. This might be a later application that occurred in a subsequent period. A restitution drawing has also been created for these capitals belonging to the same structure (see Fig. 13).

Stylistic Analysis and Dating

The Doric capitals found in the city of Pessinus have provided sufficient profile features for conducting a stylistic analysis. Despite fractures and missing parts, the reconstruction of the complete form of the capitals has been achieved through this analysis. Dating the Doric capitals presents stylistic challenges (Rumscheid, 1994, p. 302; Mert, 2016, p. 382; Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolancı, 2022, p. 199). However, this study has relied extensively on capitals from securely dated structures as reference points.

³ For the rest of the text, the term V-shaped annulet is preferred.

The stylistic analysis will commence with the Doric capital cataloged as Cat. No. 1. The significant features of the neck, annulet, echinus profile, and ovolo profile on the abacus are essential points of examination. The neck of the capital displays Ionic flutes with a straight band formed between them (Hellström, 1985, p. 132; Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 35-39). F. Rumscheid (1994, p. 303) attributed this band design and the flutes to Ionic influence. categorizing such capitals under Group 4, which suggests their presence in Anatolia during the High and Late Hellenistic periods. According to Z. Gider Büyüközer (2013, pp. 98–99), the Ionic flutes on the neck section with a flat top fall under the category type "By6". These types were used from the 2^{nd} century BC to the early 1^{st} century AD. Although the annulet appears round due to wear, it has a double-stepped form worked outwards, separating from the echinus in intact portions (Vasdaris, 1987, pp. 143–146; Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolancı, 2022, pp. 194–195, fn. 15). Gider Büyüközer (2013, pp. 82–85) classified this type of annulet as Type An3 and noted it to have been in use from the 2nd century BC to the 1st century AD. When examined stylistically, the first annulet from the bottom in the Pessinus capital is aligned with the second and third annulets, forming a stepped configuration. These features are observed in Doric capitals from the 2nd century BC, as exemplified by the Skythinos Monument Column in Pergamon (Rumscheid, 1994, Cat. no. 210, Taf. 125. 5) and the North Stoa in Priene (Rumscheid, 1994, Cat. no. 305 Taf. 165-5).

The echinus of the Cat. No. 1 capital slightly curves outward, and the top point of the echinus is connected to the underside of the abacus through an inward turn, forming an angular transition. Capitals with such an echinus profile were in use from the 4th century BC until the 1st century AD (Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 63–65, fn. 341).⁴ The outward-bulging echinus turns inward at its upper point, connecting to the abacus table. Despite fractures and missing parts, the abacus table displays a cymatium, but its exact type cannot be identified. When considering all these features, similar examples can be found in the capitals of the Northern Stoa of the Hekate Sanctuary (Gider, 2012, pp. 264–265, 271, figs. 6-7; Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 37, 664) and of the West Stoa (Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 37, 651–652, 655) at Lagina, dating to the Early Augustan Period. In the restituted drawings of the Pessinus capital, the abacus appears to have a width of at least 50 cm, a lower diameter of 40 cm, and 20 Ionic flutes (Fig. 11).

The Doric capital from the stage building of the Augustan-period theater in Stratonikeia (Mert, 2002, p. 187; 2008, pp. 133, 150 abb. 25-26; Ismaelli, 2009, p. 381, fig. 408; Gider Büyüközer, 2013, fig. 37; Söğüt, 2019, p. 55) provides another comparable stylistic example. The Stratonikeia capital displays triple-arranged annulets and Doric characteristics on the neck flutes, unlike the Pessinus capital. However, the abacus, echinus profile, and annulets

⁴ Gider Büyüközer listed early examples dating back to the 4th century BC with this type of profile in the Caria region and stated the earliest example to have been identified in the Oikoi Building in Labraunda.

are stylistically similar to those of the Pessinus capital. Similarly, comparable profile features can be observed in Doric capitals from the Gymnasium of Hierapolis (Ismaelli, 2009, pp. 165–169, 380–384, 443–445), dating to the early 1st century AD. The Gymnasium capital has a more inflated echinus and step-shaped annulets on a polygonal fluted neck, terminating in semicircular shapes at the top. Therefore, the Pessinus capital was likely not produced after the Augustan Era.

Another noteworthy feature of the Pessinus capital is the unfluted section on the neck that begins after the termination of the Ionic fluting. An excellent example of such Doric capitals can be observed in the Water Structure of the city of Stratonikeia, where they were repurposed and dated to the early Roman Imperial period (Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 37, 105, fig. 41, pl. 9, 4). The Doric capitals of the Stratonikeia Water Structure have a section without grooves, elevated between the termination point of the grooves and the annulets. Regarding the Pessinus capital, a flat-surfaced band is created after the annulets in the transition to the neck section. Therefore, in terms of the treatment of the neck section, the Pessinus capital falls into Typology Type By6 as defined by Gider Büyüközer (2013, p. 99).⁵ The abacus, echinus, and annulet profile of this capital closely resemble those of the Pessinus capital, with the neck section of the Pessinus capital exhibiting a distinctive variant characterized by a lower unfluted portion. Furthermore, the capitals on display in the Milas Museum, stylistically dated to the second half of the 1st century BC, particularly exhibit stylistic similarities in the cyma on the abacus and the fluting on the neck section, akin to the stylistic features of the Pessinus capital.

The examined comparative examples, including the Cat. No. 1 Doric capital from Pessinus, unequivocally suggest that this capital cannot be dated earlier than mid-1st century BC, nor can it be placed in a period later than the Augustan Era. Notably, the examples from Lagina, as well as the other specifically dated Doric capitals that have been studied analogically, support the attribution of the Pessinus capital to the Early Augustan Period.

The Doric capitals Cat. Nos. 2, 3, and 4 from Pessinus exhibit distinctive stylistic features, particularly in their decorative details in the neck section. During the research conducted in the city, two more capitals with similar profiles and stylistic characteristics as Capital No. 2 were identified. Therefore, the Doric capitals Cat. Nos. 3 and 4 have shared stylistic features and have been collectively evaluated. Each of these capitals has been preserved to some extent, enabling restitution after individual examinations. Consequently, the neck, echinus, and abacus of each capital were crafted together. Although their heights vary between 21.5 and 25.5 cm, the restitution drawing indicates a height of 24.5 cm. The lower diameter should be 55 cm, and the abacus width should be at least 70 cm. The columns supporting the capitals were also suggested to have been fluted and each column to have maybe had at least 20 flutes.

⁵ Gider Büyüközer has stated that these types of capitals emerged in Anatolia during the Hellenistic period and continued to be used in the 1st century AD.

The decorative features in the neck section of the examined Doric capitals present a distinct design element. Notably, between the consecutive semi-circular, sharp-edged bands in the neck section, each capital has arrow-/spear-shaped forms inserted (Figure 12). Alternatively, the stonemason might have aimed to create a different design of the groove/ tongue motif for Doric or Ionic arris. In the literature, examples of such decorative elements on the neck section of Doric capitals are not widely known. Just above these decorative elements are annulets arranged in groups of three and forming stepped patterns.⁶ The first annulet extends perpendicular to the echinus profile at an angle slightly exceeding 90 degrees, with the second and third annulets following it, extending downwards at a 90-degree angle. Hellenistic period examples of annulets with triple arrangements in the literature are quite numerous (Rumscheid, 1994, tafs. 112, 1; 117, 6; 136, 1; 165, 1; 169, 1; Rumscheid, 2000, p. 199, fig. 173; Gider Büyüközer, 2020, p. 135, fig. 10a), and understood to have been in use throughout the 1st century AD. (Bernardi Ferrero, 1988, p. 168, fig. 230; Rumscheid, 1994, taf. 10, 4; Smith, 2013, p. 31, pl. 4A-E; Uz, 1985, pp. 108, 230 figs. 16 & 19; Uz, 2013, p. 45, pls. 18a, 38, 44; Kadıoğlu, 2021, pp. 188–240; Ismaelli, 2009, p. 362, fig. 395; Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolancı, 2022, pp. 202–203 figs. 9-11). A recent study by Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolanci (2022, p. 199) also pointed out the complexity of dating based on the number and stylistic features of annulets.

The echinus profiles of the capitals are slightly convex and bulge outward as they rise, aligning with the level of the abacus top surface. The abacus of the capitals has a Pergamene ovolo profile (Shoe, 1936, p. 22; Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 53–60, figs. 20-21; Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolancı, 2022, p. 195, fns. 17-18). For this reason, capitals with Cat. Nos. 2-4 are referred to as Doric capitals crowned with a Pergamene ovolo. The Pessinus capitals exhibit the characteristics of the Pergamene ovolo Type IV (Shoe, 1936, p. 22; Gider Büyüközer, 2013, p. 142), and this type of capital was known to have been used from the 3rd-2nd centuries BC to the 1st century AD (Ismaelli, 2009, pp. 380–381; Gider Büyüközer, 2013, p. 56). When considering the examples from the Hadrianic Forum in the ancient city of Cremna in Pisidia, this usage period can be extended up to the mid-2nd century AD (Mitchell, 1995, pp. 59–63, fig. 14). Therefore, dating the capitals based solely on the features of the annulet profiles does not appear possible. In this context, the evaluation of the Pessinus capitals will be based on comparative examples with similar abacus, echinus, and annulet profiles.

The Doric capitals at Pessinus, characterized by their triple arrangement of annulets, slightly convex rising echinus, and abacus section beginning in line with the echinus, closely resemble the Doric capitals found in the agora of Lyrbe, that have been dated to the first

⁶ Due to significant abrasion developed over time on Doric Capitals Cat. Nos. 2, 3, and 4, the annulets appear in different forms in the figures. However, field research and profile drawings of the intact sections of the capitals have indicated that the annulets are crafted in a stepped pattern. Please refer to Figures 1 and 12 in the study.

quarter of the 1st century AD (Rumscheid, 1994, taf. 181, 4; Yıldırım, 2018, p. 834, res. 3-22). Moreover, similar profile characteristics are observed in the Doric capitals from Antioch of Pisidia (Taslialan, 1994, pp. 250–251, fig. 19; Ismaelli, 2009, p. 381, fig. 408), the Augustan period theater in Stratonikeia (Mert, 2002, p. 187; 2008, pp. 133, 150 abbs. 25-26; Ismaelli, 2009, p. 381, fig. 408; Gider Büyüközer, 2013, fig. 37; Söğüt, 2019, p. 55), the Stoas of the Gymnasium in Hierapolis (Ismaelli, 2009, pp. 443–445, fig. 407), and at Attouda (Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolancı, 2022, pp. 202–203, cat. nos. 7 & 9). Based on these examples, to consider the Pessinus capitals labeled Cat. Nos. 2-4 as dating to the Augustan period would be reasonable. However, further examination is required to explore the depiction of the arrow/spearheads in the neck section. These motifs appear to be compressed between the two consecutive semi-circular bands and are of particular significance. A similar motif can be observed on a block located at the center of the gate of the Port in the ancient city of Ephesus. Similar to the Pessinus example, the decorative element from the time of Julius Claudius also exhibits sharp-edged arrow/spearheads emerging between the two bowls (Alzinger, 1974, p. 61, tafs. 31, 55; tafs. 85, 140b). Furthermore, within the same city and structure, a capital displaying a similar style of spearhead can be found (Alzinger, 1974, p. 61, taf. 68, 106a). When considering these examples, one may plausibly assert that the Pessinus capitals cannot be dated to a period before the Augustan era or after the time of Julius Claudius. The primary proposal is based on the stylistic similarity of the profiles by considering the examples from Stratonikeia and Hierapolis and suggests the Augustan period. This period coincides with a revival of Doric architecture in Anatolia, albeit to a limited extent (Fochetti, 2020, pp. 120-129; Yurtsever, 2022, pp. 204-205, fn. 83).

Cat. Nos. 5-9 of the Doric capitals will be examined together due to their common profile characteristics and their discovery in the same area, referred to as Sector H by the excavators. The structure (Sector H) where these capitals were found has been identified as having a Rhodian Peristyle plan, with evidence of partial anastylosis applied to the Eastern Stoa (Devreker et al., 2009, p. 66, fig. 6; Devreker et al., 2010, pp. 152–153 fig. 9). Previous studies have considered various designations for this area, including the agora, an independent palestra, gymnasium, and Heroon (Verlinde, 2010, pp. 121–124; Verlinde, 2015a, p. 61, fn. 113).⁷ Excavation works have revealed the structure in Sector H to date back to the Late Hellenistic Period, to have been constructed in 129-120 BC, and to have been destroyed by a fire between 80-75 BC (Verlinde, 2010, pp. 119–127, fig. 10; Verlinde, 2015a, pp. 33, 60). P. Pensabene (2004, pp. 110–112, fig. 17; Verlinde, 2010, p. 126) dated the Doric capitals recovered from the Eastern Stoa to a period between 200-150 BC by referencing Vasdaris work (1992, pp. 169, 218).

⁷ Verlinde, in his study, compared this structure to the Eudemos Gymnasium in Miletus and the Hellenistic Temenos in Pergamon.
This study will carry out a detailed stylistic analysis of the Doric capitals (Cat. Nos. 5-9), in addition to the discussions and dating mentioned above. The common profile characteristics observed in all these capitals include an elongated neck section with a downward inclination starting from the annulet, a thin line at the exact center of the plain neck, V-shaped annulets arranged in sets of three, a slightly proud echinus rising to meet the abacus, and a thin band separating the abacus table from the echinus at the point of contact. The abacus table is flat. Previous studies have suggested the structure with Doric elements in this area to adhere to the canonical proportions indicated by Vitruvius (Vitr. De arch. IV.3,4; Vasdaris, 1992, p. 40; Verlinde, 2010, p. 120). The Doric capitals have been reexamined in detail, revealing that the capitals themselves also exhibit a canonical design. For this purpose, a unit ratio has been considered of 8 cm (modulus) between the sections of the capitals. By distributing this ratio among the sections, the lower diameter becomes 40 cm, and each of the neck, echinus, and abacus parts measure 8 cm, while the width of the abacus table is 60 cm. Detailed measurements provided in the catalog section for the capitals indicate very little variation in height, supporting the presence of a canonical design for these Doric capitals (Fig. 13).

Numerous examples of Doric capitals with canonical designs can be found in the Caria Region dating from the second half of the 4th century BC to the early Roman Imperial period (Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 51–52). Doric capitals with triple-set V-shaped annulets have been documented in various structures, including the Milas Museum (Gider Büyüközer, 2013, pp. 81–82, fig. 406a-b), Attouda (Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolancı, 2022, pp. 203–204, figs. 12-13a-b), the Propylon of Athena sanctuary in Pergamon (Bohn, 1885, p. 55, fig. 64; Rumscheid, 1994, p. 35), the Banquet Hall (H) (Schazmann, 1923, pp. 58–60, pls. 20, 33), stoas in the Middle and Upper Terrace Gymnasia (Schazmann, 1923, pp. 28–40, 47–48, pl. 20-26, 30; Rumscheid, 1994, p. 35), and Sillyon's Doric Stoa (Lanckoroński, 1890, pp. 82–83, fig. 66; Rumscheid, 1994, tafs. 184, 352, 3). These examples date from the 2nd century BC to the 1st century BC, and the use of such annulets came to an end during the Augustan period (Gider Büyüközer, 2013, p. 81, fn. 444; Yurtsever & Yılmaz Kolancı, 2022, p. 203). The Pessinus examples demonstrate a canonical design with the use of canonical measurements and a natural appearance, indicating that the Pessinus capitals should be dated to an earlier period than later examples.

Based on the mentioned examples and historical context, the stylistic features of the Doric capitals in Pergamon serve as a valuable reference for dating the Pessinus capitals (Cat. Nos. 5-9). The political relations between the two cities between 163-156 BC and the secret correspondence between the King of Pergamon and the High Priests of the Mother Goddess of Pessinus are well-documented (Coşkun, 2019; Avram & Tsetskhladze, 2014). During this period, Pessinus is expected to have experienced significant development activities with the support of the Pergamon Kingdom. The Pessinus capitals, which stylistically resemble the

Doric capitals of the lower level of the Stoa of Attalus in Athens, are likely to have been produced during the reign of Attalus II, when the secret correspondence between the two cities was ongoing. Hence, dating the Doric capitals in Cat. Nos. 5-9 to the period between 159-138 BC would be reasonable.

Another piece of evidence supporting this dating is the capitals from the North and East Stoas of the Athena Sanctuary in Pergamon, which have been dated between 197-159 BC (Rumscheid, 1994, p. 35, pl. 113, 8). These capitals display close stylistic similarities to the Pessinus capitals. However, the echini in the Pessinus examples rise at a steeper angle to the abacus, and the workmanship of the annulets is less plastic compared to the Pergamon examples. These stylistic differences suggest a period after the Pergamon examples. Considering that the structure housing the Pessinus capitals was a significant public building, it must have involved substantial costs. Pessinus is also known to have suffered a monetary loss after Rome's annexation of the Pergamon Kingdom in 133 BC (Verlinde, 2010, p. 132). Therefore, one may plausibly consider that this public building, along with the Doric capitals, had been constructed before 133 BC.

In conclusion, the stylistic analysis and historical evidence support dating the Doric capitals in Cat. Nos. 5-9 to the reign of Attalus II between 159-138 BC, during the time of increased political relations between Pergamon and Pessinus. This dating aligns with the significant development activities in Pessinus and takes into consideration the historical context of the monetary losses suffered after Romes annexation of Pergamon. Significant observations can be made regarding the architectural identity of the structure where Doric capitals have been extensively identified. Recent findings from studies on ancient structures surrounded by stoas necessitate a reevaluation of this structure. The following subsection conducts an examination of the architectural identity of the Quadriporticus (Sector H) based on current research and brings forth new interpretations regarding the structure's architectural identity.⁸

The Quadriporticus (Sector H) where the Doric capitals labeled as Cat. Nos. 5-9 were found has been the 8 subject of extensive archaeological excavation. These excavations have provided valuable information about the architectural characteristics of the structure, indicating it to have the characteristics of a Rhodian peristyle/ quadriporticus, particularly in relation to the east and north stoas (Devreker et al., 2008, pp. 152-153, fig. 9; Devreker et al., 2009, p. 66, fig. 6; Verlinde, 2010, p. 124; 2015a, p. 61). Throughout the exploration of this area, various designations have been proposed, such as an agora, an independent palestra, a gymnasium, and a heroon (Verlinde, 2010, pp. 121-124; Verlinde, 2015a, p. 61, fn. 113). However, before delving into these studies and proposals, understanding the architectural character of gymnasia in Anatolia is essential. A. Yurtsever (2022, p. 368) identified four key features of Hellenistic gymnasia in Anatolia: an area surrounded by columns (palestra/peristyle), a monumental entrance structure (propylon), covered private spaces located directly opposite the monumental entrance, and integration with water features, often transformed into bathhouses in the Roman period and usually associated with water. Some of these features are evident in the specific peristyle structure of Pessinus, including the palestra/peristyle and the accentuated design of the front facade opposite the entrance. Archaeological findings have also revealed the presence of alabastron in the area and provided information about the water system on the north side (Verlinde, 2015a, p. 61). However,

Conclusion

This research has aimed to examine the architectural features and historical significance of the Doric capitals in Pessinus. Throughout the article, the analyses and comparative studies have revealed the Doric capitals in Pessinus to exhibit a striking style and the influence of Pergamon to be evident due to the close relationship between the two cities. The different styles of the neck sections of the capitals, adorned with stepped profiles and V-shaped annulets, the variety in the echinus profiles, the flat abacus tables, and the crowning parts with Pergamon ovolo all indicate a rich diversity in architectural activity. The study has also focused on the dating of the Doric capitals in Pessinus, with the analyses suggesting these capitals to have been used from the 2nd century BC to the first quarter of the 1st century AD. Between the 3rd-2nd centuries BC, the Doric order was widely used in large public buildings in Anatolia. Fochetti (2020, p. 120) made a significant observation regarding the historical evolution of the use of the Doric order in Anatolia:

Doric order's prominent use in public buildings in the Province of Asia spanned from the 3rd century BC to the late 2nd century BC. The decline in its use started in the early 1st century BC due to reduced architectural activities in Asia Minor, a consequence of political instability during the last years of the Roman Republic. However, during the Augustan age when public construction activities revived, the decline of the Doric order had already

for a definitive classification of the area as a palestra or gymnasium, the available data may be insufficient. Furthermore, the purpose of the water channels on the north side of the Quadriporticus remains unclear, making determining the exact function of the structure difficult.

The identification of the Quadriporticus as a traditional gymnasium/palestra is doubtful, as its characteristics do not fully match those of other Hellenistic period gymnasia in Anatolia. The definition proposed by Verlinde (2010, pp. 121-125) based on the gymnasium in Miletus known as the Gymnasium of Eudemos (Emme, 2013, pp. 113-118), has also been challenged by recent research, revealing its affiliation with the administration of the city of Miletus (Emme, 2013, pp. 113-118; 2018, p. 145; see also Trümper, 2015, pp. 196-203). According to B. Emme (2018, p. 145), the structure in Miletus commonly referred to as the gymnasium can be explained "due to its position at the center of the city as well as its spatial and chronological relationship to the neighboring bouleuterion, the alleged Hellenistic gymnasium of Miletus might have housed a political or administrative institution of the city, instead." Furthermore, drawing parallels between the Quadriporticus in Pessinus and the Hellenistic ruler cult temenos in Pergamon as made by Verlinde reveals few comparable qualities. Emme (2018, pp. 144-149) offered valuable insights into the potential mislabeling of structures as gymnasia and highlighted the influence of symposium halls where city elites gathered on the design of such buildings. From this perspective, the Quadriporticus may have served as a meeting place for the city's elite, especially for priests. It may also have been associated with the administration of the city. In addition, the incomplete excavation and underground nature of a significant portion of the structure leave its relationship with the surrounding area unresolved. Attempts at restitution based on the limited documentation of structural elements should be treated as speculative hypotheses at this point. Patience is required, and further progress in archaeological excavations in this area may yield new findings that will contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of the true purpose and architectural identity of the Quadriporticus at Pessinus.

In conclusion, despite extensive research, uncertainty still exists in ascertaining the precise function of the Quadriporticus due to the lack of definitive evidence. As a result of its unique architectural characteristics and discrepancies concerning traditional gymnasia, an interpretation with caution is required. Keeping in mind the complex historical and cultural context of the region, future archaeological excavations and discoveries will be crucial in elucidating the enigmatic Quadriporticus and its significance in the ancient city of Pessinus.

begun. The long decline of the Doric order in public buildings culminated in its general disuse from the late 1st century AD. As evidence of this, Doric public buildings from the 2nd century AD are scarce in the Province of Asia, much like in Asia Minor, and can be seen as isolated cases.

Fochetti's significant observation regarding the use of Doric architecture in Asia Minor should be applicable to the usage of Doric architecture in Pessinus as well. Pessinus is likely to have produced noteworthy architectural achievements during the Hellenistic and Augustan periods. Notably, these eras witnessed significant cultural and artistic advancements in Pessinus, and the Doric capitals under consideration are regarded as valuable relics from that era. When considering the form and dimensions of Cat. Nos. 2-4, investigating the existence of a substantial public building or a temple associated with the Augustan period in Pessinus becomes imperative.

The section on the Architectural identity of the Quadriporticus emphasizes the importance of the excavations carried out in the area where the Cat. Nos. 5-9 Doric capitals were found. The data obtained in this section, along with the analyses and comparisons made on the structure, provide important information about the function of the building examined under different headings such as palestra/gymnasium. However, more archaeological data and progress in excavation work are said to be needed regarding the structure. The Doric capitals in Pessinus are an important part of the ancient artistic heritage and belong to a rich architectural period. They are considered valuable representatives of the city's architectural identity and cultural heritage. However, some questions remain unanswered about the exact structure and usage purpose of these capitals, as information about their original findspots or the buildings they belonged to are yet to be had.

In conclusion, this study provides a detailed examination of the architectural and stylistic features of the Doric capitals in Pessinus and makes a unique contribution to the artistic heritage of ancient cities in Asia Minor. Additionally, the close relationship between Pergamon and Pessinus has served as a significant reference for explaining the influence on the architectural style in Pessinus. The findings from this study will shed light on the understanding of other ancient structures in Asia Minor and guide future archaeological research.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: The author has no conflict of interest to declare.

Acknowledgments: This study is supported by T.R. It was carried out under the permission and supervision of the Ministry of Culture and Tourism, General Directorate of Cultural Heritage and Museums and Eskişchir Archeology Museum Directorate. I would like to thank the Ministry and the Museum for providing the necessary permissions.

Grant Support: If available, indicate the source of financial support. The research was supported by Anadolu University Project Unit (BAP Project No: 2205E043).

References

Alzinger, W. (1974) Augusteische Architektur in Ephesos. Wien.

Avram, A. & Tsetskhladze, G. R. (2014). A New Attalid Letter from Pessinus. ZPE 191, 151-181.

Bohn, R. (1885). Das Heiligtum der Athena Polias Nikephoros. AvP. II. Berlin.

Bernardi Ferrero, D, (1988). Batı Anadolu'nun Eski Çağ Tiyatroları. (Çev. E. Özbayoğlu), Ankara.

Claerhout, I. & Devreker, J. (2008). Ana Tanrıçanın Kutsal Kenti Pessinus. İstanbul.

- Coşkun, A. (2019). The 'Temple State' of Phrygian Pessinus in the Context of Seleukid, Attalid, Galatian and Roman Hegemonial Politics (3rd–1st Centuries BC). In: G. R. Tsetskhladze (Ed.), Phrygia in Antiquity: From the Bronze Age to the Byzantine Period: Proceedings of an International Conference "The Phrygian Lands over Time: From Prehistory to the Middle of the 1st Millennium AD, Anadolu University, Eskisehir, Turkey, 2nd-8th November 2015 (Vol. 24, pp. 607–648). Peeters Publishers. Doi: 10.2307/j.ctv1q26v1n.35
- Devreker, J., & Thoen, H., & Vermeulen, F. (1995). The Imperial Sanctuary at Pessinus and its Predecessors: A Revision. *Anatolia Antiqua 3*, 125-144. Doi: 10.3406/anata.1995.118
- Devreker, J. vd. (2009). Archaeological Excavations in Pessinus (Turkey): The 2008 Campaign. *KST 31(1)*, 59-76.
- Devreker, J. vd. (2010). Archaeological Excavations in Pessinus (Turkey): The 2008 Campaign. Anatolia Antiqua 18, 141-156. doi: https://doi.org/10.3406/anata.2010.1306
- Emme, B. (2013). Peristyl und Polis. Entwicklung und Funktionen öffentlicher griechischer Hofanlagen. Berlin 2013.
- Emme, B. (2018). The Emergence and Significance of the Palaestra Type in Greek Architecture. In: U. Mania – M. Trümper (Eds.), *Development of Gymnasia and Graeco-Roman Cityscapes* (pp. 143–159). Berlin.
- Fochetti, B. (2020). Aspects of Continuity and Change in the Doric Order of the Province of Asia during the Imperial Period. In: U. Lohner-Urban & U. Quatember (Eds.), Zwischen Bruch und Kontinuität. Architektur in Kleinasien am Übergang vom Hellenismus zur römischen Kaiserzeit. İstanbul, 119-132.
- Gider, Z. (2012). Lagina Kuzey Stoanın Ön Cephe Düzenlemesi. In: (B. Söğüt ed.), Stratonikeia'dan Lagina'ya, A. A. Tırpan'a Armağan. İstanbul, 263-280.
- Gider Buyukozer, Z. (2013). Karia Bölgesi Dor Mimarisi [Unpublished doctoral dissertation]. Selcuk Universitesi, Konya.
- Gider Büyüközer, Z. (2020). Knidos Dorik Stoa (Sostratos?): Stilistik Değerlendirme. Olba 28, 131-164.

Hellström, P. (1984). Labraunda 1983, AST 2, 131-138.

Kadıoğlu, M. (2021). Teos. Yazıtlar, Kültler ve Kentsel Doku. İstanbul.

- Lanckoroński K. G. (1890). Städte Pamphyliens und Pisidiens I. Wien.
- Mert, İ. H. (2002). Der Theater-Tempelkomplex von Stratonikeia. In: (Berns et al, eds.), Patris und Imperium. Kulturelle und politische Identität in den Städten der römischen Provinzen Kleinasiens in der frühen Kaiserzeit. Kolloquium Köln, November 1998. Leuven, 187-202.
- Mert, İ. H. (2008). Untersuchungen zur hellenistischen und kaiserzeitlichen Bauornamentik von Stratonikeia. Tubingen.
- Mert, İ. H. (2016). Priene'deki Gıda Pazar. Olba 24, 353-418.

Mitchell, S. (1994). Cremna in Pisidia. Duckworth.

- Uz, D. M. (1985). Teos Dionysos Tapınağı Temenos Alanı. AST 3, 227-242.
- Uz, D. M. (2013). Teos'taki Dionysos Tapınağı. Ankara.
- Pensabene, P. (2004). Non stelle, ma il sole. Il contributo della planimetria e della decorazione architettonica alla definizione del santuario di Cibele a Pessinunte. ArchCl 55, 83-143.

Rumscheid, F. (1994). Untersuchungen zur Kleinasiatischen Bauornamentik des Hellenismus. Mainz.

- Rumscheid, F. (2000). Priene: Küçük Asya'nın Pompeisi. İstanbul.
- Schazmann, P. (1923). Das Gymnasion. Der Tempelbezirk der Hera Basileia. AvP VI, Berlin.
- Smith, R. R. R. (2013). The Marble Reliefs from The Julio-Claudian Sebasteion. AphPapers 6, Mainz.
- Söğüt, B. (2019). Stratonikeia (Eskihisar) ve Kutsal Alanları. Stratonikeia Çalışmaları 5. İstanbul.
- Shoe, L. T. (1936). Profiles of Greek Mouldings. Cambridge.
- Taşlıalan, M. (1994). Pisidia Antiocheia'sı 1992 Yılı Çalışmaları. MKKS 4, 245-284.
- Trümper, M. (2015). Modernization and Change of Function of Hellenistic Gymnasia in the Imperial Period. In: P. Scholz & D. Wiegandt (Eds.), *Das kaiserzeitliche Gymnasion*. Berlin: De Gruyter, 127–149.
- Tsetskhladze, G. R. (2009). Notes on Phrygian Pessinus. In: H. Sağlamtimur vd., (Eds.), Altan Çilingiroğlu'na Armağan. Yukarı Denizin Kıyısında Urartu Krallığı'na Adanmış Bir Hayat (pp. 703-710). İstanbul.
- Tsetskhladze, G. R. (2019). On Pessinus in Pre-Hellenistic Times. In: *Pessinus and Its Regional Setting*. Vol. 2 (pp. 23-62). Peeters.
- Vasdaris, C. (1987). Das dorische Kapitell in der hellenistisch-römischen Zeit im östlichen Mittelmeerraum. Athen.
- Verlinde, A. (2010). Monumental Architecture in Hellenistic and Julio-Claudian Pessinus. BABESCH, 85, 111–139. doi: 10.2143/BAB.85.0.2059892.
- Verlinde, A. (2015a). The Pessinuntine Sanctuary of the Mother of the Gods in light of the excavated Roman temple. *Latomus*, 74(T. 1), 30-72. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/48574657
- Verlinde, A. (2015b). The Roman Sanctuary Site at Pessinus: From Phrygian to Byzantine Times. Peeters.
- Vitr. De arch.: Vitruvius, De Architectura Libri Decem.
- Yıldırım, N. (2018). Lyrbe Agorası. In (T. Kahya et al., eds.), Uluslararasi Genç Bilimciler Buluşmasi II: Anadolu Akdenizi Sempozyumu, Antalya, November 2015, 831-844.
- Yurtsever, A. (2022). On the Identity of the Bath-Gymnasia in the Pamphylian Region. In: G. Koiner M. Lehner E. Trinkl (Eds.), Akten des 18. Österreichischen Archäologentages am Institut für Archäologie der Universität Graz (367-378). Graz: Phoibos Verlag.
- Yurtsever, A. (2023). Taşınır ve Taşınmaz Kültür Varlıklarının Yeni Nesil Lidar Sensörlü Tablet Bilgisayar ile Belgelenmesi. Geomatik 8/2, 200-207.
- Yurtsever, A., & Yılmaz Kolancı, B., (2022). Attouda Antik Kenti Dor Başlıkları. Cedrus 10, 191-210.

Cat. No.	Material Type	Discovery Location	Dimen.	Ovolo Profile	Aba. H.	Ech. H.	Ann. H.	Neck H.	Dowel	Proposed Dating
1 (Fig.2,11)	Marble	Excavation House Garden	H. 16cm, W. 39 cm, D. 33 cm	3 cm	5,5 cm	3 cm	1 cm	3.5 cm	-	Early Augustan Period - 27 BC to 14 AD
2 (Fig.3, 12)	Marble	Excavation House Garden	H. 25.5 cm, W. 64 cm, D. 55.5 cm	-	8 cm	8 cm	3.5 cm	6 cm	4x4x5 cm	Augustan Period
3 (Fig.4, 12)	Marble	Excavation House Garden	H. 21.5 cm, W. 65 cm, D. 55 cm	-	8 cm	5.5 cm	3.5 cm	4.5 cm	4x4x4 cm	Augustan Period
4 (Fig.5, 12)	Marble	Excavation House Garden	H. 24.5 cm, W. 65 cm, D. 55 cm	3.5/4 cm	5 cm	6 cm	3.5 cm	6.5 cm	5x4x4 cm	Augustan Period
5 (Fig.6,13)	Sandstone	Temple Area- Quadriporticus East Stoa	H. 23.5 cm, W. 55.5 cm, D. 42 cm	-	8 cm	6 cm	2 cm	7.5 cm	7x7x5 cm	159-138 BC (Proposed)
6 (Fig.7,13)	Sandstone	Temple Area- Quadriporticus East Stoa	H. 23.5 cm, W. 63 cm, D. 41 cm	-	8 cm	5 cm	2 cm	8.5 cm	7x7x6 cm	159-138 BC (Proposed)
7 (Fig.8,13)	Sandstone	Temple Area- Quadriporticus East Stoa	H. 24.5 cm, W. 60 cm, D. 43.5 cm	-	8 cm	6 cm	1.5 cm	9 cm	7x7x7 cm	159-138 BC (Proposed)
8 (Fig.9,13)	Sandstone	Temple Area- Quadriporticus East Stoa	H. 24.5 cm, W. 60 cm, D. 43.5 cm	-	8 cm	6 cm	1.5 cm	9 cm	7x7x7 cm	159-138 BC (Proposed)
9 (Fig.10)	Sandstone	Temple Area- Quadriporticus East Stoa	H. 27.5 cm, W. 58 cm, D. 43 cm	-	8 cm	7 cm	1.5 cm	11 cm	7x6x6 cm	159-138 BC (Proposed)
In the table: H stands for Height , W for Width , and D for Depth . Dimen .: Dimencion, Aba .: Abacus, Ech .: Echinus, Ann .: Annulet										

Table 1. Catalog information of the Doric capitals



Figure 1: The profile drawings of the Doric capitals classified as Cat. Nos. 1, 2-4, and 5-9.



Figure 2: General view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 1.



Figure 3: General and detailed view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 2.



Figure 4: General view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 3.



Figure 5: General and detailed view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 4.



Figure 6: General and detailed view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 5.



Figure 7: General and detailed view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 6.



Figure 8: General view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 7.



Figure 9: General and detailed view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 8.



Figure 10: General and detailed view of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 9.



Figure 11: Scaled drawing of the Doric capital with Cat. No. 1.



Figure 12: Restituted drawings of the Doric capitals with Cat. Nos. 2-4 scaled.



Figure 13: Restituted drawings of the Doric capitals with Cat. Nos. 5-8, based on canonical measurements.



Anadolu Araştırmaları Anatolian Research



AnAr, 29, 117–134 DOI: 10.26650/anar.2023.29.1361477

Research Article

Assessments on an Unpublished Tarsus Coin and the Marsyas Statue of Tarsus Origin

Fatih Erhan¹, Işık Albasan², Faris Demir³



¹Assoc.Prof. Dr., Osmaniye Ata Korkut University, Department of Archeology, Osmaniye, Turkiye ²Dr, Independent Researcher, Mimar Sinan Fine Arts University, Department of Classical Archeology, Istanbul, Turkiye ³Assoc.Prof. Dr., Osmaniye Ata Korkut University, Department of Archeology, Osmaniye, Turkiye

ORCID ID: F.E. 0000-0002-6690-1050; I.A. 0000-0002-8977-4613; F.D. 0000-0001-8370-4350

Corresponding author: Işık Albasan,

Aziz Mahmut Hüdai Mah. Manastırlı İsmail Hakkı Sok. No: 28, Doğancılar-Üsküdar/İstanbul E-mail: isikalbasan@gmail.com / camilla.9035@omail.com

Submitted: 16.09.2023 Revision Requested: 02.11.2023 Last Revision Received: 13.11.2023 Accepted: 22.12.2023

Citation: Erhan, F., Albasan, I., & Demir, F. (2023). Assessments on an unpublished Tarsus coin and the Marsyas statue of Tarsus origin. *Anadolu Araştırmaları-Anatolian Research*, *29*, 117–134. https://doi.org/10.26650/anar.2023.29.1361477

ABSTRACT

The tragic story of Marsyas has inspired many artifacts over many periods. This story is depicted in vase paintings, statues, sculpture groups, reliefs, sarcophagi, gems and coins. The inspiration for these descriptions is the Athena and Marsyas sculpture group of Myron, one of the Classical Period artists. After this group of sculptures, the artists dealt with and depicted the most tragic part of the Marsyas story, the music competition with the God Apollo and the punishment of Marsyas. Within the scope of the study, first of all, the story of Marsyas and its reflection on artifacts are discussed. Then, the main subject of the study, a coin belonging to Maximinus Thrax I, which was recovered from Tarsus, is unpublished scientifically and dated back to the 3rd century AD, depicting the musical contest between Apollo and Marsyas, is examined in detail. Later, a comparative evaluation is made of the coin and the Marsyas statue, which has the same subject, recovered from Tarsus and is currently exhibited in the Istanbul Archaeological Museums, and a new composition proposal is made for the statue.

Keywords: Cilicia, Tarsus, Apollo, Roman Coin, Marsyas Statue



Introduction

Over the centuries, Marsyas and his tragic story have inspired countless artifacts. Thus, the story of Marsyas is frequently depicted in vase paintings, reliefs, sarcophagi, gems, coins and paintings, primarily in sculpture groups and single sculptures. Within the scope of this study, focusing on the story of Marsyas, a scientifically unpublished coin from Tarsus and a statue originating from Tarsus are examined.

The coin that is the subject of the study was minted in the city of Tarsus during the reign of Maximinus Thrax I (235-238 AD). The coin was first offered for sale on an auction site¹ in 2005. Later, it was included in many web pages related to numismatics and in the catalog of a doctoral thesis completed in 2014 (Erhan, 2014), only in catalog form with incomplete and incorrect information. Therefore, the coin, which has a bust portrait of the emperor on the obverse and a depiction of the musical contest between Apollo and Marsyas on the reverse of the coin, has not yet been scientifically published.

Another artifact examined in the study, the Marsyas statue, was found in the city of Tarsus and is currently exhibited in the Collection of Stone Artifacts² in Istanbul Archaeological Museums ³ (Collignon, 1897; Mendel 1914). Many publications have been made about this statue from the late 19 th century to the present day. Accordingly, it is thought that the statue exhibited alone may be part of a group of statues originating from the Hellenistic Period.

Considering the fact the depictions on ancient coins have been influenced or copied by statues and statue groups since the Hellenistic Period, in the study a section on the reevaluation of the Marsyas statue in IAM in the terms of composition is also added in addition to the scientific publication of the coin for the first time.

The Story of Marsyas and Its Reflection in Artifacts

Although it varies according to sources, Marsyas of Phyrgia is considered to be the son of Hyganis and the flute player Olympos (sometimes River God Oiagros) (Grimal, 1997). While he is an ordinary satyr or silenos, his story becomes widely known as a result of his competition with the God Apollo. In the texts, Herodotus (1991), Diodorus of Sicily (1814), Strabo (1928), Pausanias (1918) and Ovid (1987) tell us the story of Marsyas, one of the most striking examples of arrogance (hybris) and punishment as a result of competing with

¹ CNG 69, Lot: 1163, June 2005. (Online, 23.07.2023: https://www.engcoins.com/Coins_ archive. ,aspx?CONTAINER_ID=176&ITEM_IS_SOLD=1

² Istanbul Archaeology Museums, Stone Artifacts Collection, In. Nu. 400. The work permit of the Marsyas statue was received from IAM in 2016, but the publication process was prolonged.

³ In the following sections, the institution will be referred to with the abbreviation IAM.

the gods. The starting point of the story is the invention of the aulos (double flute).⁴ The story continues with Athena, angry at Hera and Aphrodite, cursing the flute and throwing it into a river in the Phyria.⁵ The development and main point of the story is the events that occur after Marysas finds the aulos in the waters of the river and challenges the God Apollo. There is no difference in tradition or the version here. A similar story is told in every source.⁶ The difference is only in the identities of the referees in the competition held.⁷ But the main story and tragic outcome do not change.⁸

This unfortunate and sad story has been told for centuries. In this way, what will happen as a result of competing with the gods and being arrogant is engraved in memory. This subject is so loved that the story of Marsyas is constantly depicted in many artifacts from ancient times to the present day.

⁴ According to some sources, Marsyas invents the aulos. Strabo (1928) considers Silenos, Marsyas and Olympos as the inventors of the flute. However, in other sources Goddess Athena is mentioned as the inventor of aulos. Athena invents the aulos from deer bone during a feast before the gods (Grimal, 1997; Ausoni, 2005).

⁵ Although the discovery of aulos is told in two different versions or traditions, the transition point that allows us to step from the beginning of the story to its development is the same. In both versions, while Goddess Athena is very happy to play the aulos, producing divine melodies, Goddess Hera and Aphrodite see her; they make fun of Athena by looking at her face as her cheeks swell when she blows the aulos. Athena, resentful and upset by this situation, sits on the bank of a river in the Phyrgia; while playing the aulos, she also looks at the shape of her face. She finds her face while playing the musical instrument really ugly and agrees with Goddess Hera and Aphrodite. In her anger, Athena throws the aulos into the waters of the river, and while doing this, she curses anyone who finds and plays this musical instrument, saying that it will bring bad luck and bad luck to him (Keer, 2004; Ausoni, 2005).

⁶ To continue the story; Marsyas begins to play the aulos he finds with pleasure, playing it so much that he becomes a master of this musical instrument. At this point, it is not known whether it is due to the curse of the Goddess Athena or whether he says that he masters something, that he is now the best, and that he falls into arrogance (hybris) like everyone else. Marsyas claims that he can compete with God Apollo's lyra. Arrogance (hybris), a trait that the gods do not like, can not go unpunished. Here too, God Apollo comes into play. Responding to Marsyas' challenge, Apollo demands that a music contest be held in which the winner offers the loser to do whatever he wants. According to ancient sources, the competition is held on Mountain of Tmolos (Bozdağ) in Lydia (Keer, 2004; Cömert, 2010).

⁷ According to some, Phyrgian King Midas and nymphs are the referees; according to some, Phyrgian King Midas and the mouses act as referees.

⁸ In the competition, God Apollo plays his lyra and Marsyas plays his aulos. Then God Apollo suggests playing musical instruments by turning them upside down. Apollo manages to play his lyra by turning it upside down, whereas Marsyas cannot play it, considering that it is not possible to play a flute upside down. While the Muses declared God Apollo as the winner; King Midas says Marsyas wins. Angered by this, Apollo turns King Midas' ears into donkey ears. Ultimately, Apollo wins the contest. He gets angry and has Marsyas tied to the tree by his arms. He hires a Scythian slave and skinnes Marsyas alive. But later he becomes very upset about what he does, breaks his lyra with regret, turns Marsyas into a river and leaves music for a while (Tuchelt, 1970; Köktan, 2014; Cömert, 2010).

There are two types of Marsyas depiction in art. The first type is the group in which the unfortunate, tragic story of Marsyas is depicted.⁹ The inspiration for this group is the Athena-Marsyas group, made by Myron, dated around 450 BC and reflecting the moment when Marsyas discovered the flute. (Carpenter, 2002; Junker, 2002; Keer, 2004) (Fig. 1). After this date, both this moment with and the moment of the competition of Apollo and Marsyas, and the punishment of Marsyas are depicted frequently in vase paintings, sculptures and reliefs.¹⁰ Numerous stone and bronze Hellenistic and Roman copies, derived from the original of this group, exist (Fig. 1). The intensity, increased with the Hellenistic Period, reaches its peak, especially in the artifacts of the Roman Period and this story is also depicted in the sculpture groups, sarcophagi in open areas¹¹(Sande, 1982).

This story is often not conveyed holistically in stone artifacts. The story is shown in different versions in artifacts such as Marsyas alone, the Marsyas-Scythian slave group and the Marsyas-Scythian slave-God Apollo group. Especially while the number of examples showing Marsyas alone or with a Scythian slave is high; examples of multiple group sculptures are less common.

This subject is depicted very fondly, especially in the paintings and small artifacts of the Renaissance Period.¹² In the Type 2 depiction in ancient art, Marsyas is depicted alone, carrying a wineskin on his back. Here, Marsyas is shown slightly different from the physiological characteristics of the 1st type (short, pot-bellied, more in Silenos iconography). The first example of this type is a statue found in the Roman Forum, dated to 300 BC, according to sources. This type of Marsyas, of central Roman origin, is the source of inspiration for the Marsyas depictions on coins of the Republic and Imperial Periods (Schretz, 2005). This type has been a political symbol of the independence of Roman citizens since the 1st century BC. Especially during the Imperial Period, Marysas carrying wineskins can be seen quite often

⁹ Marsyas statues and sculpture groups within the scope of the first type can be divided into 2 subheadings in terms of their materials: red type and white type. The red type takes its name from the red veined marble. There are 3 examples made in red type. The white type gets its name because it is made of white marble. The number of examples of this type is 10 or more (Mendel, 1914; Üreten, 2013).

¹⁰ To give examples; in a red-figure Attic krater painted by the Pothos Painter and dated around 410 BC can be seen the moment of the musical contest between Apollo and Marsyas (Keer, 2004). On the relief of Mantineia, dated to 330 BC, the moment of competition between Marsyas-Apollo and a Scythian slave symbolizing the resulting punishment are depicted (Keer, 2004).

¹¹ The story is told developmentally on the front of the vessel of a Roman sarcophagus in the Louvre Musuem, dated to the 3rd century AD (The story flows from left to right. Goddess Athena at the starting point of the story, the contest between Marsyas and Apollo, accompanied by King Midas, the Mouses at main center of the story and the moment that Marsyas is tied to a tree, skinned at the tragic ending of the story are all compressed into a single scene. Marsyas and the Scythian slave group, dated to the first half of the 3rd century AD, unearthed in Manisa, a location close to Mountain of Tmolos, where the competition of Marsyas and Apollo is held, is an example of Roman Period artifacts. (Feuser, 2013; Üreten, 2013; Durugönül, 2015).

¹² A group of Marsyas and Scythian slaves are engraved on a dark red gemma belonging to Lorenzo Medici and currently exhibited in the Naples National Museum (Clark, 2018). Similarly, the story of Marsyas came to life again in a pencil drawing of the painter Pietro Novelli between 1632-33 (Ausoni, 2005).

on the reverse of coins minted in provinces outside the center of Rome. The best examples of this can be seen in the coins of Ninica-Claudipolis and Mallos, two colonial cities of the province of Cilicia where Tarsus is the capital. (Erhan, 2014) (Fig.2).

Tarsus Coin from the Period of Maximinus I

The coin, minted from bronze and preserved in medium condition, was first offered for sale on an auction site in 2005, was later included in some web pages related to numismatics and most recently in the catalog of a doctoral thesis completed in 2014 (Erhan, 2014) (Fig. 3). The coin has been included in these sources only in catalog form, with incomplete and incorrect information, since its first appearance in 2005.

Catalog:

Period of Maximinus I (Thrax, 235-38 AD)

Obverse: Radiate, clothed and armored bust of the emperor, to the right AYT K Γ IOY OYH MAEIMEINOC Π Π .

Reverse: Apollo sitting on the rock on the left, Midas sitting on the rock in the middle, Scythian slave sharpening his knife and Marsyas being hanged on the right, TAPCOY MHTPOIIOAE \mathcal{W} A M K Γ B.

AE 35 mm., 24.36 gr., ky. 1, CNG 69, Lot: 1163, June 2005 (Fig.3).

The physical characteristics of bust portrait and the legend on the obverse show that the coin belongs to the period of Roman Emperor Maximinus I. The obverse legend of the coin is the same except for one of the 14 different coins minted in Tarsus during the emperor's reign (Fig. 3).

Maximinus I, the first emperor of the period called Soldier Emperors during the Roman Empire, is depicted with a long, wide, bearded face with a radiate representing the Sun God Helios/Sol on his head. His forehead is steep, high and has a flat profile. He has a long, arched nose in middle and sunken nose tip that droops downwards. He has a strong chin tip and weak, sunken cheeks (Fig.3).

Researchers have identified three different types in all coin portraits of the emperor. In these, the emperor is depicted as having a straight forehead, a two-lined forehead and a three-lined forehead. However, the differences between the descriptions are vague and it is not possible to see them in the marble portraits (Özgan 2015). On the other hand, these details can be seen in the aureus, denarius, bronze sestertius and dupondius coins from the Roman state edition (RIC, pp. 129-135; RIC Plate X, XI). Among these, the closest similarity to the Tarsus coin is the radiate portrait depicted on a dupondius dated to 236 AD (OCRE 56; OCRE 57).

City mints of the region of Cilicia, portrait depictions of the emperor are seen in 11 cities except Tarsus.¹³ Among these, the coins belonging to the city of Ninica – Claudiopolis have the most diversity, with similar obverse portraits and 24 different reverse types. In Tarsus, 15 coins, including this coin, have both radiate portraits on the obverse and different types of reverse. Radiate portraits (two pieces in Anemurion and Philadelphia) are rarely seen in other cities. In Tarsus, the majority consists of radiate portraits (8 pieces). All of the obverses of these coins are produced from the same mold. The subjects on the reverses of these coins are Apollo Lykeios?, (BMC 215-6; Ziegler Kilikien 743; SNG Cop. 379; SNG France II, 1591), Emperor or Perseus (associated with the myth of the founding of the city) (BMC 218), judgement of Paris (SNG France II, 1587-1687.1), head of the City Goddess Tyche (Ziegler Kilikien, 744), City Goddess Tyche in temple (SNG Levante 1095; SNG France 1602), three graces (SNG Levante 1096; Ziegler Kilikien 741; BMC 233-235; SNG France II 1605-6; SNG Cop. 378; SNG Pfalz. 1382; SNG Righetti 1669; SNG Hunterian 34), Herakles and the golden apples of the Hesperides (SNG Levante 1097; SNG France II 1588; SNG Levante Suppl. 277). The sight of the emperor's radiate portrait on the obverses of this series, called "Maximinus' Mythological Series", should also indicate the existence of a cult related to the sun (Helios/Sol Invictus) in the city.

With the help of these coin depictions, four marble portrait replicas of the emperor have been identified so far, the most qualified of which are in the Roman Capitol Museum today. Other replicas are preserved in the Glyptothek in Copenhagen, the Louvre Museum in Paris and the National Museum in Rome (Özgan, 2015). The skull shape seen in the marble portraits repeats the portraits on the coins minted in 235-6 AD. This type, called the "Germanicus" type by researchers, must be the first original portrait type made on the occasion of Maximinus I becoming emperor (Özgan, 2015). It is possible to think that the type on the Tarsus coin should be evaluated in this group and called "Germanicus Type". Therefore, the year 235-6 AD can be suggested as the minting date for the coin without a date.

On the reverse of the coin, there is a mythological scene depicting the music competition between Apollo and Marsyas (Fig. 3). The Phrygian King Midas, in the middle of the scene, looks at the god Apollo playing the lyra on the left with "admiration". However, when we look at what is reported from ancient sources about this myth, it is understood that Midas declares Marsyas the winner as a result of the competition, and Apollo, who is angry at this, turns his ears into donkey ears. The fact that donkey ears are not seen in the depiction and, moreover, that the clothing is not in Phrygian style, raises questions about the identity of the figure (Fig. 3). Since there are no similar depictions on the coins, other artifacts are examined to solve this identification problem. Upon detailed examination, it is determined

¹³ These are Adana, Anazarbos, Flaviopolis, Epiphaneia, Eirenpolis- Neronias in Lowland Cilicia. These are Anemurion, Philadelphia, Karallia, Kolybrassos, Koropissos and Ninica Claudiopolis in Rough Cilicia.

that the artifact that most closely resembles the scene on the coin is the Roman sarcophagus, exhibited in the Louvre Museum, where the Apollo-Marsyas music competition is depicted. A scene consisting of 10 figures is depicted on one of the long sides of the sarcophagus. The story begins with Athena from left to right on the scene and ends with Marsyas being hanged. The sarcophagus is dated to the 3rd century AD (290-300 AD in some publications) (Fig.4). Although their numbers are different, the engraving of the figures on the sarcophagus is very similar to the scene on the coin. Moreover, the coin and the sarcophagus are produced in close proximity to each other. The figure in the middle of the coin is depicted as broadershouldered and more masculine than both Apollo and Marsyas. If this is not an incompetence of the coin molder, as in other details, it is certain that the figure in the middle is male (Fig.5). In the sarcophagus, the figure in the middle (the third figure from left to right) is almost completely similar to the figure on the coin, except for the movement of the head back (which is to look at Apollo). However, the prominent depiction of breasts in this figure suggests that it may be one of the mouses (possibly Euterpe) (Fig.5). However, in the continuation of the story in the sarcophagus, towards the end of the scene, there is another male figure at the top (seventh figure from left to right), which is similar to the male figure in the coin in terms of sitting and clothing (Fig. 6). Studies on the sarcophagus suggest that this figure is Midas. In light of this information, it turns out that identifying the figure on the coin as Midas is the most accurate option for now.

In the scene on the coin, the figure between Midas and Marsyas is referred to as "animal", "?", "lion" in all previous sources. However, it is clear that this figure, which is often seen next to Marsyas in artifacts, is a Scythian slave sharpening his knife. It can be thought that this error is caused partly by the incompetence of the coin molder and partly by the poor condition of the coin. As a matter of fact, the figure located right next to Marsyas in the Roman sarcophagus is depicted very similarly, although his head is facing the opposite direction compared to the coin (Fig. 6).

In the scene, from left to right, there is Apollo sitting on a rock and holding a lyra in his hand, Midas sitting on a rock to his right, a Scythian slave sharpening his knife, and Marsyas hanging on a tree on the far right (Fig.3). This scene with four figures is not seen in any other artifact with this arrangement and number. Therefore the description is unique not only in coins but in all artifacts.

There is no definitive evidence as to why this scene is chosen on the coin. However, it is clear that this group, called the "Maximinus' Mythological Series", is related to the crisis of Rome in the 3rd century AD. In this crisis environment which emerges due to reasons such as the Sasanian threat in the East, the rise of Christianity and economic difficulties, it is not a coincidence that myths, which have an important place in the belief system of the local people, are featured on the coins in this density. Here, Tarsus' effort to regain the regional

leadership it lost to Anazarbos during the Severus Dynasty and to obtain some privileges must play in an important role. For Rome, the perception that "Emperor cares and protects the people of Tarsus" may be created in order to increase the loyalty of the local people.

The main reason why this scene is chosen on the coin must be related to the cult of Apollo in the city, rather than Marsyas. The settlement history of Tarsus dates back the Neolithic Period. Despite this, the city's colonization by the Argives, probably starting from the 7th century BC, also affects the belief system of Tarsus in the Archaic and Classical Period. During this period, the Greek tradition of attributing a city-founder hero to each city led to Perseus taking place of Sandan, who is accepted as the local founder of the city in Tarsus, especially from the Hellenistic Period onwards. Because Perseus, from Argos, is considered the ancestor of many Greek heroes and ctistes especially Heracles. As a matter of fact, when it comes to the Roman Imperial Period (2nd and 3rd centuries AD), an iconography similar to Perseus and Apollo Lyceios (even though they are not actually related) is frequently seen on Tarsus city coins, related to the cult and city foundation. Although it has been attempted to connect the god sometimes with the Lycian Region and therefore the light and sometimes with the wolf, due to the iconographic similarity, these claims have not been definitively proven. However, since Apollo is the god or ancestor of the Argives and all the city founder Greek heroes, he must also be accepted as the ancestor of Perseus. So, the cult of Apollo must have settled in Tarsus and found its place on the Maximinus coin.

Evaluations on the Composition of the Marsyas Statue in IAM

Many publications have been made about the Marsyas statue in IAM.¹⁴ The statue, found around the second Roman bath in Tarsus and brought to IAM, is within the scope of the first type depicting the story of Marsyas (Collignon, 1897; Mendel, 1914). A detailed description

¹⁴ The first publication about this statue is made by Collignon (1897). Later, when Mendel (1914) publishes the catalogs of the artifacts in the musuem, he also includes the Marsyas statue. Among the current publications, the Marsyas statue is discussed in Özgan's (2018) publication.

of the statue is made by Mendel (1914)¹⁵ (Fig. 7). In modern researches, it is suggested that the tension observeds in all details on Marsyas's body is caused by a cut on his back that is apparently made with a cutting tool¹⁶ (Fig. 8). The statue is dated by almost all researchers to the High Hellenistic (Baroque Style) Period, mainly to the end of the 3rd century BC¹⁷.

Although the Marsyas statue is produced as a single statue, it is certain that it is

- 15 The current height of the statue made of crystallized white marble is 130.5 cm. The statue above the bicep and below the knee is broken and missing. The right and left legs below the kneecap, the tail and the genitals are missing and broken. The nose, the arch of the right eyebrow, the left eyelid, the tips of the ears, the right curls of the hair are damaged. There is wear on the forehead, left brow arch, and right ear. There are slits on the right side of its back, where it is attached to the tree trunk. There is calcification and blackening in the back area between the hips and the chest. The antique shine on the front has been preserved. The figure is hung on a tree branch by its arms. Marsyas' head is turned slightly to the left, with his chest bent forward. Due to the hanging movement, the arms and upper chest are pulled vertically and tensely to the sides. The skin is stretched on the ribcage and protrudes downwards from the ribs. The abdominal cavity has collapsed inward and the hips, which are stretched in front and behind, have become narrow. The artist does his best to reflect the tense and angry inner world of Marsyas. All anatomical details have been carefully crafted on the weak, dry and tenselooking body. The curly hair on the forehead and temples is tangled and fluffy. Their mustaches and beards, which also have the same curl characteristics, are combined. His forehead protrudes forward. The arch of the eyebrow is highly emphasized above the bridge of the nose. The nose, which has wide holes, is very prominent because it is sunken inwards. His eyes are rendered as if they were popping out of their sockets. Slightly parted lips, as if screaming. There is a very strong expression of anger on the face along with pain (Mendel, 1914)
- 16 The artist has reflected Marsyas's situation and his mood in a very subtle way. The pain on the face and the suffering during torture are perfectly rendered. Anatomical details such as tense muscles and bone structure are compatible with the movement of the figure. According to the story, Marsyas is skinned. The artist emphasizes this detail very well in the artifact. There is a knife-shaped slit on the figure's back. This slit made with cutting tools is 6 cm wide and 15 cm long. The artist even reflects muscle tissue through this slit (Karagöz, 2008).
- 17 Stylistic features such as the structure of the body and muscles, the embodiment of tension and pain in the details, dynamism and mobility are evident. On the face, opposites are given together. On the one hand, the wrinkled forehead and sagging skin, but on the other hand, the tension caused by anger and the suffering of torture can be seen on the face. If we look at examples of analogies in the context of style criticism and dating; The Galatian head from the Great Galatian Group (Özgan, 2018), dedicated to Attalos I (King of Pergamon) and dated to around 230 BC, bears similarities with the facial details of the Marsyas figure. In both figures, the head turned to the left, forehead wrinkles caused by pain, flared nostrils, half-open mouth slightly open due to pain, thick bangs, active and messy hair are similar. As another analogical example in terms of dating, it is possible to give the gigants on the Gigantomakhia Frieze in the Zeus Altar of Pergamon, dating back to around 180 BC, from the period of Eumenes II. The tension and detailed rendering in the body muscles of the Alcyoneus figure, the expression of pain, dramatization, wildness on the face, the depiction of the hair in thick, messy tufts, the wrinkled forehead, thick eyelids, protruding eyes, and the mouth slightly open due to pain show similarities with the Marsyas statue. Qualities such as dynamism, pathos and exaggerated reflection of emotions, which are the most basic of baroque features, are present in both sculptures. For the dating of the statue, the style features, the statements of the researchers and the analogy point to the High Hellenistic Period. It is possible to date the Marsyas statue towards the end of the 3rd century BC. In addition to all these, Fleischer (1991) states in his publication that the Marsyas statue group is more than a mythological story and can also be associated with a historical event. Around 250 BC, many important historical events take place in Western Anatolia. One of the most important of these events concerns the Seleucid King Antiochus III (223-187 BC). Since the king will make an eastern expedition, he assigns his commander Akhaios to protect the west (214-213 BC). But Achaeus, who gains power, declares himself the king of Sardis and mints coins in his name. But Antiochus, who receives this news, immediately comes to Sardis and punishes Akhaios. This punishment is similar to Apollo's method of punishing Marsyas. For this reason, Fleischer (1991) emphasizes that a historical event is immortalized with a mythological story.

iconographically part of a group statue. There are various composition suggestions regarding the figures next to the statue. According these suggestions, Marsyas is depicted as one. It is depicted as the Marsyas–Scythian slave group or Marsyas-Scythian slave-Apollo group. According to the suggestion of Karagöz (2008) who has recently worked on the statue, it can be thought that on the right of Marsyas hanging from the tree, there is a Scythian slave crouching down, sharpening his knife to start the skinning process, and on the left of Marsyas, there is the God Apollo watching this event. Karagöz (2008) states that the composition should be like this, citing examples on the subject from both Anatolia and Rome.

According to Özgan (2018), as can be understood from the Marsysas copies of the Roman Period, it is possible that the Marsyas statue in the IAM and the Scythian slave in the Uffizi Gallery in Florence are a group together. According to the suggestion, Marsyas is shown in the group with his hands tied to a tree. Directly opposite him, a Scythian slave with a himation on his back is crouching on the ground. He sharpens his knife with both hands. The Scythian slave raises his head slightly and looks at Marsyas in front of him (Özgan, 2018) (Fig. 9). This suggestion reinforces the identification of the third figure in the depiction on the Tarsus coin as a Scythian slave. However, according to the coin, it should be facing Apollo and Midas, not Marsyas.

In addition to these suggestions made by sculpture experts, it is possible to propose a new composition for the Marsyas statue in the IAM in relation to the scene on the reverse side of coin, which is examined in detail for the first time in this study. As a matter of fact, the depiction of the statue groups, especially cult statues, from the Archaic and Classical Periods on coins is very common in ancient numismatics since the Hellenistic Period. This tradition continues during the Roman Imperial Period. It is possible to see this situation frequently in city coins in the region of Cilicia. Especially as a reflection of the crisis of the 3rd century AD in Rome, mythological scenes, which have an important place in the belief system of the local people, begin to appear frequently on coins from the second quarter of the century. It is possible to say that the reason for this is that the Cilicia Region is behind the front lines of the struggle with Parth/Sassanid in the East, the empire wants to increase the loyalty of the cities, and the cities of the region try to obtain some privileges from Rome. During this period, especially from the second quarter of the 3rd century AD, mythological depictions begin to appear on the coins of the city of Tarsus in a way that have never been seen before. In this context, it is possible to say that the scene on the reverse of the coin, which is one of the best examples of the group we call "Maximinus' Mythological Series", may be influenced by the Marsyas sculpture group. This view is supported by the fact that no political events occur in the city that lead to the destruction of the Marsyas group statue, from the end of the 3rd century BC, when the statue belongs, until the second half of the 3rd century AD, when the coin belongs. Based on this situation, it is possible to say that the Marsyas statue group is well preserved in the region until the end of the Roman Imperial Period.

In light of all this information, it is highly likely that the figures in this group of statues are God Apollo, King Midas and the Scythian slave. Moreover, considering the cut mark on Marsyas' back, which highlights the moment of his skinning, the statue group must be standing in a place visible from both the front and back. Therefore, it is possible to think that the Marsyas group statue is positioned freely in a monumental building or square. Based on Roman Period copies, it is possible to say that the Marsyas group statue is located in front of or on a bath, nymphaeum, theater or similar monumental structure in the city.

Conclusions

In the study, the reflections of a legendary and striking example of arrogance, which is considered one of the greatest evils in all faiths in the world, with Anatolian-Ancient Greek motifs, on the ancient art, are discussed through an unpublished coin and a group of statues and have made new suggestions with the informations obtained.

According to this, it is determined that the bust portrait depiction on the obverse of Tarsus coin from the period of Maximinus I belongs to the "Germanicus" type of the emperor and that the coin was minted in 235-236 AD. It is determined that from left to right in the mythological scene about the Apollo-Marsyas music competition, which is found to be unique on the reverse of the coin, the second figure is Midas and the third figure is a Scythian slave. In this way, the coin is introduced to the scientific world in detail for the first time.

In addition, thanks to the findings on the coin, a new one has been added to the composition suggestions published since the discovery of the Marsyas statue in the study. Accordingly, it is possible that the coin molder is influenced by the Marsyas group statue in Tarsus or copies the artifacts. If this possibility, which is very common in the ancient time, is accepted as true, it will be appropriate to suggest Apollo, Midas, a Scythian slave and Marsyas for the sculpture composition.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflict of interest to declare.

Grant Support: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

References

Ausoni, A. (2005). La Musica, Dizionari d'Arte. Milano: Electa.

Aytepe, G. ve Yıldız, U. (2022). Apollon ve Marsyas'ın Müzik Yarışması Mitolojisinin Antik Dönem ve Avrupa Görsel Sanatlarına Yansımaları. Eğitim ve Toplum Araştırmaları Dergisi (JRES), 9(1), 188-207.

Acknowledgement: We would like to thank the IAM administrators and Dr. Şehrazat Karagöz, who was responsible for the Section of Stone Artifacts at that time, for their support.

Author Contributions: Conception/Design of Study- F.E., I.A., F.D.; Data Acquisition- F.E., I.A., F.D.; Data Analysis/ Interpretation- F.E., I.A., F.D.; Drafting Manuscript- F.E., I.A., F.D.; Critical Revision of Manuscript- F.E., I.A., F.D.; Final Approval and Accountability- F.E., I.A., F.D.

- Breitenstein, N. & Schwabacher, W. (1956). Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum, The Royal Collection of Coins and Medals Lycaonia – Cilicia (SNG Cop) Part 33. Copenhagen: Danish National Museum.
- Carpenter, T. (2002). Antik Yunan'da Sanat ve Mitoloji (B. Ünlüoğlu, Çev.). İstanbul: Homer Yayınları.

Collignon, M. (1897). Historie de la Sculpture Grecque. Paris: De Firmin.

Cömert, B. (2010). Mitoloji ve İkonografi. Ankara: De Ki Yayınları.

Clark, L.R. (2018). Collecting Art in the Italian Renaissance Court. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Diodorus, (1814). The Historical Library of Diodorus the Sicilian (G. Booth, Trans.). Harvard: Harvard University Press.
- Durugönül, S. (2015). Manisa Müzesi Heykeltraşlık Eserleri. Mersin: Mersin Üniversitesi Yayınları.

Erhan, F. (2014). *Antik Çağ Kilikia Sikkelerinde Dinsel Tasvirler* (Doktora Tezi). İstanbul Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü, İstanbul.

Feuser, S. (2013). Monopodia-Figürliche Tischfübe aus Klein Asien. Byzas, 17, 120-124.

- Fleischer, R. (1975). Marsyas und Achaios. Jahreschefte des Österreichischen Archaologischen Institutes in Wien (Öjh), 50, 105-122.
- Fleischer, R. (1991). Studien zur Seleukidischen Kunst I: Herrscherbildnisse. Mainz: von Zabern.
- Goddard, J. (2004). Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum, Great Britain XII, The Hunterian Museum, University of Glasgow, Part 1: Roman Provincial Coins: Spain-Kingdoms of Asia Minor (SNG Hunterian). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Grimal, P. (1997). Mitoloji Sözlüğü: Yunan ve Roma (S. Tamgüç, Çev.). İstanbul: Sosyal Yayınları.

Herodotus, (1991). Herodot Tarihi (M. Ökmen, Çev.). İstanbul: Remzi Kitabevi.

- Hill G. F. (1990). Catalogue of the Greek Coins of Lycaonia, Isauria and Cilicia, Order of the Trustees (BMC). London: The Trustees.
- Junker, K. (2002). Die Athena-Marsyas Gruppe des Myron. Jahrbuch des Deutschen Archaologischen Instituts. Berlin: Walter de Gayter.
- Kapossy, B. (1993). Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum, Schweiz II, Katalog der Sammlung Jean-Pierre Righetti im Bernischen Historischen Museum (SNG Righetti). Stuttgart: von Verlag Paul Haupt.
- Karagöz, Ş. (2008). Travma Tarihi (Traumalogos). Euergetes. Antalya: Suna-İnanç Kıraç Vakfı.
- Keer, E.V. (2004). The Myth of Marsyas in Ancient Greek Art. *Musical and Mythological Iconography*, XXIX, 20-37.
- Köktan, Y. (2014). Mitoloji, Dans ve Müzik. TÜRÜK Dil, Edebiyat ve Halkbilimi Araştırmaları Dergisi, 2(3), 261-271.
- Levante, E. (1986). Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum, Switzerland I, Levante Cilicia (SNG Levante). Berne: Crédit Suisse Berne.
- Levante, E. (1993). Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum: France 2: Cilicie (SNG France II). Paris: Bibliotheque Nationale & Numismatica Ars Classica.
- Levante, E. (1993). Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum, Switzerland I, Levante Cilicia, Supplement 1 (SNG Levante Suppl.). Zurich: Numismatica Ars Classica.
- Mattingly, H., Sydenham, E. A. & Sutherland, C.H.V. (1938). The Roma Imperial Coinage (RIC) Vol. IV Part II. London: Spink and Son Ltd.

Mendel, G. (1914). Catalogue des Scultures. Constantinople: En Vente Au Musee Imperial.

Ovid, (1987). Metamorphoses (A.D. Melville, Trans.). New York: Oxford University Press.

Özgan, R. (2018). Helenistik Devir Heykeltraşlığı III. İstanbul: Arkeoloji ve Sanat Yayınları.

Pausanias, (1918). Description of Greece (W.H.S. Jones, Trans.). Cambridge: Harvard University Press.

- Sande, S. (1982). The Myth of Marsyas: Pieces of a Sculptural Jigsaw. The Metropolitan Musuem Journal, 16, 55-73.
- Schertz, P. J. M. (2005). Seer or Victim? The figure of Marsyas in Roman Art, Religion, and Politics. (Doctoral Thesis). University of Southern California, California.
- Strabo, (1928). Geography-Vol. 5. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Tuchelt, K. (1970). Pan ve Anadolu'da Pan Kültü (H. Boyana, Çev.). Istanbuler Mitteilungen Band ,19/20, 223-236.
- Üreten, H. (2013). Mitolojinin ve Tarihin Simgesi: Manisa Müzesi'ndeki Marsyas Heykeli. Adnan Menderes Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 1, 1-14.

Ziegler, R. (1988). Münzen Kilikiens aus kleineren deutschen Sammlungen. München: C. H. Beck'sche.

Ziegler, R. (2001). Sylloge Nummorum Graecorum, Deutschland, Pfälzer Privatsammlungen 6, Band, Isaurien und Kilikien (SNG Pfälzer 6). München: Hirmer Verlag.

Online References

OCRE: Online Coins of the Roman Empire, https://numismatics.org/ocre/results?q =maximinus%20 i&start=60 (24.08.2023).

https://collections.louvre.fr

https://rpc.ashmus.ox.ac.uk

https://www.wildwinds.com

https://www.cngcoins.com

https://numismatics.org



Figures

Figure 1: Roman replica of Myron's Athena-Marsyas group, Vatican Museums (Author's photo archive)



Figure 2: Mallos coin from the period of Gordianus III (Erhan, 2014) (http://www.wildwinds.com/ coins/ric/gordian_III/_mallus_ SNGRighetti_1592.jpg)



Figure 3: Tarsus coin from the period of Maximinus I (https://www.wildwinds.com/coins/ric/ maximinus_I/_tarsos_CNG_69-1163. Jpg18.07.2023)



Figure 4: Roman sarcophagus, Louvre Museum (08.08.2023: https://collections.louvre.fr/ark:/53355/cl010276255)



Figure 5: Tarsus coin, detail (Apollo, Midas, Marsyas) (Figure 3) and Roman sarcophagus (Euterpe?) (Figure 4)



Figure 6: Roman sarcophagus (Scythian slave crouching on the ground, Midas on top) (Figure 4) and Tarsus coin, detail (Midas, Scythian slave crouching next to Midas' feet) (Figure 3)



Figure 7: Marsyas statue, IAM (Author's photo archive)



Figure 8: Knife-shaped lift of the Marsyas statue's back, IAM (Author's photo archive)



Figure 9: Photomontage: Scythian slave (Florence, Uffizi Gallery) and Marsyas (IAM) (Özgan, 2018); Tarsus coin, detail (Scythian slave and Marsyas) (Figure 3)



Anadolu Araştırmaları Anatolian Research



AnAr, 29, 135–168 DOI: 10.26650/anar.2023.29.1365177

Research Article

Microdebris Analysis of the Central Sewer and the Drainages of the Domus at Pompeiopolis

Mustafa Nuri Tatbul¹, Massimo Brizzi², Giovanni Ricci³, Antonio Abate⁴, Tayyar Gürdal⁵, Luisa Musso⁶



¹Asst. Prof., Bartin University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Art History, Bartin, Turkiye ²Dr., Durham University, Department of Archaeology, Durham, United Kingdom ³Cooperativa Archeologia, Italia ⁴Independent Researcher, Italia ⁵Dr, Uludağ University, Bursa, Turkiye ⁶Prof. Dr., Universita Roma Tre, Dipartimento di Studi Umanistici, Roma, Italia

ORCID ID: M.N.T. 0000-0002-8890-480X; M.B. 0009-0008-2599-0035; G.R. 0009-0007-6989-2616; A.A. 0009-0000-3648-0032; T.G. 0000-0003-3112-7787; L.M. 0000-0002-0573-1131

Corresponding author: Mustafa Nuri Tatbul

Bartin University, Faculty of Letters, Department of Art History, Bartin, Turkiye =-mail: mtatbul@qmail.com

Submitted: 23.09.2023 Revision Requested: 15.11.2023 Last Revision Received: 02.12.2023 Accepted: 25.12.2023

Citation: Tatbul, M.N., Brizzi, M., Ricci, G., Abate, A., Gürdal, T., & Musso, L. (2023). Microdebris analysis of the central sewer and the drainages of the domus at Pompeiopolis. *Anadolu Araştırmaları-Anatolian Research*, *29*, 135–168. https://doi.org/10.26650/anar.2023.29.1365177

ABSTRACT

In archaeological research, the discard behavior of domestic and industrial spaces can be mostly understood through the inspection of primary refuse contexts such as intra-site garbage pits, cesspits, last activity remains of fireplaces, activity floors, or extramural dumping areas as secondary refuse contexts. Other than these features and refuse contexts in the Late Antique / Early Byzantine period Domus at Pompeiopolis, the central sewer, and the drainage have the potential to provide alternative information related to the consumption, production, and discard behaviors of the households and the community in general. In this paper, microdebris samples taken from the street sewer, the drainage of the Domus, and a direct refuse link from a kitchen space adjacent to the street sewer were analyzed and discussed in consideration of the formation processes of the archaeological record.

Keywords: Refuse pattern, Late Antique, Early Byzantine, Black Sea, artifacts, ecofacts



Introduction: Theoretical and Methodological Background

The microdebris analysis aims to recover and screen artifactual and ecofactual remains either as whole elements or in fragments, originating from human activities such as production, consumption and discard behaviours, which are otherwise invisible in detection with the naked eye and hand collection¹. On the other hand, it helps understand the contextual patterns and formation processes of the archaeological record and taphonomy of artifacts, where both various cultural and natural factors are effective.

While the aim of the technique is common, among scholars there is variety in the use of terminology and no standard size for the materials included in the analyses. The terminology for the technique appears as micro-artifacts, micro-debris, micro-artifact studies, or micro-archaeology (Rainville, 2012, p. 145; Parker et al., 2018, p. 59), however, the last refers mostly to the study of archaeological materials only possible with the aid of microscopes (i.e. stereotype, polarizing microscope- petrographic, SEM- scanning electron microscope). Even though there is no standard size in the application, the method includes materials from microscopic, under 1 mm up to 3cm in size, thus a better recovery method compared to dry sieving (Rainville, 2012, p. 145).

Microartifact materials are mostly categorized into groups such as ceramics, animal bones, shells, lithics, charred and mineralized macro botanical remains, metals, glass, and special small artifacts (also see Parker et al., 2018, p. 60). Especially, fish and bird bones, shells, and beads can only be recovered by sorting the heavy residue of the microdebris samples (also see Rainville, 2012, p. 156; Özbal, 2012, p. 329), otherwise, the data is lost. This results in the invisibility of small species such as fish, birds, and rodents within the taxa, while the larger bones are recorded through hand collection. Also, the vast majority of the micro bones could not be identifiable at the species level (see Rainville, 2012, pp. 156-157). Within the microdebris, due to their size, rodent and fish bones can be recovered in identifiable complete forms (also see Rainville, 2012, p. 158), as well as the fragments and other small parts of the middle-large size animals (i.e. ovicaprid sesamoids).

Microdebris studies aim to screen the micro-artifact densities or "cleanliness index" (see Özbal, 2012, p. 330) within the sample contexts for comparisons and to identify activity discards. Density comparisons are made through calculations of identifiable elements, either with fragment counts or taking weights of the artifacts (ceramics, metal, glass, coins, beads)

¹ The technique was developed and widely used since 1960s when emerging concepts such as intrasite spatial analysis (Hodder & Orton, 1976; Clarke, 1977; Blankholm, 1991), interpretation of archaeological record (Binford, 2002; Schiffer, 1972; 1983; 1996; La Motta & Schiffer, 1999), contextual archaeology, behavioral archaeology (Reid et al., 1975), ethnoarchaeology, experimental archaeology, household archaeology (Wilk & Rathje, 1982; Allison 1999; Parker & Foster, 2012), environmental archaeology and use of statistics (Whallon, 1973; 1974) became a trend during the rise of the new archaeology (processual approach).

and ecofacts (bones, plants, egg, and sea-land shells) in grams in each sample volume per liter (see Rainville, 2012, p. 146).

At Pompeiopolis, microdebris samples were taken during the excavation of the Late Antique/Early Byzantine period Domus and its close environment. Samples were taken from the central sewer, the drainage, and a direct refuse link from a kitchen space adjacent to the street sewer, having the potential to provide alternative information related to the consumption, production, and discard behaviors of the households and the community in general through micro artifacts and ecofacts.

The preliminary results were also promising in showing some invisible insights for the socio-economic organization of the community, were useful in the interpretation of the contexts in a higher resolution, and enabled a better understanding of the processes effective in the formation of the archaeological record.

Context of the Study

During thirteen excavation campaigns between 2009 and 2021 (Musso et al., 2011; Brizzi et al., 2021; Summerer, 2008; 2012; 2013; 2014; 2016; 2017; 2018; Summerer & Çevik, 2015; Summerer & von Kienlin, 2009; Summerer et al., 2010), an Italian-Turkish team explored over 3000 m² of a housing unit on the north-eastern slopes of Zimbilli Tepe (Taşköprü – Kastamonu district) already identified in the 19th century as the site of Roman colony of Pompeiopolis in Paphlagonia (Fourcade, 1811; Marek, 2001; Summerer, 2011) (Fig. 1). The excavation, documentation and restoration works are still in progress. In the sequence recorded so far, five main phases can be simplified as follows (Brizzi et al., 2021).

The Late Antique Grand Domus. Around the middle of the 3rd century AD, a grand domus was built on the edge of the ancient city, in an area developed by a system of perpendicular road axes (Fig. 2). The Domus occupies an entire block, is articulated on least two levels along the hillside, it is organized around a central open area originally with porticoes, and a reception court on the northern side which provides access to the residential part of the house around the peristyle and, through a monumental staircase, to a suite of representative rooms located on the higher level. On the southern side, along the main paved road climbing the hill, only service access is preserved, but more investigation is needed as regards the most ancient phases in this part of the house. The grandeur of the building and the richness of the decorations, mostly mosaic floors and marble revetments, are an indicator of the status of the owners of this residence whose rank was certainly at the top of the city.

The Transformation of the Domus. In the second half of the 6th century, a progressive transformation of the Domus is recorded (Fig. 3). The spaces of the house are divided into smaller rooms where there is evidence of craft activities and the setting up of storage facilities. The hypocaust heating systems are disabled and their elements are recycled in

different ways. Also, the central garden is occupied by buildings while the infrastructures for the disposal, and/or collection of rainwater are rearranged. This transformation continued unsystematically and with disparities over the entire area of the house until the end of the 7th century when the disappearance of the original roofs and more radical changes to the wall structures testify to the total transfiguration of the building's identity.

The Early Byzantine hamlet. As result of these transformations, the townscape of this part of the site, outlined during the 2nd and 3rd centuries of the current era, since the 8th century became a rural landscape through different forms of housing and land use (Fig. 4). By recomposing the scarce evidence recorded during different excavation campaigns, it has been possible to reconstruct a settlement made up of isolated small buildings, likely developed in height, arranged around a central open area where large storing jars were installed. The buildings occupy indiscriminately what were public and private spaces of the previous urban organization, highlighting an administrative caesura from the earlier phases even if the massive works of leveling of the debris of the ruins attest to the presence of an authority still managing this territory.

The Middle Byzantine Chapel. During the 10th-11th century the hamlet was abandoned, perhaps after a violent destruction (Fig. 5). Right after, a quadrangular building was built in the area. The lime for the construction was produced on-site in a limekiln fed by the building elements of the surrounding ruins (see Fig. 5 for the spot of the limekiln on the architectural plan). Along the southern side of this building, about ten burials were built in stones and bricks, east to west oriented, some multiple, a couple with grave goods that have allowed them to be dated to the 11th-12th century. The building was intentionally destroyed. The presence of fragments of wall paintings found in its rubble and above all the presence of the small necropolis placed around have led to the acknowledgement of the religious character of this building.

The late rural use. After the destruction of the religious building, probably coinciding with the Seljuk control of the site in the 13th century, all subsequent interventions are attributable to simpler works for terracing and/or delimiting plots of land arranged for agricultural use. Rare episodes of spoliation, especially for the reclamation of fired bricks from the old structures, are still recorded.

The samples examined in this paper come from contexts relating to the first three phases described above, contexts which will be individually described and critically interpreted (Fig. 6).
Methodology

Light fractions (LF) and heavy residues (HR) recovered from 15 flotation samples, having a total volume of 400 liters, were analyzed for this study, which represented refuse contexts both of the Domus and the settlement in general (Table 1). The sampling strategy was judgemental and no limit was defined for the amount of flotation samples. The contents of each sample were calculated in weights (gr) per liter to make an equal comparison among sampling contexts. Stratified contexts such as the sewer were sampled gradually in depth to distinguish the sewer floor and the fill covering the top of it.

The samples were washed through a siraf-type flotation barrel, which had two intakes: one from a water source and the other from an air compressor. The air circulation helps to resolve the soil easily and makes the light fractions float. The floated light fractions (LF) were collected in a 100-micron tulle cloth stretched on the top of a perforated bucket set, where the water ran off. The sunken heavy residue (HR) was collected in a 1 mm plastic mesh, which was spread inside the barrel. All soil samples were measured by a scaled bucket in liters before floating. So, the density of materials per liter could be calculated.

After the LF and HR were dried, all samples were sieved with 2 mm, 1mm, and 0.5 mm steel sieves. All the HR and LF over 2mm were sorted and the materials collected were identified. 1mm and 0.5 mm samples were kept for further study. Among the identified materials were glass, metal, tesserae, glass slags, metal slags, ceramics, animal bone fragments of middle-large species, birds, rodents, and fish bones, seeds of economic plants, and parts of cereals and grapes. All wild plant species were grouped as weeds.

Animal bones were evaluated in two groups: unidentifiable fragments of middle-large species and identifiable bones of small species, such as birds, fish, and rodents. Identifications were made generally at the species level as birds, fish, and rodents. Therefore, this study does not include the identification of genus, skeletal representations, NISP, and MNI calculations, which should be further conducted by a zooarchaeologist. This basic grouping of bones, calculated in grams per liter, aimed to show the contextual patterning and the potential of microdebris analysis for the recovery of small species.

Since the laboratory part of the study was performed during the excavation season, for the identification of plants, *Digital Atlas of Economic Plants in Archaeology* (Neef et al., 2012), *A Manual for the Identification of Plant Seeds and Fruits* (Cappers & Bekker, 2013), and *Jacomet's manual Identification of Cereal Remains from Archaeological Sites* (Jacomet, 2006) were used.

Identified plant seeds and parts were counted. Weights of artifacts and bone fragments recovered from the HR samples were taken in grams since the vast majority of the remains

were fragments. Materials larger than 3 cm were not included in the analysis. All materials recovered from samples were calculated as gr/liter or count/liter (for plants).

Memorandum on the sampling contexts

Before analyzing the contexts in detail, it is necessary to reflect upon the process of forming the deposits inside the investigated channels, pipes, and drainages. It is reasonable to consider the deposit inside a water duct as the clue of its dismissal or in any case a phenomenon that characterizes the final part of the life of that infrastructure. But how long the burying of each drainage was and how much the disuse rather than lack of maintenance affected this process, are questions that cannot always be answered². The unknown maintenance procedures of these structures, e.g. the periodical cleaning of the drainages, both public and private ones, their frequency and degree of effectiveness, surely affected the formation of the deposit, as it is plausible to expect that every intervention didn't result with a total reset of the internal dirt but even a small part of the materials remained in the drainages, mixing with previous and subsequent artifacts and ecofacts until the final abandonment. Other variables such as pressure and flow speed, also condition the formation of the sediment, but in this case, the technical characteristics of each drain, at least for the section investigated, can help our understanding. In any case, rather than the chronology of the construction of each feature, it looks important for the interpretation of their fillings to circumscribe the moment of their abandonment.

Furthermore, the stratification of these deposits may have been progressive, and protracted over a period that must be analyzed on a case-by-case basis, but apart from the observation of the microstratigraphy, it is very difficult to measure this period without turning to archaeometric measurements. This leads us to face the problem of dating which is not only of these contexts but of the whole site. Since the 6th century, the help of the pottery classes for the definition of the chronology is extremely reduced, the presence of recognizable coins is very rare as well, and the notorious problem of residuals which in poor assemblages and with few datable materials becomes an unsolvable variable. While proceeding through the quantitative analysis of the contents of each context, these considerations should constitute the preliminary framework for any interpretation.

Interpretation of Data

Artefactual remains

Samples 24, 25, 33, and 27-28 were significant respectively (Fig. 7a). Sample 24 had the vast majority of metal slag fragments with 1.119 gr/liter (Table 1). It was taken from channel

² The lack of maintenance of the sewer does not mean that the area was abandoned and uninhabited, but the city lacked the organizational system for the cleaning operations (Also, for the case at Trajan Forum in Rome, see Meneghini, 2017, p. 24).

1480, very close to the sewer, and disengaged from the Domus across the street, which might have a mix of refuse disposal from a metal working space during the 6th-7th century (Period 2) (Fig. 7b).

Sample 25 was significant with metal (0.566 gr/liter), glass (0.198 gr/liter), and some metal slags (0.045 gr/liter) (Fig. 7a, Table 1). The sample was from the floor of the main sewer 1479 and this density of artifact fragments was expected due to its collecting role from various spatial units of yet unexcavated building blocks. Glass as the most fragile element among artifacts, was present almost in all samples, but the most density was in Sample 33, from the drainage 985 in the Domus (Period 2) (Fig. 7a, Table 1).

Ceramics were distinguished from other artifact data sets in comparisons, due to their abundance and high weights. Rather compared with bone fragments of middle-large size animals to see on which scale the main artifact and ecofact remains were dumped into the drainage. Ceramic fragments were present in all sample contexts but were most abundant on the drainage floor (Sample 25 with 4.269 gr/liter and Sample 19 with 3.475 gr/liter) (Fig. 7b, Table 1).

Ecofactual remains

Animal bone fragments of middle-large species were distinguished from the smaller species such as birds, fish, rodents, and shell remains. As stated above, rather compared with ceramic fragments to see the patterns in refuse contexts. A significant observation is that the animal bones were in almost all samples and more abundant than ceramics in the sewer and most drainage contexts. Particularly, the floor of the central sewer contexts (Samples 25 and 19), which were distinguished from the sewer fill during the sampling, had more animal bones than ceramic fragments (Fig. 7b). This indicated that the rate of animal food consumption refuses from the Domus and potentially from other building blocks along the road dumped into the central sewer was high.

Other than the bone fragments originating from middle-large species, small-size bones of birds, fish, shells, and rodent bones as intruding animals were found in the sample contexts (Fig. 7c) (Fig. 13). The first three groups were consumables. Among the four, birds were the most abundant in the samples. Sample 25 from the sewer was significant of bird bones with 0.2 gr/liter but also had 0.045 gr/liter fish and 0.037 gr/liter rodents (Fig. 7c), (Table 1).

The other two samples significant for bird bones were Sample 24 (0.071 gr/liter) from duct 1480 and Sample 2 (0.053 gr/liter) from drainage 1345. The most significant content for fish remains was Sample 1 from the drainage 1345 context having 0.12 gr/liter (Period 1-final phase). Sample 2 from the same context and period had the only shell remaining (0.0125 gr/liter). While shell fragments were only seen in one case, birds, fish, and rodents were the characteristic elements of the central sewer and the drainage contexts (Fig. 7c), (Table 1).

Looking at the macro botanical patterns (for a sample of the species see Fig. 12), Sample 24 had only weed and richest among others (Fig. 7d), (Table 1). This sample from a duct across the Domus seems to have no plant food-related activity and the weeds might have been present as contamination. This sample context was also rich in metal slag fragments, thus supporting the suggestion of a possible workshop function nearby. However, it was a feature to bring clean water therefore the presence of slag remains might have originated due to post-abandonment formation processes, as well as the weeds even if not as contaminations.

Sample 30 from a latrine context had the most abundant cereals among all with 0.21 count/liter (Fig. 7d), (Table 1). Except for two central sewer samples (Sample 19 had 0.023 count/liter cereals, Sample 1 had 0.1 count/liter legumes) (Fig. 7d), (Table 1), no grains were found in the samples, but ash and charcoal remains were densely observed. Even though the evidence of whole grains was limited, fire-related refuse including food was dumped into the sewer. Also, it should be considered that the dynamic movement within the sewer might have affected the integrity of the charred grains, which are quite fragile.

Samples 27-28 were significant in terms of the variety of economic food plants, which were recovered from a manhole cover on the street having a direct refuse link from the Domus. The sample had 0.0853 count/liter cereals, 0.0213 count/liter cereal components, 0.0213 count/liter legumes, and 0.0426 count/liter grape remains (Fig. 7d) (Table 1).

Contextual patterns

Contextual observation of the samples aimed at three aspects: (1) to see the material density between the sewer floor and the sewer fill, thus the formation process during its operation (Fig. 10a-d); (2) to understand the refuse pattern and relation between sewer and the direct link from the Domus space (Fig. 11c); and (3) to define and compare the character of refuse disposal to the central sewer and the drainage system (Fig. 11a-b) as representatives of the Domus.

Samples 19, 20-21, 25, 26, 27-28, and 29 were combined and grouped as sewer floor, sewer fill, below drainage lid, and rubbish chute to drainage. The sewer floor significantly had the most density of metal, glass, and metal slags compared to other contexts having equal densities (Fig. 8a). The picture was similar in the ceramic vs bone density comparisons but

the bone refuse to the sewer floor was higher than the ceramics (Fig. 8b). Small size animal bones were also highest on the sewer floor (Fig. 8c).³

At Pompeiopolis, while drainages have less micro-artifact densities, the central sewer, as more representative of the community, had more micro-artifact density.⁴

The presence of ceramics, bones, bird and fish bones under the drainage lid, and fish remains in the rubbish chute to the sewer confirms that this line was used to dump animal food refuse of the Domus to the sewer (Period 1-2). The presence of rodents in the sewer context was also something expected.

For the macrobotanical remains three significant suggestions can be made (Fig. 8d): (1) variety and amount of economic species such as cereals, legumes, and grapes were highest under the drainage lid, which represented the Domus refuse through the rubbish chute, (2) there was evidence of cereals in the sewer floor but in a lesser amount, probably due to the weathering conditions of the sewer stated earlier above, and (3) the sewer fill had the highest amount of weeds, where vast majority were mineralized due to its water logged condition. It is also considered that these might be later contaminants originating from the natural formation processes.

Artifacts were the most abundant in the central sewer compared to the drainages, with an exception for metal slags (Fig. 9a). However, they were recovered from a context extraneous from the Domus. The vast majority of ceramic, bone fragments, bird, fish, and rodent bones were also recovered from the sewer contexts (Fig. 9b, Fig. 9c). Very limited shell remains were found in the sewer.

The majority of the economic species such as cereals and grapes were found in the drainage contexts, which affected the weathering of charred remains less than in the sewer context (Fig. 9d). The presence of weeds was balanced in both contexts, and legumes were only present in the drainage.

³ A rich content of carbonized and mineralized seeds, eggs, shells and mostly fish bones were recovered through microdebris analysis conducted at Herculaneum Cardo V sewer system (1st century AD), which was turned into periodically cleaned long cesspit in the absence of an exit point and a running water source (Rowan, 2014, p. 62). For the description of the sewer system at Herculaneum, see Camardo, 2011. Even if the period, size and organization of the features and contexts are not directly comparable, there is potential at Pompeiopolis to further investigate sewer and drainage floors for the recovery of small size organic materials.

⁴ Özbal suggests that rooms are cleaner than respectively courtyards, trash deposits and streets at the Chalcolithic site of Tell Kurdu according to "cleanliness index" (Özbal, 2012, pp. 330-331). Sewer and drainage contexts at Pompeiopolis could be preliminarily compared following this behavioral assumption.

Discussion and Conclusions

At Pompeiopolis, a central sewer system was well-functioning from the 5th century up until the 6th-7th centuries. Well functioning of the sewer connected to the 6th-7th centuries drainage system (Samples 33 and 38) of the Domus, is an indication of the maintenance of the urban function in this period, even if the archaeological data represents the Domus, other spatial units of the yet unexcavated building blocks and the small part of the street contexts. Archaeobotanical data (Tatbul & Gürdal, 2022) indicate the beginning of the ruralization practices in this period based on the presence of parts of the cereals, such as cereal nodes and cereal straws in the Domus complex, but strongly ruralized in the 8th-10th centuries, as also stated by the excavations team based on the contextual observations (Brizzi et al., 2021). 6th-7th centuries could be seen as a transition period to rural practices but still the functioning of the urban features.

The manhole attests to the refuse channel connection from the Domus to the street sewer. This proves that the refuse disposal of the Domus goes immediately to the central sewer through this connection, which was supported by the microdebris analysis. While domestic food refuse such as animal bones macrobotanical remains and fragments of discarded artifacts enter into the sewer, the contrary side of the street, based on only very limited samples (Sample 24), had metal slags that might have represented industrial activity refuse. This observation might be used to question whether the spaces on the contrary side of the street were functioning for industrial purposes. But still needs more data to make secure suggestions.

During the soil sampling for the microdebris analysis, artifact sizes were almost very small, and only a few sherds and bones (over 3cm) were separated from the sampled soil. Based on this observation it can be suggested that the refuse disposal to the manhole was deliberately small in size. Therefore, large-size refuse must have been disposed of differently. An analogy can be made from the present day that what goes through the sink and latrine to the sewer and what goes through the garbage bin to the street container differs.

Another important question for the future study is where the sewer ends, does it have a collection pool or whether it falls into the river bed (Gökırmak), which runs not more than 1 km NE below the settlement and the street sewer goes towards as well.

At Pompeiopolis, the microdebris analysis enabled the recovery of micro-artifacts and an understanding of the formation of the archaeological record, which represents the sewer and drainage contexts. The small animal and macrobotanical species at Pompeiopolis could be recorded through microdebris inspection only. Small species such as birds, fish, rodents, and shells were otherwise invisible within the taxa. However, genus and skeletal representations have to be studied in detail further. As stated earlier in the description of the sample contexts, we approach the microdebris data in caution whether they were formed as a result of cultural or natural formation processes. In case they represent any behavioral signature, they must have been formed during the final period of each phase before abandonment. The fill over the most secure bottom part of the sewer and drainages must have accumulated due to the post-abandonment natural formation processes. Also, the sewer could have been filled as a result of heavy floods during the occupation, but in that case, it must have been cleaned to maintain its operation. Comparison between sewer bottom and sewer fill proves that the vast majority of artifacts and bone fragments were found in the sewer bottom samples. Almost all wild seeds were found within the sewer fill context, which might attest to the processes of formation due to natural reasons.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: The author has no conflict of interest to declare.

Grant Support: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

References

Allison, P. (eds.) (1999). The Archaeology of Household Activities. London: Routledge.

- Binford, L. R. (2002). In the Pursuit of the Past: Decoding The Archaeological Record. Berkley, California: University of California Press.
- Blankholm, H. P. (1991). Intrasite Spatial Analysis in Theory and Practice. Aarhus University Press.
- Brizzi, M., Ricci, G. & Abate, A. (2021). Final Report of the 13th Campaign of Archaeological Investigations at Area V, Zimbillitepe, Pompeiopolis. (Unpublished Excavation Report 2021).
- Camardo, D. (2011). Case Study: Ercolano: La Ricostruzione dei Sistemi Fognari. In Jansen, G. C. M., Koloski-Ostrow, A. O. & Moormann, E. M. (Eds.), *Roman Toilets: Their Archaeology and Cultural History* (pp. 90-93). Leuven-Paris-Walpole, MA: Peeters.
- Cappers, R. T. J. & Bekker, R. M. (2013). A Manual for the Identification of Plant Seeds and Fruits. Groningen: Barkhuis.

Clarke, D. L. (1977). Spatial Archaeology. Boston: Academic Press.

Fourcade, P. T. (1811). Mémoire sur Pompeiopolis ou Tach Kouprou, Maltebrun's Annales des Voyages, 14, 30-59.

Hodder, I. & Orton, C. (1976). Spatial analysis in archaeology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Jacomet, S. (2006). Identification of Cereal Remains from Archaeological Sites. Basel University.
- La Motta, V. M. & Schiffer, M. B. (1999). Formation Processes of House Floor Assemblages. In Allison, M. P. (Ed.), *The Archaeology of Household Activities* (pp. 19-29). London: Routledge.
- Marek, C. (2001). s.v. Pompeiopolis. In Der Neue Pauly (DNP). Band 10. Stuttgart: Metzler.

Author Contributions: Conception/Design of Study- M.N.T., M.B., G.R., A.A., T.G., L.M.; Data Acquisition- M.N.T., M.B., G.R., A.A., T.G., L.M.; Data Analysis/ Interpretation- M.N.T., M.B., G.R., A.A., T.G., L.M.; Drafting Manuscript- M.N.T., M.B., G.R., A.A., T.G., L.M.; Final Approval and Accountability- M.N.T., M.B., G.R., A.A., T.G., L.M.; Final Approval and Accountability- M.N.T., M.B., G.R., A.A., T.G., L.M.; Final Approval and Accountability- M.N.T., M.B., G.R., A.A., T.G., L.M.; Final Approval and Accountability-

- Meneghini, R. (2017). Roma medievale e i Fori Imperiali. In Meneghini, R. & Bernacchio, N. (Eds.) I Fori dopo i Fori. La vita quotidiana nell'area dei Fori Imperiali dopo l'antichità. Roma: Gangemi Editore.
- Musso, L., Bertolotto, G., Brizzi, M. & Westwood, B. E. (2011). L'edificio abitativo alle pendici orientali dello Zimbilli Tepe. In Summerer, L. (Ed.) Pompeiopolis I. Eine Zwischenbilanz aus der Metropole Paphlagoniens nach Fünf Kampagnen (2006 – 2010) (pp. 75-120). Beier & Beran.
- Neef, R., Cappers, R. T. J. & Bekker, R. M. (2012). Digital Atlas of Economic Plants in Archaeology. Groningen: Barkhuis.
- Özbal, R. (2012). The Challenge of Idetifying Households at Tell Kurdu (Turkey). In Parker, B. J. & Foster, C. P. (Eds.) New Perspectives on Household Archaeology (pp. 321-346). Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns.
- Parker, B. J. Prieto, G. & Osores, C. (2018). Methodological advances in household archaeology: an application of microartifact analysis at Pampa La Cruz, Huanchaco, Peru, Ñawpa Pacha. *Journal of Andean Archaeology*, 38, 57-75.
- Parker, B. J. & Foster, C. P. (Eds.) (2012). New Perspectives on Household Archaeology. Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns.
- Rainville, L. (2012). Household Matters: Techniques for Understanding Assyrian Houses. In Parker, B. J. & Foster, C. P. (Eds.) New Perspectives on Household Archaeology (pp. 139-164). Winona Lake, Indiana: Eisenbrauns.
- Reid, J. J., Schiffer, M. B. & Rathje, W. L. (1975). Behavioral Archaeology: Four strategies. American Anthropologist, 77, 836-848.
- Rowan, E. (2014). The fish remains from the Cardo V sewer: New insights into consumption and fishing economy of Herculaneum. In Botte, E. & Leitch, V. (Eds.) Fish & Ships : Production et commerce des salsamenta durant l'Antiquité (pp. 61-73). Nouvelle édition. Aix-en-Provence: Publications du Centre Camille Jullian.
- Schiffer, B. M. (1983). Towards the Identification of Formation Processes. *American Antiquity*, Vol. 48, No. 4, 675-706.
- Schiffer, B. M. (1972). Archaeological Context and Systemic Context. American Antiquity, Vol. 37, No. 2, 156-65.
- Schiffer, B. M. (1996). Formation Processes of the Archaeological Record. Salt Lake City: University of Utah Press.
- Summerer, L. (2018). Pompeiopolis (Paflagonya) 2016 Yılı Kazı Sonuçları. KST, 39, 2, 205-228.
- Summerer, L. (2017). Pompeiopolis (Paflagonya) 2015 Yılı Çalışmaları. KST, 38, 2, 455-466.
- Summerer, L. (2016). Pompeiopolis (Paflagonya) 2014 Çalışmaları. KST, 37, 2, 143-156.
- Summerer, L. (2014). Pompeiopolis 2012 Yılı Kazı Çalışmaları. KST, 35, 2, 197-203.
- Summerer, L. (2013). Pompeiopolis 2011 Yılı Kazı Çalışmaları. KST, 34, 3, 289-296.
- Summerer, L. (2012). Pompeiopolis 2010 Yılı Kazı Çalışmaları. KST, 33, 2, 337-352.
- Summerer, L. (2011). Eine Zwischenbilanz aus der Metropole Paphlagoniens nach fünf Kampagnen (2006–2010). In Summerer, L. (Ed.), Pompeiopolis I: Schriften des Zentrums für Archäologie und Kulturgeschichte des Schwarzmeerraumes (pp. 3-12). Bd 21. Langenweißbach: Beier and Beran.
- Summerer, L. (2008). Pompeiopolis (Paflagonya) 2006 Yılı Çalışmaları. KST, 29, 2, 243-264.

Summerer, L. & Çevik, F. (2015). Pompeiopolis 2013 Yılı Kazı Çalışmaları. KST, 36, 2, 191-208.

- Summerer, L. & von Kienlin, A. (2009). Pompeiopolis 2007 yılı çalışmaları. KST, 30, 3, 77-90.
- Summerer, L., von Kienlin, A. & Herdt, G. (2010). Pompeiopolis 2008 Yılı Kazı Çalışmaları. KST, 31, 1, 421-440.
- Tatbul, M. N. & Gürdal, T. (2022). Preliminary Analysis of the Macrobotanical Remains from the Late Antique and Byzantine Phases of the Domus at Pompeiopolis. ANADOLU, 48, 181-203.
- Whallon, R. J. (1973). Spatial Analysis of Ocupation Floors I: Application of Dimensional Analysis of Varaiance. *American Antiquity*, Vol. 38, No. 3, 266-278.
- Whallon, R. J. (1974). Spatial Analysis of Ocupation Floors II: Application of Nearest Neighbor Analysis. American Antiquity, Vol. 39, No. 1, 16-34.
- Wilk, R. R. & Rathje, W. L. (Eds.) (1982). Archaeology of the Household: Building a Prehistory of Domestic Life, American Behavioral Scientist, 25, 6, 611–725.

Illustrations



Fig.1: Map showing the location of the site



Fig. 2: The Domus in the mid-5th century AD



Fig. 3: The Domus in the mid-7th century AD



Fig. 4: The area of the Domus in the mid-9th century AD



Fig. 5: The area of the Domus in the mid-11th century AD



Fig. 6: Sample locations



Fig. 7: a.Glass, metal, and tessera fragments within the HR samples; b.Ceramic vs animal bones within the HR samples; c.Small size animal bones within the HR samples; d.Plant remains identified within the LF samples



Fig. 8: a.Contextual distribution of artifacts; b.Contextual distribution of ceramics vs animal bone fragments; c.Contextual distribution of small-size animal bones; d.Contextual distribution of macrobotanical remains



Fig. 9: a.Artifacts between sewer and drainage; b.Ceramics, animal bone fragments, and shells between sewer and drainage; c.Small size animals between sewer and drainage; d.Macrobotanical remains between sewer and drainage



Fig. 10: Sewer upper part: a.Sewer fill; b.Stone base under the cocciopesto floor revetment which was eroded in time due to water stream; Sewer lower part: c.Sewer fill; d.Tile base under the cocciopesto floor revetment which was eroded in time due to water stream



Fig. 11: a.Sampled drainage; b.Closed context of drainage top covered; c.Rubbish chute from the Domus kitchen to the sewer



Fig. 12: Macrobotanical remains recovered from the microdebris samples, top to the bottom respectively: *Triticum sp., Hordeum sp., Cerealia rachis, Lathyrus sativus, Vicia sativa, Vitis vinifera, Juglans regia, Echium sp., Anchusa sp.*



Fig. 13: Small size animal bones, top to the bottom respectively: bird phalanges, bird carpometacarpus, fish vertebrae, fish opercular, fish pharyngeal, fish opercular, rodent tibia and femur bones, rodent mandibular, shrew (nonrodent) maxilla and mandibular

sample no.	1	2	19
unita stratigraphica	1266	1265	1414
context	Drainage	Drainage	Sewer bottom L1
phase	Period 1 - final phase	Period 1 - final phase	Period 1 - Period 2 (Road III)
TPQ	5th c.	Late 5th – 6th c.	5th c.
function	Drainage	Drainage	Sewer
sample volume (litre)	10	8	43
artefacts gr/litre			
ceramic	1.05	1.6525	3.475
glass	0.107	0.08125	0.075
glass slag			0.0028
metal			
metal slag			0.0026
tessera			
animal bones gr/litre			
bone fragment	0.862	1.35	2.63
bird	0.025	0.053	0.023
fish	0.12	0.00125	0.01
rodent	0.002		0.006
shell		0.0125	
plant remains (count/litre)			
triticum spp.			0.023
hordeum spp.			
cerealia			
rachis			
spikelet fork			
culm node			
straw			
vicia sativa			
lathyrus	0.1		
vitis vinifera			
grape pedicle			
juglans regia			
weeds	0.1		

Table 1: Microdebris data table

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	,		
sample no.	20-21	24	25	
unita stratigraphica	1413	1426	1414	
context	Sewer fill L1	Drainage	Sewer bottom L2	
phase	Period 1 - Period 2 (Road III)	Period 2 (Road IV)	Period 1 - Period 2 (Road III)	
TPQ	5th c.	6 th - 7th c.	5th c.	
function	Sewer	Drainage	Sewer	
sample volume (litre)	89	10	16	
artefacts gr/litre				
ceramic	0.303	1.435	4.269	
glass	0.011	0.017	0.198	
glass slag				
metal			0.566	
metal slag	0.0022	1.119	0.045	
tessera				
animal bones gr/litre				
bone fragment	0.71	0.435	7.2	
bird	0.005	0.071	0.2	
fish	0.011		0.045	
rodent	0.013	0.01	0.037	
shell				
plant remains (count/litre)				
triticum spp.				
hordeum spp.				
cerealia				
rachis				
spikelet fork				
culm node				
straw				
vicia sativa				
lathyrus				
vitis vinifera				
grape pedicle				
juglans regia				
weeds	0.045	0.5		

Table 1: (continues)

sample no.	26	27-28	29	
unita stratigraphica	1413	1445	1444	
context	Sewer fill L2	Manhole cover	Connection from VV to main drainage	
phase	Period 1 - Period 2 (Road III)	Period 1 - Period 2 (Road III)	Period 1	
TPQ	5th c.	5th c.	4th c5th c.	
function	Sewer	Below drainage lid	Drainage	
sample volume (litre)	91	47	14	
artefacts gr/litre				
ceramic	0.564	0.407	0.133	
glass	0.0364	0.012	0.02	
glass slag				
metal				
metal slag			0.021	
tessera		0.156		
animal bones gr/litre				
bone fragment	0.818	1.21	0.88	
bird	0.014	0.0123		
fish	0.0025	0.011	0.012	
rodent	0.0014	0.0017	0.0007	
shell				
plant remains (count/litre)				
triticum spp.		0.064		
hordeum spp.			0.0714	
cerealia		0.0213		
rachis		0.0213		
spikelet fork				
culm node				
straw				
vicia sativa		0.0213		
lathyrus				
vitis vinifera		0.0426		
grape pedicle				
juglans regia				
weeds				

Table 1: (continues)

		· · · ·		
sample no.	30	33	34	38
unita stratigraphica	1443	1439	1446	1515
	Catch pit of the latrine	2100	1.10	1010
context	flushed by channel US1526	Drainage	Drainage	Drainage
phase	Period 1	Period 2	Period 1	Period 2
TPQ	4th c5th c.	6th-7th c.	Mid-3rd c4th c5th c. Drainage flushing if the	6th-7th c.
function	Latrine	Drainage	latrine	Drainage
sample volume (litre)	19	42	1	10
artefacts gr/litre		0.65	0.05	0.005
ceramic	0.5	0.65	2.35	0.225
glass	0.017	0.34		0.018
glass slag				
metal		0.064		
metal slag				
tessera				
animal bones gr/litre				
bone fragment	0.92	1.588		0.01
bird		0.0067		
fish	0.0005	0.0036		
rodent	0.0005	0.0002		
shell				
(count/litre)				
triticum spp.	0.21	0.024		
hordeum spp.				
cerealia				
rachis				
spikelet fork				
culm node				
straw				
vicia sativa				
lathyrus				
vitis vinifera				0.1
grape pedicle				
juglans regia		0.024		
weeds		0.048		

Table 1: (continues)

Appendix: Description of the sampling contexts

Stratigraphic Unit 1266 (sample n. 1)

Sand and silt within drainage 1345, downstream of closure 1346. Drainage 1345 was set up along the northern edge of the roadway, abutting the southern perimeter wall of the Domus. Its walls are built with mortared bricks and the bottom, sloping to the east, is made of large tiles where preserved, and the cover is made of slabs of local stones summarily dressed. It was built to receive the wastewater coming from the ducts arranged inside the Domus. A stretch of the drainage was disabled by blocking the duct with stones and fragments of bricks. Upstream of this block, a breach was opened in the southern wall of the drainage to allow the waste to flow towards the central sewer of the road. Downstream of the block, the duct is filled with sand and silt 1266 which probably mixes with a deposit already present in the channel and is then covered by a new penstock. Above all, this diversion highlights the disuse of drainage 1178 which likely conveyed the waters of an 'overflow' from the Domus to the outside, revealing a reorganization of the Domus' water collection and disposal at this stage. The terminus post quem provided by the pottery found in the context can be traced between mid-6th and mid-7th century AD.

Stratigraphic Unit 1265 (sample n. 2)

Sandy silt within drainage 1345 (see above), west of closure 1346. The context fills a part of the structure where the cover is missing after the spoliation of the slabs of the road. Compared to the fill 1266 this layer has a higher percentage of silt and a lower presence of artifacts reduced to minimal dimensions. It has been interpreted as the sediment of the waste from the western part of the Domus passing through the drainage addressed to the street sewer following the closure described in the previous context, therefore later than 1266.

Stratigraphic Unit 1414 (samples n. 19, 25)

Sandy silt within sewer 1479. The sewer is made up of parallel side walls 55 cm thick in limestone blocks. It is 50 cm wide and 60 cm high. The surface of the sliding bottom was covered by waterproof mortar almost entirely eroded by the flow of water. The cover of the sewer is made of the paving slabs of the road, selected with regular shape and wider size. The sewer was built together with the paving of the road still in situ which has been dated based on pottery and coins found in the preparatory layers, to the first half of the 5th century AD, therefore about two centuries after the first construction of the Domus. As seen for the 1479 drainage, other drainage systems probably pre-existed this central sewer, adapting to it after its construction. Other inlets from the buildings along the road were built at the same time as and later than the setup of the sewer. The dimensions of the walls and the conditions of the bottom show that the sewer was not only used for urban wastewater but also for the disposal of rainwater. It has been exposed and investigated for a stretch of about 3 m. The lumen of the sewer is entirely occupied by a fill-in and five different stratigraphic units have been identified. Above a layer that fills the removal of the bottom composed mainly of pebbles and sand, a sequence of three levels of sandy silt has been identified, sealed at the top by a sandy layer that reaches the top of the channel, completely blocking the duct. The grey-brown silt layer 1414 is a horizontal deposit 8-10 cm thick above the layers 1415 and 1416, deposited when the conduit was still almost entirely free. Its formation can be rightly placed during the lifetime of the sewer, which as mentioned above was built during the 5th century AD. The samples have been collected at the eastern and western ends of the portion investigated.

Stratigraphic Unit 1413 (samples n. 20, 21, 26)

Brown sandy silt and scattered gravel overlaying layer 1414 in the sewer 1479. The layer is 25-30 cm high, the surface is flat sloping to the east. It contains few ceramic fragments of minute dimensions spread not homogeneously. It has been interpreted as the filling of the sewer in the absence of regular maintenance, lasting for a duration difficult to evaluate and at a time equally difficult to pinpoint, probably between the end of the 6th and the 7th century. The samples have been collected at the eastern and western ends of the portion investigated.

Stratigraphic Unit 1426 (sample n. 24)

Brown-yellow silty sand filling the duct 1480. Unlike sewer 1479, conduit 1480 was built for the supply of drinking water to an unknown facility further downstream. It has been excavated for a length of about 3.60 m. For the installation of this infrastructure, the paving slabs of the southern half of the road were probably raised and a trench dug down to the bedrock where the conduit was built. The duct is 15 cm wide and 20 cm high, built with parallel walls in limestones and mortar, set over a row of tiles, entirely coated by waterproof mortar. The cover is also made of stones and mortar to carefully seal the water duct. The trench was refilled with a compact sandy layer in which unfortunately no dating materials were found. In the excavated section, the installation of the conduit cut and disabled drainage whose mouth in the central sewer was closed with bricks and mortar, therefore the conduit is later than the sewer but it was built when the last one was still working and kept under maintenance. However, there are no clues as to when the duct stopped working. The internal sediment 1426 is very homogeneous, it almost fills the internal space of the duct, as if the occlusion had occurred in a limited period. A section of the layer of about 40 cm, corresponding to the uncovered part of the channel, was sampled.

Stratigraphic Unit 1439 (sample n. 33)

Silty sand and gravel fill the drainage 985. This meandering drainage (985=1736=11) was built on the earth floor laid over the mosaics of corridor S1 and crosses the Domus from

SW to NE in the transformation that we have described as the second period of the building. Pottery and numismatic finds from its construction cut date this infrastructure to the second half of the 7th century AD. It is not yet clear what the source of the water was in room LL where the drainage starts. It likely ended in a collecting cistern to the northeast of the Domus, in an area not yet investigated. The drainage was built with large arched terracotta slabs aligned to form the bottom, while the side walls were built with reused bricks bonded with clay and covered with stone slabs of various kinds. This drainage very well expresses the transformation of spaces and functions inside the Domus, opening breaches in at least five walls to pursue the objective of collecting and storing water, likely rainwater, in an area different than the infrastructures used in the earlier phases of the Domus. The sample has been taken from the part of the drainage at the very west of area XX.

Stratigraphic Unit 1515 (sample n. 38)

Sandy silt filling the drainage 9. Drainage 9 is a stretch 8 m long of channel investigated in the northern corridor of the peristyle, cut both upstream and downstream by the larger and later drainage 11 which probably replaced the smaller 9 in the second half of the 7th century. The dating of the drainage 985=1736=11 therefore chronologically frames the sampled silt filling the drainage 9. The latter is built by placing a row of reused curved kalypteres in a trench cut in the earthy floors; both side walls are built with cobbles and fragments of bricks bound with mortar, covered with recycled square bricks placed at the level of the floor. Given the way it was covered, it is possible that part of the sampled deposit was not only the residue of the water passing through the drainage but that part of it was infiltrated from the outside.

Stratigraphic Unit 1443 (sample n. 30)

Sand, silt, and gravel in the latrine 1745. The latrine is a quadrangular pit, 1.25 m long, 0.40 m wide, and 0.50 m high, built with mortared stones and the bottom with large tiles, close to the southern perimeter wall of the Domus. Two phases of this facility have been recognized: the first is probably equipped with seats and a running water system for washing, in the second the latter is diverted directly into the pit which was covered with simpler perforated stone slabs. The pit originally had an inlet of water through a pipe coming from the road whose origin is unknown, while it drained downstream to the east, probably through a channel linked to the road drainages which has not yet been investigated. The sample was taken from the bottom of the pit after the removal of other sandy sediments that covered it.

Stratigraphic Unit 1446 (sample n. 34)

Silty sand deposited in the hydraulic structure 1466. The latter was built in the refurbishment of the latrine in 1745 with the arrangement of perforated stone slabs above the pit. The running water for washing, previously passing through the small channel cut into

the limestone blocks of the earlier phase, was blocked by this structure built around a new circular cut in the stone and directed towards the mentioned slab. The deposit fills this cut and part of the small collection structure built around it. This phase of the Domus has been dated to the 4th century AD.

Stratigraphic Unit 1444 (sample n. 29)

Incoherent ashes, charcoal, and sand in the drainage 1430. This drainage was built by opening a breach in the southern perimeter wall of the Domus and building a chute with bricks that dumps into an inspectionable manhole with cover in the paving of road 1339. The manhole is connected via drainage to the central sewer 1479 of the road (see above). The drainage 1430 can be understood together with the evidence of a large structure for firing immediately north of it. This structure identifies this room of the house as a kitchen for preparing food, equipped with a hob 1.50 m long. The drainage is therefore a feature for cleaning the kitchen, into which food waste and combustion residues were probably dumped during its use. Although this area of the Domus was arranged as a kitchen in the 4th century, the later cut in the wall and above all the unity of this arrangement with the construction of the central sewer and the paving of the road, move the dating of the structure to the 5th century AD. On the other hand, it is much more difficult to date its dismissal. There is no evidence of major transformations up to the early Byzantine fillings, therefore it is likely that the kitchen and drainage continued to be used throughout the 6th until the 7th century.

Stratigraphic Unit 1445 (samples n. 27-28)

Incoherent ashes and sand in the manhole 1533. The manhole collects the waste from drainage 1430 (see above) and from here it is directed to sewer 1479 in the middle of the road, where the outlet has been identified, built at the same time as the central sewer. As with the drainage 1430 that fed it, this manhole may have worked for a long time. Given its location, it is likely that it also collected surface water flowing along the road.

DESCRIPTION

Anatolian Research –Anadolu Araştırmaları is the publication of Istanbul University, Faculty of Letters. It is an open access, international, peer-reviewed journal published published biannually in June and December. The journal was founded in 1955. Manuscripts submitted for publication should be in English, German, French or Italian.

AIM AND SCOPE

Anatolian Research – Anadolu Araştırmaları aims to contribute to the dissemination of scientific knowledge through publication of high quality articles in accordance with the international publishing standards.

The journal publishes studies which examine Anatolia and its related regions from prehistoric times to late antiquity. The areas of study covered in the scope of the journal are Ancient History, Archeology, Art History, History of Architecture, Anthropology, Epigraphy, Numismatic, Historical Geography and Archeometry.

EDITORIAL POLICIES AND PEER REVIEW PROCESS

Publication Policy

The subjects covered in the manuscripts submitted to the journal for publication must be in accordance with the aim and scope of the journal. The journal gives priority to original research papers submitted for publication.

General Principles

Only those manuscripts approved by its every individual author and that were not published before in or sent to another journal, are accepted for evaluation.

Submitted manuscripts that pass preliminary control are scanned for plagiarism using iThenticate software. After plagiarism check, the eligible ones are evaluated by editor-in-chief for their originality, methodology, the importance of the subject covered and compliance with the journal scope.

The editor hands over the papers matching the formal rules to at least two national/international referees for evaluation and gives green light for publication upon modification by the authors in accordance with the referees' claims. Changing the name of an author (omission, addition or order) in papers submitted to the journal requires written permission of all declared authors. Refused manuscripts and graphics are not returned to the author.

Open Access Statement

The journal is an open access journal and all content is freely available without charge to the user or his/her institution. Except for commercial purposes, users are allowed to read, download, copy, print, search, or link to the full texts of the articles in this journal without asking prior permission from the publisher or the author. This is in accordance with the BOAI definition of open access.

The open access articles in the journal are licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) license.

Copyright Notice

Authors publishing with the journal retain the copyright to their work licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International license (CC BY-NC 4.0) (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/4.0/) and grant the Publisher non-exclusive commercial right to publish the work. CC BY-NC 4.0 license permits unrestricted, non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Article Processing Charge

All expenses of the journal are covered by the Istanbul University. Processing and publication are free of charge with the journal.

There is no article processing charges or submission fees for any submitted or accepted articles.

Peer Review Process

Only those manuscripts approved by its every individual author and that were not published before in or sent to another journal, are accepted for evaluation.

Submitted manuscripts that pass preliminary control are scanned for plagiarism using iThenticate software. After plagiarism check, the eligible ones are evaluated by Editor-in-Chief for their originality, methodology, the importance of the subject covered and compliance with the journal scope. Editor-in-Chief evaluates manuscripts for their scientific content without regard to ethnic origin, gender, citizenship, religious belief or political philosophy of the authors and ensures a fair double-blind peer review of the selected manuscripts.

The selected manuscripts are sent to at least two national/international external referees for evaluation and publication decision is given by Editor-in-Chief upon modification by the authors in accordance with the referees' claims.

Editor-in-Chief does not allow any conflicts of interest between the authors, editors and reviewers and is responsible for final decision for publication of the manuscripts in the journal. Reviewers' judgments must be objective. Reviewers' comments on the following aspects are expected while conducting the review.

- Does the manuscript contain new and significant information?
- Does the abstract clearly and accurately describe the content of the manuscript?
- Is the problem significant and concisely stated?
- Are the methods described comprehensively?
- Are the interpretations and consclusions justified by the results?
- Is adequate references made to other Works in the field?
- Is the language acceptable?

Reviewers must ensure that all the information related to submitted manuscripts is kept as confidential and must report to the editor if they are aware of copyright

infringement and plagiarism on the author's side.

A reviewer who feels unqualified to review the topic of a manuscript or knows that its prompt review will be impossible should notify the editor and excuse himself from the review process.

The editor informs the reviewers that the manuscripts are confidential information and that this is a privileged interaction. The reviewers and editorial board cannot discuss the manuscripts with other persons. The anonymity of the referees is important.

PUBLICATION ETHICS AND PUBLICATION MALPRACTICE STATEMENT

Anatolian Research – Anadolu Araştırmaları is committed to upholding the highest standards of publication ethics and pays regard to Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing published by the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE), the Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), to access the Open Access Scholarly Publishers Association (OASPA), and the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME) on https://publicationethics.org/resources/guidelines-new/principles-transparency-and-best-practice-scholarly-publishing

All parties involved in the publishing process (Editors, Reviewers, Authors and Publisher) are expected to agree on the following ethical principles.

All submissions must be original, unpublished (including as full text in conference proceedings), and not under the review of any other publication synchronously. Each manuscript is reviewed by one of the editors and at least two referees under double-blind peer review process. Plagiarism, duplication, fraud authorship/denied authorship, research/data fabrication, salami slicing/salami publication, breaching of copyrights, prevailing conflict of interest are unnethical behaviors.

All manuscripts not in accordance with the accepted ethical standards will be removed from the publication. This also contains any possible malpractice discovered after the publication. In accordance with the code of conduct we will report any cases of suspected plagiarism or duplicate publishing.

Research Ethics

Anatolian Research – Anadolu Araştırmaları adheres to the highest standards in research ethics and follows the principles of international research ethics as defined below. The authors are responsible for the compliance of the manuscripts with the ethical rules.

- Principles of integrity, quality and transparency should be sustained in designing the research, reviewing the design and conducting the research.
- The research team and participants should be fully informed about the aim, methods, possible uses and requirements of the research and risks of participation in research.
- The confidentiality of the information provided by the research participants and the confidentiality of the respondents should be ensured. The research should be designed to protect the autonomy and dignity of the participants.
- Research participants should participate in the research voluntarily, not under any coercion.
- Any possible harm to participants must be avoided. The research should be planned in such a way that the participants are not at risk.
- The independence of research must be clear; and any conflict of interest must be disclosed.
- In experimental studies with human subjects, written informed consent of the participants who decide to participate in the research must be obtained. In the case of children and those under wardship or with confirmed insanity, legal custodian's assent must be obtained.
- If the study is to be carried out in any institution or organization, approval must be obtained from this institution or organization.
- In studies with human subject, it must be noted in the method's section of the manuscript that the informed consent of the participants and ethics committee approval from the institution where the study has been conducted have been obtained.

Author Responsibilities

It is authors' responsibility to ensure that the article is in accordance with scientific and ethical standards and rules. And authors must ensure that submitted work is original. They must certify that the manuscript has not previously been published elsewhere or is not currently being considered for publication elsewhere, in any language. Applicable copyright laws and conventions must be followed. Copyright material (e.g. tables, figures or extensive quotations) must be reproduced

only with appropriate permission and acknowledgement. Any work or words of other authors, contributors, or sources must be appropriately credited and referenced.

All the authors of a submitted manuscript must have direct scientific and academic contribution to the manuscript. The author(s) of the original research articles is defined as a person who is significantly involved in "conceptualization and design of the study", "collecting the data", "analyzing the data", "writing the manuscript", "reviewing the manuscript with a critical perspective" and "planning/ conducting the study of the manuscript and/or revising it". Fund raising, data collection or supervision of the research group are not sufficient roles to be accepted as an author. The author(s) must meet all these criteria described above. The order of names in the author list of an article must be a co-decision and it must be indicated in the **Copyright Agreement Form**.

The individuals who do not meet the authorship criteria but contributed to the study must take place in the acknowledgement section. Individuals providing technical support, assisting writing, providing a general support, providing material or financial support are examples to be indicated in acknowledgement section.

All authors must disclose all issues concerning financial relationship, conflict of interest, and competing interest that may potentially influence the results of the research or scientific judgment.

When an author discovers a significant error or inaccuracy in his/her own published paper, it is the author's obligation to promptly cooperate with the Editor to provide retractions or corrections of mistakes.

Responsibility for the Editor and Reviewers

Editor-in-Chief evaluates manuscripts for their scientific content without regard to ethnic origin, gender, citizenship, religious belief or political philosophy of the authors. He/She provides a fair doubleblind peer review of the submitted articles for publication and ensures that all the information related to submitted manuscripts is kept as confidential before publishing.

Editor-in-Chief is responsible for the contents and overall quality of the publication. He/She must publish errata pages or make corrections when needed.

Editor-in-Chief does not allow any conflicts of interest between the authors, editors and reviewers. Only he has the full authority to assign a reviewer and is responsible for final decision for publication of the manuscripts in the journal.

Reviewers must have no conflict of interest with respect to the research, the authors and/or the research funders. Their judgments must be objective.

Reviewers must ensure that all the information related to submitted manuscripts is kept as confidential and must report to the editor if they are aware of copyright infringement and plagiarism on the author's side.

A reviewer who feels unqualified to review the topic of a manuscript or knows that its prompt review will be impossible should notify the editor and excuse himself from the review process.

The editor informs the reviewers that the manuscripts are confidential information and that this is a privileged interaction. The reviewers and editorial board cannot discuss the manuscripts with other persons. The anonymity of the referees must be ensured. In particular situations, the editor may share the review of one reviewer with other reviewers to clarify a particular point.

MANUSCRIPT ORGANIZATION

Language

Articles in English, German, French and Italian are published. Submitted manuscript must include an abstract both in the article language and in English, and an extended abstract in English as well. However extended abstract in English is not required for articles in English.

Manuscript Organization and Submission

All correspondence will be sent to the first-named author unless otherwise specified. Manuscpript is to be submitted online via http://dergipark.gov.tr/login that can be accessed at https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/iuanadolu and it must be accompanied by a Title Page specifying the article category (i.e. research article, review etc.) and including information about the manuscript (see the Submission Checklist). Manuscripts should be prepared in Microsoft Word 2003 and upper versions. In addition, Copyright Agreement Form that has to be signed by all authors must be submitted.

- 1. Manuscripts should be prepared using the Article Template. Due to double blind peer review, manuscript file must not include any information about the author.
- A title page including author information must be submitted together with the manuscript. The title page is to include fully descriptive title of the manuscript and, affiliation, title, e-mail address, ORCID, postal address, phone, mobile phone and fax number of the author(s) (see The Submission Checklist).
- 3. Before the introduction part, there should be an abstract of 120-200 words both in the language of the article and in English. An extended abstract in English between 600-800 words, summarizing the scope, the purpose, the results of the study and the methodology used is to be included following the abstracts. If the manuscript is in English, extended abstract is not required. Underneath the abstracts, 5 keywords that inform the reader about the content of the study should be specified in the language of the article and in English.
- 4. The manuscripts should contain mainly these components: title, abstract and keywords; extended abstract, sections, references, tables and figures.
- 5. Article Types

Research Article: Original research articles report substantial and original scientific results within the journal scope. Original research articles are comprised of Abstract, Key Words, Introduction, Methods, Results, Discussion, Conclusion, References and Figures, Tables and Graphics.

Abstract: The abstracts in the language of the article and in English must be between 120-200 words and state aim, method, result and conclusions of the study. If the article is in German, French or Italian, an extended abstract of 600-800 words in English must be written as well following the abstracts.

Introduction: This section must contain a clear statement of the general and specific objectives as well as the hypotheses which the work is designed to test. It should also give a brief account of the reported literature. It should clearly state the primary and secondary purposes of the article. Only, the actual references related with the issues have to be indicated and data or findings related with the current study must not be included in this section.

Methods: This section must contain explicit, concise descriptions of all procedures, materials and methods (i.e. data sources, participants, scales, interviews/reviews, basic measurements, applications, statistical methods) used in the investigation to enable the reader to judge their accuracy, reproducibility, etc. This section should include the known findings at the beginning of the study and the findings during the study must be reported in results section. **Results:** The results should be presented in logical sequence in the text, tables, and figures, giving the main or most important findings first. The all the data in the tables or figures should not be repeated in the text; only the most important observations must be emphasized or summarized.

Discussion: The findings of the study, the findings and results which support or do not support the hypothesis of the study should be discussed, results should be compared and

contrasted with findings of other studies in the literature and the different findings from other studies should be explained. The new and important aspects of the study and the conclusions that follow from them should be emphasized. The data or other information given in the Introduction or the Results section should not be repeated in detail.

Conclusions: Conclusions derived from the study should be stated.. The conclusions should be linked with the goals of the study but unqualified statements and conclusions not adequately supported by the data should be avoided. New hypotheses should be stated when warranted, but should be labeled clearly as such.

Figures, Tables and Graphics: Figures, tables and graphics materials should be ".jpg, .tiff or .jpeg" format and they should be submitted with the article. These materials should be min. 300 pixels and they must not be bigger than page size. The illustrations should not exceed 10 pages. All illustrations should be labelled and a list of figures with captions, legends, and credits should be provided on a separate page.

Review Article: Reviews prepared by authors who have extensive knowledge on a particular field and whose scientific background has been translated into a high volume of publications with a high citation potential are welcomed. These authors may even be invited by the journal. Review article should contain title, abstract and keywords; body text with sections, and references.

- 6. References should be in accordance with American Psychological Association (APA) style 6th Edition.
- 7. Authors are responsible for all statements made in their work submitted to the journal for publication.

REFERENCES

Reference Style and Format

Istanbul University Journal of Women's Studies - İstanbul Üniversitesi Kadın Araştırmaları Dergisi complies with APA (American Psychological Association) style 6th Edition for referencing and quoting. For more information:

- American Psychological Association. (2010). Publication manual of the American Psychological Association (6th ed.). Washington, DC: APA.
- http://www.apastyle.org

Accuracy of citation is the author's responsibility. All references should be cited in text. Reference list must be in alphabetical order. Type references in the style shown below.

Citations in the Text

Citations must be indicated with the author surname and publication year within the parenthesis. If more than one citation is made within the same paranthesis, separate them with (;).

Samples:

More than one citation; (Esin, et al., 2002; Karasar, 1995) Citation with one author; (Akyolcu, 2007) Citation with two authors; (Sayıner & Demirci, 2007)
Citation with three, four, five authors;

First citation in the text: (Ailen, Ciambrune, & Welch, 2000) Subsequent citations in the text: (Ailen, et al., 2000)

Citations with more than six authors; (Cavdar, et al., 2003)

Citations in the Reference

All the citations done in the text should be listed in the References section in alphabetical order of author surname without numbering. Below given examples should be considered in citing the references.

Basic Reference Types

Book

a) Turkish Book

Karasar, N. (1995). Araştırmalarda rapor hazırlama (8th ed.) [Preparing research reports]. Ankara, Turkey: 3A Eğitim Danışmanlık Ltd.

b) Book Translated into Turkish

Mucchielli, A. (1991). *Zihniyetler* [Mindsets] (A. Kotil, Trans.). İstanbul, Turkey: İletişim Yayınları. *c) Edited Book*

Ören, T., Üney, T., & Çölkesen, R. (Eds.). (2006). *Türkiye bilişim ansiklopedisi* [Turkish Encyclopedia of Informatics]. İstanbul, Turkey: Papatya Yayıncılık.

d) Turkish Book with Multiple Authors

- Tonta, Y., Bitirim, Y., & Sever, H. (2002). Türkçe arama motorlarında performans değerlendirme [Performance evaluation in Turkish search engines]. Ankara, Turkey: Total Bilişim.
- e) Book in English

Kamien R., & Kamien A. (2014). Music: An appreciation. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.

f) Chapter in an Edited Book

Bassett, C. (2006). Cultural studies and new media. In G. Hall & C. Birchall (Eds.), New cultural studies: Adventures in theory (pp. 220–237). Edinburgh, UK: Edinburgh University Press.

g) Chapter in an Edited Book in Turkish

Erkmen, T. (2012). Örgüt kültürü: Fonksiyonları, öğeleri, işletme yönetimi ve liderlikteki önemi [Organization culture: Its functions, elements and importance in leadership and business management]. In M. Zencirkıran (Ed.), Örgüt sosyolojisi [Organization sociology] (pp. 233– 263). Bursa, Turkey: Dora Basım Yayın.

h) Book with the same organization as author and publisher

American Psychological Association. (2009). *Publication manual of the American psychological association* (6th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.

Article

a) Turkish Article

Mutlu, B., & Savaşer, S. (2007). Çocuğu ameliyat sonrası yoğun bakımda olan ebeveynlerde stres nedenleri ve azaltma girişimleri [Source and intervention reduction of stress for parents whose children are in intensive care unit after surgery]. *Istanbul University Florence Nightingale Journal of Nursing*, 15(60), 179–182.

b) English Article

de Cillia, R., Reisigl, M., & Wodak, R. (1999). The discursive construction of national identity.

Discourse and Society, 10(2), 149–173. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0957926599010002002 c) Journal Article with DOI and More Than Seven Authors

Lal, H., Cunningham, A. L., Godeaux, O., Chlibek, R., Diez-Domingo, J., Hwang, S.-J. ... Heineman, T. C. (2015). Efficacy of an adjuvanted herpes zoster subunit vaccine in older adults. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 372, 2087–2096. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1501184

d) Journal Article from Web, without DOI

Sidani, S. (2003). Enhancing the evaluation of nursing care effectiveness. Canadian Journal of Nursing Research, 35(3), 26–38. Retrieved from http://cjnr.mcgill.ca

e) Journal Article wih DOI

Turner, S. J. (2010). Website statistics 2.0: Using Google Analytics to measure library website effectiveness. *Technical Services Quarterly*, 27, 261–278. http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/0731713 1003765910

f) Advance Online Publication

Smith, J. A. (2010). Citing advance online publication: A review. *Journal of Psychology*. Advance online publication. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a45d7867

g) Article in a Magazine

Henry, W. A., III. (1990, April 9). Making the grade in today's schools. Time, 135, 28-31.

Doctoral Dissertation, Master's Thesis, Presentation, Proceeding

a) Dissertation/Thesis from a Commercial Database

Van Brunt, D. (1997). *Networked consumer health information systems* (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 9943436)

b) Dissertation/Thesis from an Institutional Database

Yaylalı-Yıldız, B. (2014). University campuses as places of potential publicness: Exploring the politicals, social and cultural practices in Ege University (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from Retrieved from: http://library.iyte.edu.tr/tr/hizli-erisim/iyte-tez-portali

c) Dissertation/Thesis from Web

Tonta, Y. A. (1992). An analysis of search failures in online library catalogs (Doctoral dissertation, University of California, Berkeley). Retrieved from http://yunus.hacettepe.edu.tr/~tonta/ yayinlar /phd/ickapak.html

d) Dissertation/Thesis abstracted in Dissertations Abstracts International

Appelbaum, L. G. (2005). Three studies of human information processing: Texture amplification, motion representation, and figure-ground segregation. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B. Sciences and Engineering*, 65(10), 5428.

e) Symposium Contribution

Krinsky-McHale, S. J., Zigman, W. B., & Silverman, W. (2012, August). Are neuropsychiatric symptoms markers of prodromal Alzheimer's disease in adults with Down syndrome? In W. B. Zigman (Chair), *Predictors of mild cognitive impairment, dementia, and mortality in adults with Down syndrome*. Symposium conducted at the meeting of the American Psychological Association, Orlando, FL.

f) Conference Paper Abstract Retrieved Online

Liu, S. (2005, May). Defending against business crises with the help of intelligent agent based

early warning solutions. Paper presented at the Seventh International Conference on Enterprise Information Systems, Miami, FL. Abstract retrieved from http://www.iceis.org/iceis2005/abstracts 2005.htm

g) Conference Paper - In Regularly Published Proceedings and Retrieved Online

Herculano-Houzel, S., Collins, C. E., Wong, P., Kaas, J. H., & Lent, R. (2008). The basic nonuniformity of the cerebral cortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105, 12593–12598. http://dx.doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0805417105

h) Proceeding in Book Form

Parsons, O. A., Pryzwansky, W. B., Weinstein, D. J., & Wiens, A. N. (1995). Taxonomy for psychology. In J. N. Reich, H. Sands, & A. N. Wiens (Eds.), *Education and training beyond the doctoral degree: Proceedings of the American Psychological Association National Conference on Postdoctoral Education and Training in Psychology* (pp. 45–50). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

i) Paper Presentation

Nguyen, C. A. (2012, August). *Humor and deception in advertising: When laughter may not be the best medicine.* Paper presented at the meeting of the American Psychological Association, Orlando, FL.

Other Sources

a) Newspaper Article

Browne, R. (2010, March 21). This brainless patient is no dummy. Sydney Morning Herald, 45.

b) Newspaper Article with no Author

New drug appears to sharply cut risk of death from heart failure. (1993, July 15). *The Washington Post*, p. A12.

c) Web Page/Blog Post

Bordwell, D. (2013, June 18). David Koepp: Making the world movie-sized [Web log post]. Retrieved from http://www.davidbordwell.net/blog/page/27/

d) Online Encyclopedia/Dictionary

- Ignition. (1989). In Oxford English online dictionary (2nd ed.). Retrieved from http://dictionary. oed.com
- Marcoux, A. (2008). Business ethics. In E. N. Zalta (Ed.). *The Stanford encyclopedia of philosophy*. Retrieved from http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/ethics-business/

e) Podcast

Dunning, B. (Producer). (2011, January 12). in Fact: Conspiracy theories [Video podcast]. Retrieved from http://itunes.apple.com/

f) Single Episode in a Television Series

Egan, D. (Writer), & Alexander, J. (Director). (2005). Failure to communicate. [Television series episode]. In D. Shore (Executive producer), *House;* New York, NY: Fox Broadcasting.

g) Music

Fuchs, G. (2004). Light the menorah. On Eight nights of Hanukkah [CD]. Brick, NJ: Kid Kosher.

SUBMISSION CHECKLIST

Ensure that the following items are present:

- ✓ Confirm that the category of the manuscript is specifed.
- ✓ Confirm that "the paper is not under consideration for publication in another journal".
- ✓ Confirm that disclosure of any commercial or financial involvement is provided.
- ✓ Confirm that last control for fluent English was done.
- ✓ Confirm that journal policies detailed in Information for Authors have been reviewed.
- ✓ Confirm that the references cited in the text and listed in the references section are in with APA 6th.
- Copyright Agreement Form
- Permission of previous published material if used in the present manuscript
- Title page
 - ✓ The category of the manuscript
 - \checkmark The title of the manuscript both in the language of the article and in English
 - ✓ All authors' names and affiliations (institution, faculty/department, city, country), e-mail addresses
 - ✓ Corresponding author's email address, full postal address, telephone and fax number
 - ✓ ORCIDs of all authors.
 - ✓ Grant support (if exists)
 - ✓ Conflict of interest (if exists)
 - ✓ Acknowledgement (if exists)
- Main Manuscript Document

Important: Please avoid mentioning the author(s) names in the manuscript

- ✓ The title of the manuscript both in the language of the article and in English
- ✓ Abstract (120-200 words)
- ✓ Key words: 5 words
- ✓ Extended abstract in English: 600-800 words (for non-english articles)
- ✓ Body text sections
- ✓ References
- ✓ All tables, illustrations (figures) (including title, explanation, captions)

İstanbul University

İstanbul Üniversitesi



Journal name: Anatolian Research Dergi Adı: Anadolu Araştırmaları **Copyright Agreement Form** *Telif Hakkı Anlaşması Formu*

Responsible/Corresponding Author Sorumly Yazar					
Title of Manuscript					
Makalenin Başlığı					
Acceptance date					
Kaou turm					
Yazarlarin Listesi					
Sıra	Name - Surname	E-mail	Signatu	re Date	
No	Adı-Soyadı	E-Posta	İmza	Tarih	
1					
2					
3					
4					
5					
Manuscript Type (Research Article, Review, etc.) Makalenin türü (Arastırma makalesi, Derleme, v.b.)					
Responsible/Corresponding Author:					
Sorumlu Yazar:					
University/company/institution ζ		Çalıştığı kurum	tiği kurum		
Address		Posta adresi	sta adresi		
E-mail		E-posta			
Phone;	mobile phone	Telefon no; GSM no	lefon no; GSM no		
The manuscript submitted is his/her/their own original work, and has not been plagiarized from any prior work, all authors have seen and approved the manuscript as submitted, the manuscript has not been published and is not being submitted or considered for publication elsewhere, the text, illustrations, and any other materials included in the manuscript do not infringe upon any existing copyright or other rights of anyone. ISTANBUL UNIVERSITY will publish the content under Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC 4.0) license that gives permission to copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format other than commercial purposes as well as remix, transform and build upon the material by providing appropriate credit to the original work. The Contributor(s) or, if applicable the Contributor's Employer, retain(s) all proprietary rights in addition to copyright, patent rights. <i>IVW</i> indemnify ISTANBUL UNIVERSITY and the Editors of the Journals, and hold them harnless from any loss, expense or damage occasioned by a claim or suit by a third party for copyright infrigment, or any suit arising out of any breach of the foregoing warrantic as a result of publication of my/our article. <i>IVW</i> e also warrant that the article contains no libelous or unlawful statements, and does not contain material or instructions that might cause harm or injury. This Copyright Agreement Form must be signed/ratified by all authors. Separate copies of the form (completed in full) may be submitted by authors located at different institutions; however, all signatures must be original and the original authericated.					
 Yazar(tar) şaşgıdaki nususar i kabui eder Sunulan makalenin yazır(lar) ne rijinal ealşınması olduğunu ve intihal yapmadıklarını, Tüm yazırların bu çalışmaya aslı olarak katılmış olduklarını ve bu çalışma için her türlü sorumluluğu aldıklarını, Tüm yazırların bu çalışmaya aslı olarak katılmış olduklarını ve bu çalışma için her türlü sorumluluğu aldıklarını, Makalenin başka bir yerde basılmadığını veya basılmak için sunulmadığını, Makaledı bulunan metnin, şekillerin ve dokümanların diğer şahıslara ai olan Telif Haklarını ihlal etmediğini kabul ve taahhüt ederler. ISTANBUL ÜNİVERSITESİ'ni bu fikri eseri, Creative Commons Atıf-GayrıTicari 4.0 Uluslararası (CC BY-NC 4.0) lisansi ile yayınlamasına izin verirler. Creative Commons Atıf-GayrıTicari 4.0 Uluslararası (CC BY-NC 4.0) lisansi, açoğultımasına, çoğultımasına ve orijinal esere uygun şekilde atıfta bulunmak kaydıyla yeniden düzenleme, dönüştürme ve eserin üzerine inşa etme dâhil adapte edilmesine izin verir. Yazar(lar)ın veya varsa yazır(lar)ın işvereninin telif dâhil patent hakları, fikri mülkiyet hakları saklıdır. Ben/Biz, telif hakkı ihlali nedeniyle tüçüncü şahıslarca vuku bulacak hak talebi veya açılacak davalarda İSTANBUL ÜNİVERSİTESİ ve Dergi Editörlerinin hiçbir sorumluluğunun olmadığını, tüm sorumluluğun yazarlara ait olduğunu taahhüt ederin/ederiz. Ayrıca Ben/Biz makalede hiçbir suçu unsuru veya kanuna aykırı ifade bulunmadığını, araştırma yapılırken kanuna aykırı herhangi bir malzeme ve yöntem kullanılmadığını tarafından imzalanmalıdır/onaylanmalıdır. Form farklı kurumlarda bulunan yazarlar tarafından ayrı kopyalar halınde doldurularak sunulabilir. Ancak, tüm imzaların orijinal veya kanıtlanabilir şekilde onaylı olması gerekir. 					
Respon Sorumli	sible/Corresponding Author 4 Yazar;	; Signature	/ İmza	Date / Tarih	
				//	